

Vidler, Francesca (2020) *The role of inflammatory chemokine receptors in hypertension and blood pressure regulation.* PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/79045/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

The role of inflammatory chemokine receptors in hypertension and blood pressure regulation

Francesca Vidler

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences University of Glasgow

February 2020

Author's declaration

I declare that the work described in this thesis is original and, except where explicit reference is made to the contribution of others, was generated entirely as a result of my own efforts. None of the data included in this thesis have been submitted for any other degree, either at the University of Glasgow or at any other institution.

Signature:

Printed name: Francesca Vidler

Abstract

Chemokines regulate the migration of leukocytes through binding to chemokine receptors. The inflammatory CC chemokine receptors CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 (iCCRs) are expressed by several different leukocytes and are important in orchestrating inflammatory responses. These receptors can bind to multiple CC chemokines and many of these chemokines share receptors, resulting in a highly complex system in which the exact role of each receptor is not understood. To aid understanding of these receptors, two unique mouse strains have been developed. These are mice that are deficient for all four iCCRs (iCCR-KO) and mice that express fluorescent reporter proteins for each of the iCCRs (REP mice).

Hypertension is when blood pressure (BP) is elevated above 140/90 mmHg. There is evidence for a role of inflammation in the development of hypertension and the consequent end organ damage which increases the risk of cardiovascular disease. Several chemokines and chemokine receptors have been implicated in hypertension but due to the complexity of the chemokine system, the role they play in the pathogenesis of the disease is unclear. Therefore the role of iCCRs in hypertension was investigated using iCCR-KO and REP mice.

WT, REP and iCCR-KO mice were subject to 7 or 14 days of Angiotensin (Ang) II induced hypertension. iCCR expression was characterised in REP and WT mice and the effect of iCCR deficiency on BP, vascular function, inflammation and cardiac and vascular remodelling was assessed using the iCCR-KO mice. Aortic CCR2 and CCR5 expression increased in Ang II treated WT mice compared to control WT mice. Further, iCCR-KO mice were protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction but iCCR deficiency did not influence BP or remodelling. iCCR-KO mice were also shown to have altered circulating leukocyte populations in Ang II induced hypertension.

Control iCCR-KO mice tended to have a lower BP than WT mice so the effect of iCCR deficiency on regulators of BP in the kidneys and kidney leukocyte infiltration was investigated. iCCR-KO mice had fewer inflammatory monocytes and reduced mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA expression. This could influence BP but further studies are needed. Overall, novel mouse models have been used to identify how iCCRs are involved in hypertension. The results described here suggest that iCCRs, in particular CCR2 and CCR5, are involved in regulating vascular dysfunction in hypertension. Through improving understanding of these receptors in the disease, there is increased potential to target them as treatments that would ultimately reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease.



Acknowledgements

Firstly I would like to thank my supervisors, Gerry Graham and Tom Guzik, for the advice and support throughout my PhD, and for allowing me to develop my skills independently as a scientist. I would particularly like to thank Gerry for taking the time to read through this thesis.

I would also like to thank all the members of the CRG. Everyone, past and present, has helped with advice and encouragement at some point over the last three years. In particular I'd like to thank Paul for helping me find my feet in the lab. I hope to be as helpful to others as you were to me. I also want to thank Alan for the endless advice, help and supply of snacks. Thanks to Sam, Robin and Maria for all the help in the lab and making this journey so much fun. I also wish to thank Tomasz, Ryszard and Dominik for the help with the many experiments that would not have been possible without them.

A special thanks goes to my family for the unwavering support throughout my studies. Thanks to my Mum, who has put so much into supporting me through everything I do, and to my Dad, who has been so encouraging during my studies and everything else. Also thanks to my brother Nathan, for always making everything more fun.

I want to thank the members of Glasgow University Triathlon Club for keeping me balanced throughout my PhD. In particular I'd like to thank Risa and Matthew for being such great flatmates and training partners. Also thanks to Dom for all the lunchtime runs.

Finally, I'd like to thank Alasdair. You've been an amazing support whilst I've been writing this thesis, from listening to me talk about cats to watching Grey's anatomy with me.

Table of contents

	f inflammatory chemokine receptors in hypertension and blood egulation	1
-	eclaration	
	gements	
	~ es	
List of figu	res	.12
List of abb	reviations	.15
Chapter 1.		. 19
1 Introd	uction	. 20
1.1 The	e immune system and inflammation	. 20
1.1.1	Innate immunity	. 20
1.1.2	Adaptive immunity	. 24
1.2 Che	emokines	. 26
1.2.1	Classification and structure of chemokines	. 27
1.2.2	Homeostatic and inflammatory chemokines	. 28
1.3 Che	emokine receptors	. 28
1.3.1	Chemokine receptor structure and signalling	. 30
1.3.2	Inflammatory chemokine receptors	. 30
1.4 Evo	olution of chemokines and chemokine receptors	. 33
1.5 Noi	n-immune roles of chemokines and receptors	. 34
1.6 Che	emokine receptors in disease	. 35
1.6.1	Inflammatory diseases	. 35
1.6.2	Cancer	. 36
1.6.3	HIV	. 36
1.6.4	Targeting chemokine receptors	. 37
1.7 Mic	e used to study iCCRs	. 37
1.7.1	iCCR-KO mice	. 37
1.7.2	iCCR reporter mice	. 37
1.8 The	e cardiovascular system and cardiovascular diseases	. 38
1.9 Hyp	pertension and blood pressure regulation	. 38
1.9.1	The renin-angiotensin system	. 39
1.9.2	Atrial natriuretic peptide	. 40
1.9.3	The sympathetic nervous system	
1.9.4	Perivascular adipose tissue	. 41
1.9.5	Vascular function and oxidative stress	. 42
1.9.6	Current treatments of hypertension	. 42

	Models of hypertension	
1.10 T	he immune system in hypertension	44
1.10.1	Monocytes and macrophages	44
1.10.2	Dendritic Cells	45
1.10.3	NK cells	46
1.10.4	Neutrophils	46
1.10.5	T cells	47
1.10.6	B cells	
1.10.7	Immune cell summary	
1.10.8	Cytokines	49
1.11 C	hemokines and chemokine receptors in hypertension	50
1.11.1	CC chemokines and receptors	50
1.11.2	CXC chemokines and receptors	52
1.11.3	CX3CL1 and CX3CR1	53
1.11.4	Chemokines and receptors summary	53
1.12 A	ims	53
Chapter 2.		55
2 Materia	als and methods	56
2.1 Mic	e	56
2.1.1	C57BL/6 mice	56
2.1.2	iCCR-reporter mice	56
2.1.3	iCCR-KO mice	56
2.1.4	Individual receptor-KO mice	56
2.2 Ang	Il induced hypertension	57
2.3 Blo	od pressure measurements	57
2.3.1	Tail cuff measurements	57
2.3.2	Telemetry	58
2.4 Rep	placement, reduction and refinement (3Rs)	58
2.5 Luc	igenin chemiluminescence assay	59
2.6 Myc	ography	59
2.7 Flo ^r	w cytometry	59
2.7.1	Tissue processing	59
2.7.2	Cell staining	62
2.7.3	Flow cytometry analysis	63
2.7.4	Magnetic cell sorting	64
2.8 His	tology	65
2.8.1	Tissue processing	65
2.8.2	Haematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) staining	65
2.8.3	Picrosirius red staining	65

2.8.4	Mounting sections from REP mice	
2.8.5	Microscopy	
2.9 Mo	lecular biology	66
2.9.1	RNA extraction	
2.9.2	cDNA synthesis	
2.9.3	Taqman qPCR	67
2.10 F	lasma chemokine and cytokine detection	68
2.10.1	Sample preparation	68
2.10.2	Luminex assay	68
2.11 S	tatistical analysis	68
Chapter 3.		69
3 iCCR e	xpression in Ang II induced hypertension	70
3.1 Int	roduction	
3.2 Res	sponse of REP mice to Ang II	71
3.3 iCC	R expression in REP mice following 7 days of Ang II induced	
hyperten	sion	72
3.3.1	Bone marrow	72
3.3.2	Blood	74
3.3.3	Spleen	
3.3.4	Kidney	80
3.3.5	Aorta and PVAT	84
3.3.6	Heart	89
	R expression in REP mice following 14 days of Ang II induced	
	sion	
3.4.1	Bone marrow	
3.4.2	Blood	
3.4.3	Spleen	93
3.4.4	Kidney	95
3.4.5	Aorta and PVAT	97
3.4.6	Heart	98
	e of antibodies and chemokines to determine iCCR expression	
3.5.1	y	
	Bone marrow	
3.5.2	Blood	
3.5.3	Spleen	
3.5.4	Kidney	
3.5.5	PVAT	
	R mRNA expression	
	sma chemokines and cytokines	
3.8 Dis	cussion	106

3.8	 Using antibodies and fluorescent reporter mice for flow cytor 107 	netry
3.8	3.2 Leukocyte iCCR expression	108
3.8		
	pertension	
3.9	Conclusion	113
•	r 4	
	e effect of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced hypertension	
	Introduction	
	Blood pressure	
4.3	Vascular function and oxidative stress	117
4.4	Plasma chemokines	119
4.5	Inflammation	120
4.5	5.1 Bone marrow	121
4.5	5.2 Blood	123
4.5	5.3 Spleen	127
4.5	,	
4.5	5.5 PVAT	131
4.6	Cardiac and vascular remodelling	132
4.6	0.1 Aortic hypertrophy	133
4.6	0.2 Cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis	134
4.7	Discussion	135
4.7	'.1 iCCRs and BP, vascular function and oxidative stress	135
4.7	2.2 iCCRs and plasma chemokines	138
4.7	'.3 iCCRs and inflammation in hypertension	139
4.7	'.4 iCCRs and cardiac and vascular remodelling	141
4.8	Conclusion	142
Chapter	r 5	144
	e effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney immune cells and regulate	
	pressure	
	Introduction	
5.2	Kidney leukocyte infiltration	
5.2		
5.2. CCF	2 Macrophages and monocytes in CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO R5-KO mice	
5.2		152
5.2		
5.3	Kidney blood pressure regulators	
5.3		
5.3		

5.4 Immune cel	II MR expression	159
5.4.1 Macrop	hage sort	159
5.4.2 Flow cy	/tometry	160
5.4.3 Lympho	oid MR expression	163
5.5 iCCR-KO Kic	dney structure	163
5.6 Discussion.		165
5.6.1 Kidney	monocytes and macrophages	165
5.6.2 MR, SGI	K1, ENaC and NHE3	
5.7 Conclusion		
Chapter 6		170
6 Discussion		171
6.1 General dis	cussion	171
6.2 Future work	k	173
6.3 Final conclu	usion	174
List of References		

List of tables

Table 1-1. Chemokine receptors and ligands in humans	29
Table 2-1. Antibodies used for flow cytometry	
Table 2-2. Taqman primer/probe sets used for qPCR	
Table 3-1. Plasma chemokine and cytokine concentration in Ang II induced	
hypertension	106
Table 3-2. Antibody and reporter iCCR detection on leukocytes	108
Table 4-1. Plasma chemokine concentration in Sham and Ang II treated WT a	nd
iCCR-KO mice	120
Table 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced hypertension	143

List of figures

Figure 1-1. Leukocyte migration in response to chemokines	
Figure 1-2. Physical map of iCCR gene cluster	
Figure 1-3. iCCR and chemokine interactions	33
Figure 1-4. The renin angiotensin system	40
Figure 2-1. Initial gating strategy for flow cytometry analysis	
Figure 3-1. Response of WT and REP mice to Ang II	72
Figure 3-2. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow cells from mice wit	
Ang II induced hypertension Figure 3-3. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the bone marrow of REP mice afte	73
Figure 3-3. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the bone marrow of REP mice afte	۲
7 days of Ang II induced hypertension	74
Figure 3-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of blood cells from mice with Ang II	ĺ
induced hypertension	
Figure 3-5. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the blood of REP mice after 7 days	
of Ang II induced hypertension Figure 3-6. Gating strategy for the analysis of spleen cells from mice with Ang I	76
Figure 3-6. Gating strategy for the analysis of spleen cells from mice with Ang	II
induced hypertension	
Figure 3-7. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of REP mice after 7 da	ıys
of Ang II induced hypertension	
Figure 3-8. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney leukocytes from mice with	h
Ang II induced hypertension Figure 3-9. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of REP mice after 7 da	81
of Ang II induced hypertension	
Figure 3-10. iCCR co-expression by kidney leukocytes from REP mice subject to) 7
days of Ang II induced hypertension	83
Figure 3-11. Kidney iCCR expression in REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced	. .
hypertension Figure 3-12. Gating strategy for the analysis of PVAT leukocytes from mice with	84
Figure 3-12. Gating strategy for the analysis of PVAT leukocytes from mice with	n OF
Ang II induced hypertension	85
Figure 3-13. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of Rep mice after 7 day	
of Ang II induced hypertension	
Figure 3-14. iCCR co-expression by PVAT leukocytes from REP mice subject to 7	
days of Ang II induced hypertension	
Figure 3-15. Aortic iCCR expression in REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced	
hypertension	88
Figure 3-16. Heart iCCR expression in REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced	00
hypertension	89
Figure 3-17. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the bone marrow of REP mice aft	
14 days of Ang II induced hypertension	91
Figure 3-18. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the blood of REP mice after 14	റാ
days of Ang II induced hypertension Figure 3-19. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of REP mice after 14	92
days of Ang II induced hypertension Figure 3-20. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of REP mice after 14	74
days of Ang II induced hypertension	96
Figure 3-21. Kidney iCCR expression in REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced	1
hypertension	
Figure 3-22. Aortic iCCR expression in REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced	20
hypertension	
Figure 3-23. Heart iCCR expression in REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced	~ 1
hypertension	
···/	

Ang II induced hypertension	Figure 3-24. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the bone marrow of WT mice after
induced hypertension 101 Figure 3-26. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of WT mice after Ang II 102 Figure 3-27. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of WT mice after Ang II 103 Figure 3-28. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of WT mice after Ang II 104 Induced hypertension 103 Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang 104 It reated mice 105 Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 117 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 117 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II 112 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and II 123 Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II 112 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and II 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency	Ang II induced hypertension100
Figure 3-26. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of WT mice after Ang II induced hypertension	Figure 3-25. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the blood of WT mice after Ang II
induced hypertension 102 Figure 3-27. ICCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of WT mice after Ang II 103 Figure 3-28. ICCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of WT mice after Ang II 104 Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang 105 Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by telemetry. 117 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 119 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen 124 leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice 122 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 140 day 123 Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II 124 induced hypertension 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 124 proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 124 Figure 4-10. ICCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang	induced hypertension101
induced hypertension 102 Figure 3-27. ICCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of WT mice after Ang II 103 Figure 3-28. ICCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of WT mice after Ang II 104 Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang 105 Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by telemetry. 117 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 119 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen 124 leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice 122 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 140 day 123 Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II 124 induced hypertension 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 124 proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 124 Figure 4-10. ICCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang	Figure 3-26. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of WT mice after Ang II
induced hypertension	induced hypertension
induced hypertension 104 Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang 105 Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 119 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen 121 leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice with Ang II induced hypertension 122 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 14 day Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice 122 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 123 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertension 130 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in An	
induced hypertension 104 Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang 105 Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method 116 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 119 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen 121 leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice with Ang II induced hypertension 122 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 14 day Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice 122 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 123 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertension 130 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in An	induced hypertension103
Il treated mice	Figure 3-28. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of WT mice after Ang II
Il treated mice	induced hypertension104
Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by telemetry	Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang
116 Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by telemetry. 117 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative 119 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen 120 leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice with Ang II induced hypertension 121 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 14 day Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice 122 Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II 110 induced hypertension 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 125 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 126 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 128 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Induced hypertension 129 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and PVAT rell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency	
Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by telemetry117 Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative stress in Ang II induced hypertension	Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method
Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative stress in Ang II induced hypertension 119 Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen 121 Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 14 day 122 Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II 122 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 123 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 126 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 130 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 131 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 131	
stress in Ang II induced hypertension	
Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice with Ang II induced hypertension	
leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice with Ang II induced hypertension	
Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 14 day Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice	
Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice 122 Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 126 proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 120 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 131 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 132 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 132 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 134 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the 13	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and 124 figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 124 hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 125 proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 126 CD44+ T cells 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 120 induced hypertension 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 131 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 132 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac	
induced hypertension 123 Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and iCCR-KO Ang II treated mice 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 128 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 131 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 132 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 146	Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice122
Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and iCCR-KO Ang II treated mice 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 128 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 131 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II induced hypertension 132 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II induced hypertension 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice <t< td=""><td></td></t<>	
iCCR-KO Ang II treated mice 124 Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 125 proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 131 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on acrtic hypertrophy in Ang II 132 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on acrtic hypertrophy in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the 135 Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 146	
Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 125 Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the 125 proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 131 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 132 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the 136 Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 146	
hypertension125Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells126Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension128Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension129Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension130Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension130Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension130Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension131Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 	
Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 131 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 132 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 134 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 135 Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 146	
proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells	hypertension
CD44+ T cells 126 Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 129 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 131 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the 135 Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 146	Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the
Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 128 Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 131 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II induced hypertension 132 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II induced hypertension 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice	
hypertension128Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang IIinduced hypertension129Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang IIinduced hypertension130Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II inducedhypertension130Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II inducedhypertension131Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II inducedhypertension132Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang IIinduced hypertension134Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang IIinduced hypertension135Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in thekidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice	
Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension 129 Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT cell infiltration in Ang II induced 130 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced 131 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced 132 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the 135 Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting 146	
induced hypertension129Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II130Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced130Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced130Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced131Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced132Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II134Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II135Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the136Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting146	nypertension
Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 130 Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension 131 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 131 Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension 132 Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II induced hypertension 134 Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II induced hypertension 135 Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice 146 Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting	
induced hypertension130Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced130Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced130Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced131Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced132Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II134Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II135Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the136Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting146	
Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension	
hypertension	
Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension	· · · · ·
hypertension	Figure 4-14, iCCP deficiency and DVAT infiltration of loukocytes in Apg II induced
Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension	
hypertension	Figure 4-15 iCCP deficiency and DVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced
Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II induced hypertension	
induced hypertension	
Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II induced hypertension	
induced hypertension	
Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice	
kidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice 	
Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting	
	Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting

Figure 5-3. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resti	ng
CCR1-KO mice	
Figure 5-4. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resti	ng
CCR2-KO mice	
Figure 5-5. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resti	ng
CCR3-KO mice	
Figure 5-6. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resti	ng
CCR5-KO mice	
Figure 5-7. Macrophage and monocyte iCCR expression	
Figure 5-8. Infiltrating T cells and B cells in the kidneys or resting iCCR-KO m	
Figure 5-9. iCCR-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression	
Figure 5-10. CCR1-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression	
Figure 5-11. CCR2-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression	
Figure 5-12. CCR3-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression	
Figure 5-13. CCR5-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression	
Figure 5-14. Magnetic sort of kidney F4/80+ cells	
Figure 5-15. The expression MR in the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice	
Figure 5-16. Spleen, thymus and kidney MR expression	
Figure 5-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney structure	. 164

List of abbreviations

3Rs	Replacement, reduction and refinement
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme
ACE2	Angiotensin converting enzyme 2
ACh	Acetylcholine
ACKR	Atypical chemokine receptor
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
Ang	Angiotensin
ANP	Atrial natriuretic peptide
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ARB	Angiotensin II receptor blocker
ARRIVE	Animal Research: Reporting in vivo experiments
ASMC	Airway smooth muscle cell
AT1	Angiotensin type 1
AT2	Angiotensin type 2
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BAFF-R	B cell activating factor receptor
BP	Blood pressure
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DAMP	Damage associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
DHP	Dihydropyridine
DOCA	Deoxycorticosterone acetate
EC	Endothelial cell
EMP	Erythro-myeloid progenitor
ENaC	Epithelial sodium channel

- eNOS Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- FB Flow cytometry buffer
- FCS Foetal calf serum
- FMO Fluorescence minus one
- FSC Forward scatter
- GC Germinal centre
- GM-CSF Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
- GPCR G protein-coupled receptor
- H&E Haematoxylin & Eosin
- HPC Haematopoietic progenitor cell
- HSC Haematopoietic stem cell
- IBD Inflammatory bowel disease
- iCCR Inflammatory chemokine receptor
- IFN Interferon
- Ig Immunoglobulin
- IHC Immunohistochemistry
- IL Interleukin
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- L-NAME Nω-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester
- MBP Major basic protein
- MC3/4-R Melanocortin receptor types 3 and 4
- MFI Mean fluorescence intensity
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- MI Myocardial infarction
- MMF Mycophenolate mofetil
- MR Mineralocorticoid receptor
- NHE3 Sodium/hydrogen exchanger 3
- NK Natural killer

NO	Nitric oxide
NPR	Natriuretic peptide receptor
PAH	Pulmonary arterial hypertension
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PSS	Physiological salt solution
Ρνατ	Perivascular adipose tissue
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
Rag-1	Recombination activating gene 1
RAS	Renin angiotensin system
RBC	Red blood cell
REP	iCCR reporter
RLU	Relative light units
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute - 1640 medium
RT	Room temperature
SHR	Spontaneously hypertensive rat
SD	Standard deviation
SGK1	Serum/glucocorticoid-regulated kinase 1
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SNP	Sodium nitroprusside
SSC	Side scatter
TAM	Tumour associated macrophage
Тс	Cytotoxic T
TCR	T cell receptor

- TGF Transforming growth factor
- Th Helper T
- TNF Tumour necrosis factor
- Treg Regulatory T
- VSMC Vascular smooth muscle cell
- WKY Wistar Kyoto rat
- WT Wild type

Chapter 1

Introduction

1 Introduction

1.1 The immune system and inflammation

The immune system is a complex defence system that acts to protect against damage and pathogens. This is split into the innate and adaptive immune responses in which the innate system provides a quick, but non-specific, response whilst the adaptive response involves a more specific, coordinated defence. Inflammation occurs when leukocytes infiltrate a tissue to protect against an infection or damage. This is a necessary response to maintain a healthy state but if not resolved, inflammation can become chronic and cause damage to healthy tissues.

1.1.1 Innate immunity

The innate immune response is the first stage of defence against pathogens and also activates cells of the adaptive immune response. There are several components to innate immunity. These include physical barriers, such as the skin, which separate the internal environment from pathogens in the external environment, humoral factors found in the plasma and mucosal secretions and cellular mechanisms (Riera Romo et al., 2016).

There are various humoral factors that possess antimicrobial activity or modulate the immune response. Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), such as defensins, have antimicrobial, antifungal or antiparasitic activity. Defensins have been shown to be elevated in Hepatitis C infections (Mattar et al., 2016), suggesting antiviral activity as well. The complement system is a cascade of proteins found in the circulation and tissues that results in lysis of microbes and enhances the inflammatory response (Harboe et al., 2011; Ricklin et al., 2010).

Cytokines are small proteins that mediate communication between cells to modulate the immune response. Cytokines can be proinflammatory or antiinflammatory and include interferons (IFNs), interleukins (ILs), tumour necrosis factors (TNFs) and transforming growth factors (TGFs) (Riera Romo et al., 2016). IFNs are grouped into type I (IFN- α and IFN- β), type II (IFN- γ) and type III (IFN- λ) and have antiviral activity (Takaoka and Yanai, 2006). As well as this, IFN- λ has recently been reported to have antifungal activity (Espinosa et al., 2017). There are many different ILs which have a wide range of functions. IL-1 α and IL-1 β are proinflammatory and activate leukocytes such as neutrophils, B cells and T cells (Keyel, 2014). IL-1 β induces the differentiation of Th₁₇ cells and can inhibit IL-10 production by these cells (Acosta-Rodriguez et al., 2007; Zielinski et al., 2012). IL-1 β also mediates neutrophil recruitment and is found at many sites of inflammation, for example, in the liver during Hepatitis C infection (Miller et al., 2007; Negash et al., 2013). IL-10 is generally thought to be anti-inflammatory but has been reported to have proinflammatory functions, depending on the cellular context. In macrophages, IL-10 exerts an anti-inflammatory effect as it inhibits lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced NFkB activation and TNF- α production (Dokka et al., 2001). However, following LPS stimulation in humans, IL-10 enhances the production of IFN- γ (Lauw et al., 2000). Another proinflammatory IL is IL-17, which can induce expression of the genes for IL-1, TNF α and defensins (Amatya et al., 2017).

The cells of the innate immune system recognise pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs). PAMPs are molecules that are common to pathogens, while DAMPs are endogenous molecules released by necrotic cells. These allow the immune cells to make a quick response to infected or damaged tissues (Bianchi, 2007; Elliott et al., 2014). The innate immune system utilises many cell types, each with different functions, including neutrophils, monocytes and dendritic cells (DCs).

1.1.1.1 Neutrophils

1

Neutrophils are typically involved in acute inflammation and are the first leukocytes recruited to an inflammatory site. They release oxidants, proteases and antimicrobial proteins to remove pathogens and can also stimulate inflammatory monocyte recruitment (Kolaczkowska and Kubes, 2013; Soehnlein et al., 2008). It has been reported that there are different subsets of neutrophils with varying surface antigen expression and macrophage activation potential (Tsuda et al., 2004). Another role of neutrophils is to regulate the adaptive immune response. It has been suggested that a subset of neutrophils can suppress T cell proliferation after LPS stimulation in humans (Pillay et al., 2012)

21

and that splenic neutrophils can stimulate B cells (Puga et al., 2012). Neutrophils also produce cytokines such as IFN-γ (Yin and Ferguson, 2009).

1.1.1.2 Monocytes

Monocytes are phagocytic cells that circulate in the blood, are recruited to sites of inflammation and function in wound healing and tissue repair. In mice, monocytes are characterised based on expression of the marker Ly6C as either classical/inflammatory (Ly6C^{hi}) or alternative/patrolling (Ly6C^{low}) monocytes. Ly6C^{hi} monocytes are pro-inflammatory whilst Ly6C^{low} monocytes have roles in tissue repair (Geissmann et al., 2003; Kratofil et al., 2017). Once recruited to an inflamed tissue, monocytes can differentiate into macrophages or DCs, depending on the cytokine environment (Crane et al., 2014; Nakano et al., 2009). Monocyte phenotype can also switch between classical and alternative states, depending on the local cytokine environment (Dal-Secco et al., 2015). During homeostasis, monocytes are involved in replacement of tissue-resident macrophages (Mitchell et al., 2014; Tamoutounour et al., 2013).

1.1.1.3 Macrophages

Macrophages are a heterogenous population of cells with various functions, including phagocytosis of pathogens and cell debris. They can be broadly classed as either inflammatory (M1) or anti-inflammatory (M2) macrophages. Polarisation towards an M1 or M2 phenotype depends on the cytokines the cell is exposed to. IFN- γ tends to induce an M1 phenotype whereas IL-4 will stimulate an M2 phenotype (Murray, 2017). M1 macrophages produce proinflammatory cytokines, proteases and reactive oxygen species (ROS), providing defence against pathogens. M2 macrophages are involved in resolving the immune response, angiogenesis and tissue repair. M1 and M2 macrophages secrete distinct cytokine patterns, orchestrating distinct immune responses (Sica et al., 2015).

Many tissues are host to tissue-resident macrophages. Examples of these are alveolar macrophages in the lung, Kupffer cells in the liver and microglia in the brain. These cells are established during embryonic development and can selfrenew independently of monocytes. (Schlitzer and Schultze, 2017; Yona et al., 2013). They differentiate from erythro-myeloid progenitors (EMPs) which originate in the yolk sac and then colonise the fetal liver, a hematopoietic organ, during embryonic development. Microglia exclusively originate from the yolk sac whilst other resident macrophages have fetal liver origins (Ginhoux et al., 2010; Hoeffel and Ginhoux, 2015; McGrath et al., 2015). Tissue-resident macrophages have been reported to have functions other than immune roles. Cardiac resident macrophages modulate electrical activity of cardiomyocytes and Kupffer cells remove red blood cell (RBC)-derived haemoglobin from the circulation (Hulsmans et al., 2017; Willekens et al., 2005).

1.1.1.4 Dendritic cells

1

DCs are a family of antigen presenting cells (APCs) that stimulate the adaptive immune response by presenting antigens to T cells and producing cytokines. DCs can maintain T cell homeostasis by regulating T cell reactivity in the absence of foreign antigen (Hochweller et al., 2010) whilst DCs in the thymus also regulate immune tolerance by mediating negative selection of T cells (Hubert et al., 2011). Following LPS stimulation, DCs in the spleen have been shown to produce the cytokines IFN- γ , TNF- α and TGF- β (Zhang et al., 2005). DCs are characterised by expression of the markers CD11c and major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-II and can be further grouped into subsets based on expression of CD4, CD8, CD11b and CD80 (Waisman et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2005).

1.1.1.5 Natural killer cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are cytotoxic cells that induce lysis of virally infected and transformed cells. This is mediated by the secretion of perforin and granzymes which induce target cell apoptosis or by caspase-dependent apoptosis (Mandal and Viswanathan, 2015). NK cells have been reported to produce multiple cytokines when activated such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1B, IL-6 and IL-10, stimulating cells of the adaptive response (Fauriat et al., 2010). In mice, NK cells express CD27 which can distinguish two NK cell subsets, CD27^{hi} and CD27^{low}. CD27^{hi} NK cells are reported to have greater effector activity compared to CD27^{low} NK cells (Hayakawa and Smyth, 2006). Although part of the innate immune system, NK cells can be primed by DCs to acquire effector functions (Lucas et al., 2007).

1.1.1.6 Mast cells

Mast cells are granular leukocytes found at the interface between the external and internal environments such as the skin and lungs and respond to pathogens via PRRs. Activation of mast cells results in degranulation and the release of AMPs, proteases and cytokines (da Silva et al., 2014; Di Nardo et al., 2003; Supajatura et al., 2002). Mast cells express TLR2 which, when stimulated by the PAMP peptidoglycan, results in release of IL-4 and IL-5 (Supajatura et al., 2002). Mast cells can also be activated by viral RNA binding to TLR3, leading to release of IFN-B (Orinska et al., 2005). Mast cells express Fc receptors which bind to immunoglobulins so can be considered to be part of the adaptive immune response. Mast cells have been widely studied in the context of allergy as IgE activation of FccR1 induces an allergic response, mediated by the release of histamine, prostaglandins and leukotrienes (da Silva et al., 2014).

1.1.1.7 Eosinophils

Eosinophils are typically thought of as cells that protect against parasitic infections but also express PRRs which allow responses to viruses, bacteria and fungi. They can secrete cytotoxic proteins such as major basic protein (MBP) and eosinophil peroxidase (Rothenberg and Hogan, 2006). They express TLR7 and TLR9 which bind to viral ligands, leading to CXCL8 secretion and superoxide generation (Mansson and Cardell, 2009; Nagase et al., 2003). Eosinophils can function as APCs, presenting antigens to activate T cells (Del Pozo et al., 1992). They store preformed cytokines, including IL-4, IL-10 and IFN- γ , which enables rapid release following activation (Spencer et al., 2008). Eosinophils have been strongly implicated in asthma and allergy. This is partly due to cross-talk between eosinophils and mast cells. Mast cells secrete IL-5, promoting eosinophil activation, and eosinophils can activate mast cells via production of MBP (Rothenberg and Hogan, 2006).

1.1.2 Adaptive immunity

The adaptive immune response is characterised as being specific and provides immunological memory. Upon first exposure to a pathogen, a slow primary response is formed. Any subsequent exposure elicits a quicker and more specific secondary response. The adaptive system involves lymphoid organs and the response is mediated by lymphocytes (T cells and B cells). Bone marrow and the thymus are primary lymphoid organs, where B cells and T cells mature, respectively. Secondary lymphoid organs coordinate the interaction between APCs and lymphocytes and include the spleen and lymph nodes. T cells and B cells migrate to secondary lymphoid organs where they can be activated and then migrate to other areas and exert effector functions (Boehm and Swann, 2013; Bonilla and Oettgen, 2010). Traditionally it was thought that only lymphocytes could produce a memory response but there is evidence of innate cells, such as monocytes, developing a trained response following an initial infection (Quintin et al., 2012).

1.1.2.1 T cells

1

T cells express the T cell receptor (TCR) and can express one of the costimulatory molecules CD4 or CD8. Activation of T cells requires the interaction of the TCR with a specific antigen complexed with an MHC molecule and the interaction of CD8 or CD4 with the MHC-I or MHC-II molecule, respectively. CD8+ T cells are cytotoxic (Tc) cells which can remove infected or transformed cells. CD4+ T cells are helper (Th) cells which regulate the immune response through the production of cytokines (Castellino and Germain, 2006; Germain, 2002).

CD4+ T cells are further grouped into subsets based on their function and cytokine production. Th₁ cells produce IL-2 and IFN-γ and can stimulate monocytes, NK cells and Tc cells in response to viral, bacterial and parasitic infections (Bonilla and Oettgen, 2010; Caza and Landas, 2015). Th₂ cells facilitate antibody production by B cells and are implicated in hypersensitivity responses. These cells produce IL-4 and IL-5 (Caza and Landas, 2015). Th₁₇ cells are proinflammatory, produce IL-17 and are involved in autoimmunity (Langrish et al., 2005) whilst Th₉ cells are induced by TGF-B, and produce IL-9 in response to helminth infections (Veldhoen et al., 2008). Regulatory T (Treg) cells are also CD4+ and have a role in suppressing the immune response to maintain immune homeostasis (Josefowicz and Rudensky, 2009).

1.1.2.2 B cells

B cells are essential mediators of humoral immunity. Once activated, B cells can differentiate to antibody producing plasma cells or enter the germinal centre (GC) of a secondary lymphoid organ where they develop into memory cells. In the GC, B cells undergo somatic hypermutation and antibody class switching which allows rapid production of high affinity antibodies during a secondary immune response (Bonilla and Oettgen, 2010; Vazquez et al., 2015). Antibodies consist of a light chain and a heavy chain, which undergo gene rearrangements during B cell development, resulting in the ability to recognise an extensive repertoire of antigens. Several different immunoglobulin (Ig) isotypes can be produced. These are IgM, IgG, IgA, IgD and IgE and this enables various functions to be carried out whilst maintaining antigen specificity (Pieper et al., 2013). Naïve B cells express IgM and IgD antibodies and predominantly switch to IgGexpressing B cells once activated (Horns et al., 2016). IgM and IgD are found on the surface of B cells but can also be secreted. IgM is released as a multimer, is associated with the primary immune response and can activate the complement system. IgG class antibodies are the most abundant and are further grouped into the subclasses IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IgG4. IgA antibodies are found at high levels in secretions and at mucosal surfaces whilst IgE antibodies are involved in hypersensitivity and parasitic infections (Schroeder and Cavacini, 2013). B cells are important for mediating an adaptive immune response but there is some evidence for a regulatory role of B cells as they can produce IL-10, leading to suppression of the immune response (Mizoguchi et al., 2002).

1.2 Chemokines

Chemokines are cytokines that regulate the migration of leukocytes. They are therefore fundamental for immune and inflammatory processes, but also play a role in many pathologies. Traditionally, chemokines are described as being secreted by infected or damaged tissues. Cells with the appropriate chemokine receptors can then migrate to the tissue and carry out their effector function (Fernandez and Lolis, 2002; Figure 1-1).





Chemokines are secreted by injured or infected tissue. Leukocytes with appropriate chemokine receptors roll along the endothelium and extravasate into the tissue.

1.2.1 Classification and structure of chemokines

Chemokines are characterised by having positionally conserved cysteine residues. They are divided into four subfamilies based on the position of the first two cysteines. These are CC, CXC, XC and CX3C. Chemokine nomenclature is based on the subfamily a chemokine is part of, for example CC, followed by L (for ligand) and a number (Table 1-1). The majority of chemokines are in the CC or CXC subfamilies whilst humans have only two XC chemokine ligands (XCL1 and XCL2) and one CX3C ligand (CX3CL1) (Turner et al., 2014). CXC chemokines can be further characterised by the presence or absence of an ELR motif. Chemokines are typically 8-12 kDa and generally all chemokines have a similar structure. An example of this is CCL2 which has four strands of β -sheet and two α -helices (Handel and Domaille, 1996). The N-terminus of a chemokine forms the key signalling domains (Allen et al., 2007).

1.2.2 Homeostatic and inflammatory chemokines

Chemokines can be classed as being homeostatic or inflammatory. Homeostatic chemokines are constitutively expressed and regulate baseline immune function, immune system development and immune surveillance. These chemokines include CCL19 and CCL21, which bind to CCR7, and direct T cells and DCs to secondary lymphoid organs (Förster et al., 2008). CCL25 binds to CCR9 on T cell progenitors and plasmacytoid DCs, directing these cells to the thymus and small intestine, respectively (Forster et al., 2009; Wendland et al., 2007). CCL27 is expressed by keratinocytes and mediates T cell recruitment through CCR10 to the skin (Homey et al., 2002). CXCL12/CXCR4 signalling is required for haematopoiesis and bone marrow recruitment and retention of haemopoietic stem cells (HSCs), as well as development of B cells, monocytes, macrophages and NK cells (Sokol and Luster, 2016). CXCL13 regulates B cell migration and localisation within lymph nodes (Förster et al., 1996).

The majority of chemokines are inflammatory. Their expression by immune and non-immune cells is induced by infection or tissue damage and they have a role in innate and adaptive immune responses (Allen et al., 2007). Inflammatory chemokines include CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3 and CXCL5. Some chemokines can function in both inflammatory and homeostatic ways. Examples of these are CCL17, CCL20, CCL22, CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11 (Palomino and Marti, 2015).

1.3 Chemokine receptors

Chemokine receptors are G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Nomenclature of these receptors consists of the subfamily of ligands the receptor binds followed by an R and a number (Table 1-1). They are expressed on many different cell types including monocytes, macrophages, T cells and DCs. Chemokines are usually promiscuous, binding to more than one receptor, and each receptor tends to have more than one chemokine ligand. This makes the chemokine system highly complex (Zlotnik et al., 2006). The majority of chemokine receptors are involved in cell migration but a subset of atypical chemokine receptors (ACKRs) do not signal through G proteins and have a role in chemokine scavenging (Bonecchi and Graham, 2016). These are ACKR1, ACKR2, ACKR3 and

ACKR4. ACKR1 has been shown to regulate neutrophil recruitment whilst ACKR2 has a role in regulating lymphangiogenesis (Lee et al., 2014; Zarbock et al., 2007). ACKR3 binds to CXCL11 and CXCL12 and is important in cardiac development as ACKR3 deficiency in mice is lethal due to heart defects (Sierro et al., 2007). ACKR4 binds to the homeostatic chemokines CCL19 and CCL21 and is important for establishing gradients of these chemokines in lymph nodes (Ulvmar et al., 2014).

Chemokine receptor	Ligands
CCR Subfamily	
CCR1	CCL3, CCL3L1, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL13, CCL14, CCL15,
6600	CCL16, CCL23
CCR2	CCL2, CCL7, CCL8, CCL13, CCL16, B-defensin 2, 3
CCR3	CCL3L1, CCL5, CCL7, CCL11, CCL13, CCL14, CCL15, CCL24, CCL26, CCL28
CCR4	CCL17, CCL22
CCR5	CCL3, CCL3L1, CCL4, CCL4L1, CCL5, CCL8, CCL11, CCL16
CCR6	
CCR7	CCL19, CCL21
CCR8	CCL1
CCR9	CCL25
CCR10	CCL27, CCL28
CXCR Subfamily	
CXCR1	CXCL6, CXCL7, CXCL8, acPGP
CXCR2	CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL6, CXCL7, CXCL8,
	acPGP, MIF
CXCR3	CXCL4, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, CXCL14
CXCR4	
CXCR5	CXCL13
CXCR6	CXCL16
XCR Subfamily	
XCR1	XCL1, XCL2
CX3CR Subfamily	
CX3CR1	CX3CL1
ACKR Subfamily	
ACKR1	CCL2, CCL5, CCL11, CCL13, CCL14, CCL17, CXCL1, CXCL2,
	CXCL3, CXCL7, CXCL8
ACKR2	CCL2, CCL3, CCL3L1, CCL4, CCL4L1, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8,
	CCL11, CCL12, CCL13, CCL14, CCL17, CCL22, CCL23,
	CCL24
	CXCL11, CXCL12
	CCL19, CCL21, CCL25, CXCL13
ACKR5	CCL19, chemerin
Table 1.1 Chamaking re	contere and ligende in humans

Table 1-1. Chemokine receptors and ligands in humans

The chemokine receptors identified in humans and the ligands that bind to the receptors (Zlotnik and Yoshie, 2012).

1.3.1 Chemokine receptor structure and signalling

GPCRs consist of seven transmembrane helices linked by extracellular and intracellular loops. The extracellular N-terminus of chemokine receptors is involved in ligand binding and the intracellular C-terminus regulates signalling. A key modulator of chemokine signalling is the DRYLAIV motif in the second intracellular loop which is lacking in ACKRs (Nibbs and Graham, 2013; Nomiyama and Yoshie, 2015). GPCRs are coupled to heterotrimeric G proteins ($\alpha\beta\gamma$) and in the inactive state, the α subunit is coupled to GDP. Upon ligand binding, GDP is displaced by GTP, leading to dissociation between the α - and $\beta\gamma$ -subunits which then activate downstream signalling pathways. During resolution of the response, the C-terminal tail is phosphorylated, leading to 8-arrestin recruitment. This prevents interaction of the receptor and the G protein and results in receptor internalisation (Hanlon and Andrew, 2015). Chemokine receptors appear to form homodimers and heterodimers which may influence the downstream signalling pathways and affect chemokine function (Mellado et al., 2001).

1.3.2 Inflammatory chemokine receptors

Humans and mice have a cluster of genes for the inflammatory chemokine receptors CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 (collectively referred to from now on as iCCRs). This cluster is found on chromosome 9 and chromosome 3 in mice and humans, respectively (Figure 1-2). These receptors are important in orchestrating the inflammatory response to various stimuli (Dyer et al., 2019; Shi and Pamer, 2011). They are expressed on multiple cell types and expression pattern changes with different disease states and pathologies. These receptors share multiple ligands which has made understanding the role of these receptors challenging (Figure 1-3).



Figure 1-2. Physical map of iCCR gene cluster

Gene position and orientation of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 on chromosome 3 in humans and chromosome 9 in mice.

1.3.2.1 CCR1

The ligands for CCR1 include CCL3, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL14, CCL15, CCL16 and CCL23 and CCR1 has been reported to be expressed by several different cell types. These include T cells, B cells, DCs and neurons (Armas-González et al., 2018; Coates et al., 2004; Llorián-Salvador et al., 2016; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). CCR1 is also expressed by immature monocyte-derived DCs and expression is downregulated as these cells mature (Gouwy et al., 2014). In the pathology of haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS), monocytes can express CCR1 and the level of CCR1 correlates with severity of renal dysfunction in HUS patients (Ramos et al., 2015). Basophils can express CCR1 and this increases in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Pan et al., 2017). The ligands for CCR1, CCL3 and CCL5, increase in the kidney after ischaemia-reperfusion injury (Furuichi et al., 2008).

1.3.2.2 CCR2

CCR2 binds to ligands including CCL2, CCL7 and CCL8 and is expressed by monocytes and macrophages. CCR2 is required for the migration of monocytes from the bone marrow to the blood and then from the blood to inflamed tissues (Dyer et al., 2019; Tsou et al., 2007). CCR2 is also expressed on HSCs and haematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs) and mediates the migration of these cells to sites of inflammation (Si et al., 2010). NK cells can express CCR2 which correlates with the tumour killing activity of these cells (Hansell et al., 2018).

CCR2 has been demonstrated to have a role in several cancers. For example, CCR2 is expressed in the tumours of patients with renal cell carcinoma and this expression correlates with survival time (Wang et al., 2016). As well as this, CCR2+ macrophages are found in the tumours of lung cancer patients and CCR2 antagonism reduces tumour burden and metastasis in a mouse model of lung cancer (Schmall et al., 2015).

1.3.2.3 CCR3

CCR3 is expressed on eosinophils, mast cells, basophils and some T cells (Brightling et al., 2005b; Danilova et al., 2015; Hausmann et al., 2011). The ligands for CCR3 include CCL11, CCL24, CCL26, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8 and CCL13. This receptor has been implicated in asthma and atopic dermatitis (AD). Airway smooth muscle cells (ASMCs) and airway epithelial cells can express CCR3 and ASMC CCR3 expression is greater in asthmatic patients than healthy controls (Joubert et al., 2005; Stellato et al., 2001). CCR3 expression has also been reported in keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts and epidermal CCR3 expression is higher in AD lesions than non-lesional areas or healthy controls (Gaspar et al., 2013; Wakugawa et al., 2001). An increase in CCR3 expression has also been reported in synovial cells of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients (Liu et al., 2017).

1.3.2.4 CCR5

CCR5 is expressed on monocytes, macrophages, NK cells and T cells and binds to ligands including CCL3, CCL4 and CCL5. Expression of CCR5 increases as monocytes mature into monocyte-derived macrophages (Fox et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2015). CCR5 is most widely studied in the context of HIV infection as it is a coreceptor for viral entry into target cells (Deng et al., 1996) but it has also been implicated in pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) and cancer. CCR5 expression increases in the lungs of PAH patients and is found on smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells (ECs) (Amsellem et al., 2014). In skin squamous cell carcinoma, Tregs express CCR5 which directs these cells to the tumour. CCR5 deficiency reduces the number of Tregs in the tumour which results in increased anti-tumour activity of CD8+ T cells (de Oliveira et al., 2017). CCR5 has also been reported to be expressed by osteoclasts and to regulate osteoclast function (Lee et al., 2017).



Figure 1-3. iCCR and chemokine interactions

CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 bind to multiple CC chemokines whilst the majority of these chemokines also bind to more than one iCCR, resulting in a highly complex system.

1.4 Evolution of chemokines and chemokine receptors

Chemokine receptors originated at the time vertebrates first evolved. These receptors can be classed into two phylogenetic groups. One group binds mainly homeostatic chemokines and appeared first, in jawless fish, while the other group mainly binds inflammatory chemokines and appeared later in jawed vertebrates (Nomiyama et al., 2011). It is likely that these genes evolved as complex vertebrate systems that increased exposure to pathogens developed, such as blood based oxygen transport, and a more complex immune response

was required. It may also suggest a role for chemokines and cell migration in the development of these systems. The number of receptors and chemokines varies widely between species. For example the zebrafish has 24 receptor genes and 63 chemokine genes whilst chickens have only 14 receptor genes and 23 chemokine genes (DeVries et al., 2006). This could reflect a difference in exposure to certain pathogens. Only mammals have the cluster containing the genes for the iCCRs.

Chemokine genes are mainly found in clusters, for example most human CC chemokine genes are part of two major clusters on chromosome 17 (Naruse et al., 1996). This is likely a result of tandem gene duplication where genes are copied and then independently evolve. Genes that do not appear in a cluster are more conserved between species and tend to have only one receptor. These are often genes for homeostatic chemokines (Zlotnik et al., 2006).

1.5 Non-immune roles of chemokines and receptors

Several chemokines and their receptors have been shown to have a role outside of orchestrating an immune or inflammatory response. For example, the ligand receptor pair CXCL12/CXCR4 is involved in development of the brain. These are both expressed in the embryonic nervous system and mice without functional CXCR4 have impaired hippocampal development (Lu et al., 2002; Tissir et al., 2004). More recently, a role for chemokine receptors in postnatal development has been demonstrated. The atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2 regulates epithelial branching in mammary gland development (Wilson et al., 2017). The receptor CCR8 can be expressed by vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) and mediates chemotaxis of these cells (Haque et al., 2004). Many CXC chemokines are involved in regulating angiogenesis and therefore may be important in embryonic development and wound healing but also some pathologies like tumorigenesis. CXC chemokines with the ELR motif such as CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3 and CXCL5 are pro-angiogenic whilst those without, such as CXCL4, CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11, are angiostatic (Dimberg, 2010). A balance of both types of chemokine may be important for appropriate wound healing and angiogenesis in cancer.

1.6 Chemokine receptors in disease

Chemokine receptors have been implicated in many disease states. They mediate the migration of leukocytes to inflammatory sites in various inflammatory diseases such as psoriasis and asthma (Koelink et al., 2012). They also play a role in cancer, which can be defensive or promote the disease, and are involved in the pathogenesis of HIV (Nagarsheth et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017).

1.6.1 Inflammatory diseases

Inflammatory diseases are characterised by infiltration of immune cells into various tissues which is mediated by chemokine receptors. In asthma, eosinophils and mast cells are activated in the lungs. Mast cell migration to the lungs is regulated by CCR1, CCR3, CXCR1 and CXCR3 whilst eosinophils are regulated by CCR3. CXCR3, CCR3 and CCL11, the ligand for CCR3, are increased in bronchial biopsies from asthma patients (Brightling et al., 2005a; Koelink et al., 2012; Ying et al., 1997). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is another disease involving lung inflammation. In COPD, CCR2 and CXCR2 mediate monocyte and neutrophil recruitment to the lungs, respectively. CXCR2 is increased in bronchial biopsies of COPD patients (Donnelly and Barnes, 2006; Qiu et al., 2003).

RA is characterised by chronic inflammation of the joints in the hands and feet. CXCR3 has been implicated in RA as blocking CXCR3 can reduce T cell infiltration into the inflamed joints and disease severity of arthritic mice. CCR1 and CCR5 are also expressed in the synovial tissue of RA patients, suggesting accumulation of CCR1+ and CCR5+ immune cells (Haringman et al., 2006; Mohan and Issekutz, 2014). The inflammatory skin disease psoriasis involves T cell infiltration, mediated by CCR4, CCR10 and CXCR3, as well as neutrophil recruitment via CXCR2. CXCR2 and CXCR3 are elevated in psoriatic lesions (Chen et al., 2010; Koelink et al., 2012; Kulke et al., 1998). CXCR2 is also implicated in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Antibodies against CXCR2 can inhibit intestinal inflammation in mouse IBD models (Farooq et al., 2009).
1.6.2 Cancer

1

Chemokines can be expressed by tumour and stromal cells. Chemokine and chemokine receptor signalling can drive anti-tumour immunity but has also been widely reported to promote tumour survival and metastasis. The effect of chemokine receptor signalling depends on the cancer type and the chemokines involved (Nagarsheth et al., 2017). CD8+ T cell infiltration into a tumour is associated with decreased metastasis and increased survival in colon and ovarian cancer. This infiltration can be mediated by CXCR3 and CXCL9 and CXCL10 (Nagarsheth et al., 2017; Pagès et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2005). CCR2 is involved in the recruitment of tumour associated macrophages (TAMs) and CCL2 correlates with the number of TAMs and poor prognosis in some cancers. TAMs promote tumour progression and metastasis and may inhibit T cell activation (Nagarsheth et al., 2017; Wan et al., 2014).

Tumour cells can also express chemokine receptors which can be associated with severity of the cancer. CCR2 is upregulated in breast cancer and interaction with CCL2 promotes cancer cell migration and survival (Fang et al., 2012). CCR9 is expressed by ovarian cancer cells. CCL25-CCR9 signalling can prevent apoptosis of these cells in response to chemotherapy (Johnson et al., 2010). Expression of CXCR1 in pancreatic duct adenocarcinoma and CXCR4 in prostate cancer correlates with metastasis. CXCR4 antibodies in prostate cancer may inhibit tumour growth and vascularisation (Chen et al., 2014; Darash-Yahana et al., 2004).

1.6.3 HIV

The chemokine receptors CCR5 and CXCR4 are co-receptors for the infection of CD4+ T cells by HIV. A 32 base pair deletion of the CCR5 gene (CCR5 Δ 32) confers resistance to HIV infection (Dean et al., 1996; Deng et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2017). CXCL10 is elevated in HIV infection and is associated with disease progression. It has been suggested that CXCR3+ T cells are recruited to the HIV-infected lymph node via CXCL10 where they are retained, disrupting the peripheral T cell response and aiding infection between T cells (Foley et al., 2014; Jiao et al., 2012). CCR6+ T cells are also susceptible to HIV infection and CCR6 may be a weaker co-receptor for HIV *in vitro* (Islam et al., 2013).

1.6.4 Targeting chemokine receptors

There is a lot of evidence for a role for chemokine receptors in many disease states, making them potential therapeutic targets. GPCRs are the most common pharmacological targets but there has been very limited success in developing drugs that target chemokine receptors. One reason for this is the complexity of the chemokine system as well as a limited understanding of the function of chemokines in distinct receptor and cell contexts (Solari et al., 2015). As well as this, GPCRs with multiple ligands can show signalling bias which needs to be further understood in order to develop better drugs (Liu et al., 2012). There have only been three drugs that target chemokine receptors that have made it to market. Maraviroc, a CCR5 antagonist, is used to treat HIV and the CXCR4 antagonist Plerixafor is used to treat cancer patients as it mobilises stem cells from the bone marrow to the blood (Dorr et al., 2005; Teusink et al., 2016). More recently Mogamulizumab, a monoclonal antibody to CCR4, has been used to treat certain types of cutaneous T cell lymphoma (Duvic et al., 2015).

1.7 Mice used to study iCCRs

To improve understanding of iCCRs, unique mouse strains have been developed. These mice can be used to identify the individual, combinatorial and redundant roles of iCCRs in various contexts which will hopefully aid the development of drugs that target iCCRs.

1.7.1 iCCR-KO mice

iCCR-KO mice are deficient for the gene cluster on chromosome 9 containing the genes for CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5. These mice show no overt developmental abnormalities and can be used alongside individual receptor KO mice to determine the roles of the iCCRs (Dyer et al., 2019). These are particularly useful as only single receptor deficient mice have been generated so far, due to the close proximity of the iCCR genes.

1.7.2 iCCR reporter mice

iCCR reporter (REP) mice have been generated using a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) in which genes for fluorescent reporter proteins are under

control of the promoters for each of the iCCR genes. Therefore, cells that express a particular iCCR can be detected by the reporter protein, enabling individual and combinatorial iCCR expression to be determined in a temporal and spatial manner.

1.8 The cardiovascular system and cardiovascular diseases

The cardiovascular system consists of the heart, arteries, veins and capillaries and functions to deliver blood to tissues. Blood vessels are comprised of three layers. These are a thin inner intima layer of ECs, a medial layer consisting of VSMCs and an outer adventitia layer made up mostly of fibroblasts (McCurley and Jaffe, 2012). Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are a class of diseases that involve the cardiovascular system and are a leading cause of morbidity and mortality (Benjamin et al., 2019). These include atherosclerosis, hypertension, PAH, myocardial infarction (MI), cardiomyopathy and stroke. Atherosclerosis is the narrowing of an artery due to the build up of lipid in the arterial wall and formation of a fibrous plaque. If the plaque ruptures, a blood clot forms which can cause a blockage to an artery. If this occurs in the coronary artery it can result in MI, or a stroke if the blockage occurs in the brain (Bergheanu et al., 2017).

1.9 Hypertension and blood pressure regulation

Hypertension is when blood pressure (BP) is elevated above 140/90 mmHg. This is a risk factor for atherosclerosis, and therefore MI and stroke, as well as aneurysms, cardiomyopathy and kidney disease (Kannel, 1996; Lip et al., 2000; Mennuni et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2007). Most cases of hypertension have an unknown cause. These are classed as essential hypertension and are thought to have multiple genetic and environmental factors contributing to the disease (Tanira and Al Balushi, 2005). There are several systems in place that regulate BP which can be altered in hypertension but also represent targets to lower BP. Despite current treatments, BP remains uncontrolled in about a third of hypertensive patients (Hales et al., 2017), showing a need for new treatments that lower BP or prevent end organ damage.

1.9.1 The renin-angiotensin system

The renin-angiotensin system (RAS) is a key regulator of BP but also has a role in the pathogenesis of CVD (Figure 1-4). The RAS is initiated by the kidneys which release renin into the blood when a reduction in BP is detected. Renin is an enzyme which cleaves circulating angiotensinogen to the decapeptide angiotensin (Ang) I. This is then further cleaved to the octapeptide Ang II by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). Ang II causes an increase in BP by various mechanisms and binds to the GPCRs, angiotensin type 1 (AT1) or type 2 (AT2) receptors. In the adrenal glands, Ang II acts on the AT1 receptor which results in the release of aldosterone. Aldosterone is a steroid hormone that binds to the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR). MR activation in the kidney nephrons leads to increased activation of the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC). This results in an increase in sodium retention, followed by retention of water, and an increase in BP (Soundararajan et al., 2010; Sparks et al., 2014). Ang II also acts on the vasculature via the AT1 receptor, regulating vasoconstriction as well as migration and proliferation of VSMCs (Benigni et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017). It is thought that the AT2 receptor acts to antagonise the functions of the AT1 receptor, mediating vasodilation (Benigni et al., 2010). Ang II also induces vascular inflammation and is involved in vascular fibrosis, both of which are associated with hypertension induced end organ damage (Carver et al., 2015; Piqueras et al., 2000).

39

There is a counter-regulatory axis to the RAS, mediated by angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2). This enzyme cleaves the C-terminal amino acids from Ang I and Ang II to form Ang-(1-9) and Ang-(1-7), respectively. Ang-(1-7) acts on the Mas receptor to inhibit the proliferative and migrative effects mediated by Ang II and can also bind to the AT2 receptor (McKinney et al., 2014). Ang-(1-7) can inhibit the vascular fibrosis induced by Ang II (Carver et al., 2015).



Figure 1-4. The renin angiotensin system

Circulating angiotensinogen is converted to Ang I by renin which is cleaved to Ang II by ACE. Ang II mediates BP increasing effects via the AT1 receptor and BP lowering effects via the AT2 receptor. ACE2 converts Ang I to Ang-(1-9) and Ang II to Ang-(1-7) in the counter regulatory RAS axis in which Ang-(1-7) mediates BP lowering and cardioprotective effects via the Mas and AT2 receptors.

1.9.2 Atrial natriuretic peptide

Atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) is a 28 amino acid peptide that induces BP lowering effects and is secreted by the heart in response to increased atrial tension. ANP binds to the natriuretic peptide receptors (NPR) NPR-A, NPR-B and NPR-C which are expressed in the kidney, heart, brain and vasculature (Wong et al., 2017). In the kidney, ANP can reduce sodium reabsorption and increase urine production as well as inhibit the release of renin (Kurtz et al., 1986; Stevens et al., 1994; Wong et al., 2017). In the vasculature, ANP stimulates the production of nitric oxide (NO) which induces VSMC relaxation (Elesgaray et al., 2008). ANP

can also regulate the sympathetic nervous system, inducing vasodilation (Wong et al., 2017).

1.9.3 The sympathetic nervous system

Sympathetic neurons innervate the heart, blood vessels, kidneys and adrenal medulla, all of which contribute to BP regulation. The combination of vascular resistance and cardiac output affect BP, as does renal sodium excretion. These can all be regulated by the sympathetic nervous system (Guyenet, 2006). Some cases of hypertension are associated with elevated sympathetic nerve activity (Schlaich et al., 2003) and animal models have been used to demonstrate a role of sympathetic nerve activity in arterial pressure control. In the hypothalamus, the melanocortin receptor types 3 and 4 (MC3/4-R) are involved in BP regulation. Chronic MC3/4-R activation in rats increases arterial pressure whilst blockade of MC3/4-R lowers BP in spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHRs) (Da Silva et al., 2008; Kuo et al., 2003). In addition, both renal denervation and adrenergic blockade reduce arterial pressure in a hyperandrogenemic female rat model (Maranon et al., 2015).

1.9.4 Perivascular adipose tissue

Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) surrounds the outer adventitia layer of blood vessels and is comprised of adipocytes and immune cells. PVAT is a regulator of vascular function and BP by releasing paracrine factors that act on the blood vessel. These can be relaxing factors or contractile factors (Ramirez et al., 2017). Relaxing factors include adiponectin, Ang-(1-7), hydrogen peroxide and hydrogen sulphide and can mediate the relaxation response through NO release, potassium channel modulation or cGMP generation (Deng et al., 2010; Gao et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2009; Ramirez et al., 2017; Schleifenbaum et al., 2010). Production of chemerin and superoxide by PVAT have been shown to induce a contractile response, along with certain cytokines such as TNF- α (Gao et al., 2006; Virdis et al., 2015; Watts et al., 2013). PVAT also expresses components of the RAS (Gálvez-Prieto et al., 2008). Inflammation of PVAT can result in dysregulation of vascular function and is associated with obesity, hypertension and atherosclerosis (Ramirez et al., 2017).

1.9.5 Vascular function and oxidative stress

Vascular function involves the role of the endothelium in modulating vascular tone as well as the role of ECs in coagulation, angiogenesis and platelet adhesion. ECs release relaxing factors such as NO and prostaglandins and endothelial dysfunction occurs when endothelium-dependent relaxation is impaired (Frey et al., 2008; Godo and Shimokawa, 2017). This is associated with reduced NO bioavailability or reduced NO production by endothelial NO synthase (eNOS). Oxidative stress contributes to endothelial dysfunction as superoxide, derived from NADPH oxidase, reacts with NO to form peroxynitrite, reducing NO bioavailability (Frey et al., 2008; La Favor et al., 2016; Mordi et al., 2016). Endothelial dysfunction is associated with hypertension, atherosclerosis and obesity (Guzik et al., 2000; La Favor et al., 2016; Panza et al., 1994).

1.9.6 Current treatments of hypertension

There are five classes of antihypertensive agents. These are thiazide diuretics, beta-blockers, ACE inhibitors, Ang II receptor blockers (ARBs) and calcium channel blockers. Thiazide diuretics inhibit kidney sodium reabsorption through inhibition of the electroneutral sodium chloride cotransporter and have also been suggested to induce vasodilation. Adverse effects of thiazide diuretics include hyponatraemia, hypokalaemia and hypovolaemia (Blowey, 2016; Laurent, 2017). Beta-blockers target beta-adrenergic receptors and lower BP by reducing cardiac output and possibly reducing sympathetic activity. Some betablockers are non-vasodilating, such as atenolol and metoprolol, whilst others like nebivolol can induce vasodilation. Beta-blockers can induce adverse effects such as hallucinations, insomnia and depression (Laurent, 2017). ACE inhibitors reduce the production of circulating and tissue Ang II, preventing the Ang II mediated mechanisms that increase BP. ACE inhibitors have also been shown to reduce arterial stiffness but have a few reported adverse effects, the main one being cough (Laurent, 2017; Law et al., 2003; Tropeano et al., 2006). ARBs antagonise the AT1 receptor, preventing the effects of Ang II. These drugs have similar efficacy to ACE inhibitors but do not produce adverse effects (Schmidt et al., 2004). Calcium channel blockers are vasodilatory drugs and classed as dihydropyridines (DHPs) and non-DHPs. DHPs block L-type calcium channels, inhibiting depolarisation of VSMCs and cardiomyocytes. Calcium channel blockers

can induce headaches, hypotension and pedal oedema (Eisenberg et al., 2004; Laurent, 2017). Often these treatments are combined and it has been shown that combining low dose drug treatments can increase efficacy and reduce adverse effects (Law et al., 2003).

1.9.7 Models of hypertension

Animal models of diseases enable the study of disease development as well as screening of therapeutics. Several models have been used to study hypertension. and these can be genetic models or based on endocrine or diet factors. The SHR is an inbred rat strain that has multiple genetic pathways contributing to the disease. Details of these genes are still to be elucidated, similar to human essential hypertension (Doris, 2017). SHRs develop hypertension at the age of 4-6 weeks and this can be influenced by environmental factors. SHRs have been shown to develop renal inflammation and oxidative stress, suggesting they can be used to study end organ damage, as well as hypertension development (Dornas and Silva, 2011; Durante et al., 2010). Dahl salt-sensitive rats are another genetic model of hypertension that develop the disease with a high salt diet. These rats have reduced urinary sodium excretion and increased urinary potassium excretion (Jo et al., 2017). They are also prone to glomerulosclerosis, possibly due to podocyte injury (Nagase et al., 2006). The deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA)-salt rodent model of hypertension involves the administration of DOCA and a high salt diet and is sometimes combined with a uninephrectomy. DOCA increases sodium reabsorption in the kidney, leading to hypervolemia, whilst the high salt diet increases the onset of hypertension (Basting and Lazartigues, 2017). N ω -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) is an eNOS inhibitor, administered to rodents to induce hypertension. This results in increased vasoconstriction and the development of glomerulosclerosis and cardiac hypertrophy (Dornas and Silva, 2011; Francois et al., 2008). Administration of Ang II is another rodent model of hypertension, resulting in increased BP, endothelial dysfunction and vascular oxidative stress (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). Other hypertensive models include induction by environmental stress or neurogenic hypertension, such as denervation of sinoaortic baroreceptors (Dornas and Silva, 2011).

1.10 The immune system in hypertension

There is a lot of evidence for a role of the immune system in hypertension and end organ damage. Leukocytes have been shown to infiltrate the kidneys and vasculature of hypertensive patients and animal models (Moore et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2006; Youn et al., 2013). Mice and rats lacking recombination activating gene 1 (Rag-1) have reduced T and B cell numbers and these have an attenuated hypertensive response to Ang II, DOCA or a high salt diet (Guzik et al., 2007; Mattson et al., 2013). Immunosuppressive treatments have been shown to reduce BP in animal models of hypertension. For example, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) reduces BP, renal lymphocyte infiltration and renal oxidative stress in SHRs (Rodríguez-Iturbe et al., 2015). Immunosuppression with dexamethasone does not reduce BP but reduces renal macrophage and T cell infiltration (Muller et al., 2011). Targeting the immune system represents a possible strategy to treat hypertension. Patients with psoriasis or RA were treated with MMF and this was associated with reduced systolic and diastolic BP (Herrera et al., 2006). However, highly active antiretroviral therapy for HIV patients was associated with increased prevalence of hypertension (Seaberg et al., 2005). An improved understanding of the role of the immune system in hypertension is required to develop hypertensive treatments that target the immune system.

1.10.1 Monocytes and macrophages

Monocytes and macrophages have been reported to accumulate in the aorta, mesenteric arteries, PVAT, kidney and heart in various models of hypertension and are likely to contribute to end organ damage (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2006; Thang et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2017). Depleting macrophages with clodronate liposomes in mice with DOCA-salt induced hypertension results in lower BP and reduced superoxide in mesenteric arteries compared to control DOCA-salt mice (Thang et al., 2015). A similar effect is seen in mice with Ang II induced hypertension and depletion of LysM+ monocytes. LysM+ monocyte depletion also attenuates endothelial dysfunction which is restored, along with an increase in BP, when mice are reconstituted with monocytes (Wenzel et al., 2011). Op/Op mice, which have reduced macrophage numbers, also respond to Ang II with a lower BP and reduced

endothelial dysfunction, superoxide and NADPH oxidase activation compared to WT mice. These mice also do not show accumulation of macrophages in the mesenteric arteries after Ang II treatment (De Ciuceis et al., 2005). Together these studies suggest that macrophages accumulate in the vasculature and modulate vascular function. This could be through NADPH oxidase activity and superoxide production. Macrophages from DOCA-salt treated mice express higher levels of the NADPH oxidase subunit p22^{phox} than control normotensive mice (Thang et al., 2015). It has also been suggested that an increase in Ly6C^{hi} monocytes in the aorta following Ang II treatment impairs eNOS function (Kossmann et al., 2014). Contrary to these studies, clodronate liposome depletion of macrophages in rats on a high salt diet increased BP compared to control rats (Machnik et al., 2009). This could be due to differences between salt and Ang II induced hypertension.

Macrophages that accumulate in the heart are thought to regulate cardiac remodelling. Rats given a splenectomy prior to Ang II treatment had fewer macrophages in the heart than control rats and this was associated with reduced cardiac fibrosis. Rats that had undergone a splenectomy also responded to Ang II with an increase in BP, but this was not as high as the rats that did not have a splenectomy (Wang et al., 2017). As macrophages accumulate in the kidney in hypertension, it is possible they mediate kidney fibrosis and collagen deposition observed in hypertensive mice (Xiao et al., 2015).

1.10.2 Dendritic Cells

1

DCs have been implicated in hypertension as they activate T cells. The interaction of T cell CD28 and B7 ligands on DCs is required for activation. Blocking this interaction with CTLA4-Ig attenuates both Ang II and DOCA-salt induced hypertension (Vinh et al., 2010). This effect is also seen in B7^{-/-} mice treated with Ang II whilst reconstituting B7^{-/-} mice with WT bone marrow restores the response to Ang II (Vinh et al., 2010). Ang II increases the production of superoxide from DCs as well as the production of IL-6, IL-1B and IL-23 from splenic DCs (Kirabo et al., 2014). DCs accumulate isoketal protein adducts, a product of oxidative stress, in Ang II and DOCA-salt induced hypertension. It has been suggested that these DCs regulate hypertension, as treatment with the isoketal scavenger 2-HOBA prevents isoketal protein adduct

accumulation and reduces BP (Kirabo et al., 2014). DCs from hypertensive mice can support the proliferation and survival of T cells but DCs from normotensive mice do not. In addition, transfer of DCs from hypertensive, but not normotensive mice, to WT mice induces susceptibility to a low dose of Ang II that would not normally elicit a hypertensive response. This is not seen when the DCs are transferred to Rag-1^{-/-} mice, suggesting that T cells are required for DC priming of hypertension (Kirabo et al., 2014). Expression of CD80 and CD86 by DCs increases with Ang II induced hypertension, showing activation of DCs. This is prevented, along with a blunted hypertensive response and reduced DC isoketal protein adduct accumulation, in mice subject to renal denervation (Xiao et al., 2015). Recently, a study has indicated that DCs could have a more essential role in hypertension as ablation of CD11c+ APCs, which includes DCs, prevents an increase in BP and cardiac hypertrophy following Ang II and salt treatment. Adoptive transfer of CD11c+ APCs to these mice restores the hypertensive response and it has been suggested that these effects are mediated through altered sodium excretion (Hevia et al., 2018). DCs have also been shown to increase in the PVAT of Ang II treated mice (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016).

1.10.3 NK cells

1

NK cells accumulate in the aorta and mesenteric arteries of hypertensive mice (Kossmann et al., 2013; Taherzadeh et al., 2010). Depletion of NK cells in Ang II treated mice can attenuate the Ang II induced vascular dysfunction (Kossmann et al., 2013). C57BL/6 mice are more susceptible to L-NAME induced hypertension than BALB/c mice and NK cells only accumulate in the arteries of C57BL/6 mice after L-NAME treatment, not BALB/c mice. This could be mediated by the NK gene complex as BALB/c mice expressing the C57BL/6 NK gene complex show a similar hypertensive response to L-NAME as C57BL/6 mice (Taherzadeh et al., 2010).

1.10.4 Neutrophils

Depletion of neutrophils attenuates the increase in BP that occurs in the reduced utero-placental perfusion pressure and Sabra hypertension prone rat models of hypertension (Mazor et al., 2007; Regal et al., 2015). The number of neutrophils has also been shown to increase in the aortas of Ang II treated mice (Wenzel et

al., 2011). Neutrophils may contribute to hypertension through superoxide production. Neutrophils from pregnant women with hypertension produce more superoxide than neutrophils from healthy pregnant women (Tsukimori et al., 2007). In addition, neutrophils from SHRs produce more superoxide than Wistar Kyoto rat (WKY) controls. However, this is not seen in the L-NAME or DOCA-salt models of hypertension (Ohmori et al., 2000). An elevated blood neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio correlates with risk of hypertension (Liu et al., 2015).

1.10.5 T cells

An increase in the number of circulating CD4+ and CD8+ T cells has been reported in hypertensive patients compared to normotensive controls and these T cells produce more IL-17A, IFN γ and TNF α (Itani et al., 2016). T cells also accumulate in the kidneys and aortas of hypertensive mice (Guzik et al., 2007; Itani et al., 2016; Krebs et al., 2014). Rag-1^{-/-} mice, which have a blunted hypertensive response to Ang II, undergo an increase in BP, vascular oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction after the adoptive transfer of T cells. This suggests that T cells are required for Ang II induced hypertension (Guzik et al., 2007). Further studies showed that adoptive transfer of CD8+ T cells, but not CD4+ T cells, to Rag-1^{-/-} mice restores the blunted response to Ang II and that CD8^{-/-} mice also have an attenuated response to Ang II (Trott et al., 2014). CD247^{-/-} rats is lower than CD247^{+/+} rats and they also have reduced renal damage (Rudemiller et al., 2014).

Th17 cells may augment hypertension as circulating Th17 cells increase following Ang II treatment, along with kidney Th17 cell infiltration and production of IL-17 by T cells. IL-17^{-/-} mice also have lower BP and improved vascular function compared to WT mice when treated with Ang II. However, IL-17^{-/-} mice have worse renal damage when hypertension is induced by DOCA and Ang II (Krebs et al., 2014; Madhur et al., 2010). Treg cells could be protective in hypertension. Adoptive transfer of Tregs to Ang II treated WT mice prevents an increase in systolic BP, endothelial dysfunction and aortic oxidative stress whilst adoptive transfer of Treg-deficient T cells to hypertensive Rag-1^{-/-} mice exaggerates endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress (Barhoumi et al., 2011; Mian et al., 2015).

1.10.6 B cells

Fewer studies have focused on the role of B cells in hypertension but some recent studies have started to reveal how B cells may contribute to the disease. Hypertensive patients and animal models have elevated circulating IgG antibodies (Chan et al., 2015, 2014) and when perfusion pressure in the kidney is increased, B cells have been shown to accumulate in the kidney (Evans et al., 2017). Mice with depleted B cells, through B cell-activating factor receptor (BAFF-R) deficiency or treatment with anti-CD20 antibody, have an attenuated response to Ang II whilst adoptive transfer of B cells to BAFF-R^{-/-} mice restores the response to Ang II. BAFF-R^{-/-} mice also do not show an increase in serum IgG or aortic macrophage accumulation after Ang II treatment (Chan et al., 2015). Recently c-myb^{h/h} mice, which have reduced circulating and kidney B cells, have been shown to have reduced baseline BP and a reduced response to DOCA-salt induced hypertension. This could possibly be due to increased sodium excretion (Dingwell et al., 2019). SLE is an autoimmune disease associated with an increase in the prevalence of hypertension. The proteasome inhibitor Bortezomib reduces bone marrow plasma cells and plasma IgG in mice with SLE as well as reducing mean arterial pressure and renal injury, suggesting IgG antibodies may be involved in hypertension in SLE (Taylor et al., 2018). Several targets of antibodies in hypertension have been suggested. These are AT1 receptor, alpha1-adrenergic receptor and beta1-adrenergic receptor, L-type voltage gated calcium channels and HSP-70 (Chan et al., 2014).

1.10.7 Immune cell summary

Many different immune cells have been implicated in hypertension. Depletion of monocytes, macrophages, T cells or B cells have been shown to be protective in models of hypertension (Chan et al., 2015; Guzik et al., 2007; Thang et al., 2015; Wenzel et al., 2011). DCs also contribute to the disease, possibly through activation of T cells, whilst it has been suggested that NK cells regulate vascular dysfunction and neutrophils contribute to oxidative stress in hypertension (Kirabo et al., 2014; Kossmann et al., 2013; Tsukimori et al., 2007).

1.10.8 Cytokines

Various cytokines have been implicated in hypertension. T cells from Ang II treated mice have increased production of TNF- α and IFN- γ whilst production of IL-2, IL-4 and IL-5 does not change after Ang II treatment (Guzik et al., 2007). Treatment of hypertensive patients with the AT1 receptor blocker Losartan reduces production of IFN- γ by peripheral blood lymphocytes (Weidanz et al., 2005). In a mouse model of Ang II induced hypertension, TNF- α deficiency attenuates the hypertensive response to Ang II as well as cardiac hypertrophy and renal injury. This is possibly due to increased eNOS expression and NO bioavailability in the kidneys of TNF- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. By contrast, IFN- γ deficiency does not affect BP or renal injury in this model (Zhang et al., 2014). However, IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice are protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction (Kossmann et al., 2013). Mice lacking the IFN- γ receptor respond to Ang II with an increase in BP similar to WT mice but have reduced cardiac hypertrophy and renal injury (Markó et al., 2012). Treatment of Ang II infused mice with anti-IFN-γ antibody does not affect the response to Ang II but treatment with Etanercept, a soluble TNF- α receptor, reduces vascular superoxide production (Guzik et al., 2007).

Ang II increases the production of IL-17 by circulating T cells and IL-17^{-/-} mice have a lower BP than WT mice after 4 weeks of Ang II infusion. IL-17^{-/-} mice are also protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction and superoxide generation as well as aortic T cell infiltration (Madhur et al., 2010). However IL-17^{-/-} mice show increased renal injury and impaired renal function compared to WT mice when treated with Ang II and DOCA. When this model is used for 14 days, IL-17^{-/-} mice also have a similar BP to WT mice (Krebs et al., 2014). This suggests that IL-17 has different roles in different tissues and this is affected by the model of hypertension used. IL-23 is important for expansion of Th17 cells. Mice deficient for IL-23p19 also show increased renal injury compared to WT mice after Ang II and DOCA treatment (Krebs et al., 2014). Anti-IL-23 receptor or anti-IL-17A antibodies have no effect on BP in Ang II treated mice (Markó et al., 2012).

The proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 may regulate BP in hypertension. Anti-IL-6 antibody attenuates the BP elevation induced by high salt diet in Dahl salt

sensitive rats and IL-6^{-/-} mice do not respond to Ang II with increased BP (Brands et al., 2010; Hashmat et al., 2016).

Overall, deficiency of the cytokines TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-17 or IL-6 may protect from an elevation in BP, inflammation or vascular dysfunction and oxidative stress in hypertension (Brands et al., 2010; Kossmann et al., 2013; Madhur et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2014). This demonstrates an important role for the immune system in the disease. However, the roles of these cytokines may vary between models and tissues.

1.11 Chemokines and chemokine receptors in hypertension

As important regulators of immune cells, it is likely that chemokines contribute to the pathogenesis of hypertension. Several chemokines and chemokine receptors have been reported to be upregulated in the vasculature and kidneys of hypertensive animal models and it has been suggested that this can regulate BP and end organ damage (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2015; Xia et al., 2013). Most research has focused on CC or CXC chemokines and receptors whilst no studies on XC chemokines in the context of hypertension have been carried out to date.

1.11.1 CC chemokines and receptors

The role of CCR2 and its ligand CCL2 has been widely studied in hypertension. Circulating CCL2 is elevated in recently diagnosed, untreated, hypertensive patients (Antonelli et al., 2012; Madej et al., 2005) and CCR2 expression increases in the aorta of both Ang II treated mice and DOCA/salt treated mice (Chan et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2015). CCR2 expression by circulating monocytes is also increased in SHRs, Ang II treated mice and L-NAME treated rats (Ishibashi et al., 2004). CCR2 deficiency does not have an effect on BP in Ang II induced hypertension (Ishibashi et al., 2004) although treatment with a CCR2 inhibitor can affect BP. Mice given the CCR2 antagonist INCB3344 after Ang II or DOCA-salt treatment showed a reduction in BP and aortic macrophage accumulation (Chan et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2015). However, the CCR2 antagonist RS102895 did not affect the BP of rats treated with Ang II and a high

51

salt diet and resulted in a higher BP than controls in a mouse model of renovascular hypertension. RS102895 can however reduce renal fibrosis and macrophage accumulation in hypertension (Elmarakby et al., 2007; Kashyap et al., 2015). Despite having no effect on BP, CCR2 deficiency is protective against Ang II induced vascular remodelling (Ishibashi et al., 2004). In renovascular hypertension, CCL2 deficiency has no effect on BP but CCL2 deficiency does prevent an increase in BP in response to DOCA-salt. CCL2^{-/-} mice may also be protected from renal injury and cardiac inflammation in hypertension (Kashyap et al., 2018; Shen et al., 2014).

CCR5 and its ligands may have a role in hypertension. The CCR5 Δ 32 mutation has been associated with increased prevalence of hypertension but some studies have also suggested that CCR5 Δ 32 is not associated with the disease (Mettimano et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2006). Renal, aortic and cardiac expression of CCR5 can increase in hypertension as well as renal expression of CCL3 and CCL5 (Chan et al., 2012; Krebs et al., 2012). CCR5 deficiency has no effect on BP elevation, renal function, injury and inflammation or cardiac fibrosis in a DOCA and Ang II model of hypertension (Krebs et al., 2012). The role of CCL5 in hypertension may vary between tissues. CCL5 has been suggested to have a negative effect in the vasculature as CCL5^{-/-} mice are protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction and superoxide production. Similar effects are seen when the CCL5 inhibitor met-RANTES is given to Ang II treated mice (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). In contrast, CCL5 may be protective in the kidney as CCL5^{-/-} mice show worse renal injury and fibrosis compared to WT mice when treated with Ang II (Rudemiller et al., 2016). CCL5 deficiency does not affect BP in hypertension (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Rudemiller et al., 2016). VSMCs can express CCL5. VSMCs from SHRs have reduced CCL5 expression compared to WKY VSMCs and Ang II reduces the expression of CCL5 by SHR VSMCs (Yun et al., 2011). SHRs treated with CCL5 also show reduced BP (Kim et al., 2015).

The percentage of T cells expressing CCR1, CCR3 and CCR5 in the PVAT increases in Ang II induced hypertension (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). An increase of CCL7, CCL8 and CCL12 is also observed in the aortas of DOCA-salt treated mice (Chan et al., 2012). Studies of hypertension using CCR1^{-/-} and CCR3^{-/-} animals or CCR1 and CCR3 inhibitors have not been carried out.

1.11.2 CXC chemokines and receptors

Aortic and cardiac expression of CXCR2 increases in hypertensive models (Chan et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2019). When treated with Ang II or DOCA-salt, CXCR2^{-/-} mice have a blunted BP response compared to WT mice and are protected from vascular dysfunction and superoxide production. They are also protected from aortic wall thickening, fibrosis and macrophage and T cell infiltration. The same effect is seen when hypertensive mice are treated with the CXCR2 inhibitor SB265610. This protective effect is likely a result of disrupting CXCR2 signalling in myeloid cells (Wang et al., 2016). Reparixin, an inhibitor of CXCR2 activation, can reduce blood pressure and aortic wall thickness of SHRs. Reparixin can also increase the production of NO by VSMCs (Kim et al., 2011). Further, the CXCR2 inhibitor SB225002 reduces BP and attenuates cardiac remodelling, oxidative stress and inflammation in SHRs (Zhang et al., 2019). CXCL8 is a ligand for CXCR2 and expression of CXCL8 is higher in the aortas of SHRs than WKY controls. CXCL8 expression by VSMCs can be induced by Ang II (Kim et al., 2008).

CXCR6 and its ligand CXCL16 may regulate hypertensive end organ damage. T cells and macrophages that accumulate in the kidneys of Ang II treated mice can express CXCR6. When treated with Ang II, CXCR6-GFP mice have a similar increase in BP to WT mice but are protected from kidney injury and fibrosis (Xia et al., 2014). CXCL16 expression is induced in the kidneys of Ang II and DOCAsalt treated mice. CXCL16 deficiency does not protect from elevated BP in these models but does protect from renal injury, fibrosis and T cell and macrophage infiltration (Liang et al., 2016; Xia et al., 2013).

The ligands for CXCR3, CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11, have been reported to be elevated in the circulation of hypertensive patients (Antonelli et al., 2012; Youn et al., 2013). CXCR3^{-/-} mice have a higher BP than WT mice at baseline and after a high salt diet (Hsu et al., 2009). CXCR7 has been implicated in endothelial progenitor cell mediated repair of the endothelium in hypertensive patients (Zhang et al., 2014).

1.11.3 CX3CL1 and CX3CR1

Few studies have focused on CX3CL1 and CX3CR1 in hypertension but both have been shown to be upregulated in the kidneys during DOCA induced hypertension. BP increases in CX3CR1^{-/-} mice when treated with DOCA to the same extent as WT mice but CX3CR1 deficiency attenuates renal fibrosis and macrophage infiltration (Shimizu et al., 2011). CX3CL1 expression has been reported to be higher in the mesenteric arteries of female SHRs than male SHRs, although it is unlikely that this affects BP (Sullivan et al., 2009).

1.11.4 Chemokines and receptors summary

Several chemokines and chemokine receptors have been implicated in hypertension. CCR2, CCR5 and CXCR2 expression is upregulated in the vasculature of hypertensive animal models whilst renal expression of CCR5 and CX3CR1 also increases in hypertension. Deficiency of these receptors and their ligands may protect against BP elevation, inflammation or end organ damage in hypertension but this could be model and tissue dependent (Krebs et al., 2012; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2015; Shen et al., 2014; Shimizu et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2016).

1.12 Aims

Chemokine receptors have a role in the pathogenesis of hypertension and consequent end organ damage but the exact role they play is unclear. Disrupting chemokine-chemokine receptor interactions may reduce BP and protect from end organ damage, as is seen in some animal studies (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2015). The complexity of the chemokine system has limited our understanding of how these receptors contribute to the disease. As chemokine receptors have multiple ligands and share ligands with other receptors (Figure 1-3), knocking out or blocking a receptor may not reveal the whole role of the receptor as it is compensated for by other receptors and chemokines. It is hypothesised that the iCCRs are important in regulating leukocyte migration in hypertension and that targeting these receptors will protect from elevated BP and end organ damage in the disease. The aim of this study was to investigate

this, increasing our understanding of how iCCRs contribute to hypertension and BP regulation. This was broken down into three aims.

- 1. Characterisation of iCCR expression in Ang II induced hypertension.
- 2. Investigation of how deficiency of all iCCRs affects Ang II induced hypertension.
- 3. Investigation of how iCCR deficiency affects immune cells and molecules that are involved in BP regulation in the kidney.

The results described here have added to our understanding of the role of iCCRs in hypertension. In doing this, potential chemokine receptors have been identified which can be targeted to reduce BP and hypertensive end organ damage. Chapter 2

Materials and methods

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Mice

All genetically modified mice were bred at the biological services unit at the Beatson Institute for Cancer Research and then housed at the cardiovascular research unit or central research facility at the University of Glasgow. Mice were allowed to acclimatise for at least 7 days after arrival before carrying out any procedures. Once on procedure, mice were monitored for weight loss as a way to monitor their health. At the end of experiments, mice were euthanased by carbon dioxide asphyxiation or cervical dislocation. All experiments were approved and performed under the project licence of Professor Gerard Graham (70/8377) or Dr Delyth Graham (70/9021).

2.1.1 C57BL/6 mice

8-11 wk old male C57BL/6 WT mice were purchased from Charles River or bred in house.

2.1.2 iCCR-reporter mice

REP mice expressing fluorescent proteins under the control of iCCR gene promoters were generated on a C57BL/6 background by Dr Laura Medina-Ruiz. The reporter proteins used were Clover (CCR1), mRuby2 (CCR2), mTagBFP2 (CCR3) and iRFP682 (CCR5).

2.1.3 iCCR-KO mice

The locus on mouse chromosome 9 containing the iCCR genes was deleted to produce iCCR deficient mice on a C57BL/6 background. These mice have no overt developmental abnormalities but have impaired inflammatory leukocyte recruitment (Dyer et al., 2019). WT littermates were used as controls.

2.1.4 Individual receptor-KO mice

CCR1 deficient, CCR2 deficient and CCR5 deficient mice were maintained on a C57BL/6 background and CCR3 deficient mice were maintained on a BALB/c background. The appropriate WT littermates were used as controls.

2.2 Ang II induced hypertension

REP, WT and iCCR-KO mice were subjected to Ang II induced hypertension. 12-15 wk old mice were given Ang II (Sigma-Aldrich) at a dose of 490 ng/min/kg in Ang II buffer (150 mM NaCl, 1 % acetic acid in distilled water) for 7 or 14 days via subcutaneous osmotic minipump (ALZET). Control mice underwent sham surgery. Mice were anaesthetised with 3-5 % isoflurane and oxygen at a flow rate of 2 L/min. An area of skin on the back was shaved and wiped with povidone-iodine (Betadine). A small incision was made at the top of the back, below the neck, and forceps were used to make a pocket under the skin. The osmotic minipump was inserted into the pocket and the incision was closed with 2-3 sutures. Sham surgery involved creating the pocket but no minipump was implanted. All surgery was performed with aseptic technique and mice were given a subcutaneous injection of 100 µl of 1 mg/ml carprofen (Rimadyl) as analgesia before the incision was made. Before surgery, mice were housed with their littermates. After surgery, mice were housed individually to avoid fighting which could open the surgical wound. To demonstrate that the osmotic minipump had delivered the Ang II, BP of the mice was measured.

2.3 Blood pressure measurements

BP was measured non-invasively by tail cuff plethysmography or invasively using telemetry.

2.3.1 Tail cuff measurements

Systolic BP was measured with a BP 2000 Series II analysis system (Visitech Systems) at 37 °C. 5 preliminary measurements were performed before recording 10 measurements and the average of all valid measurements was taken. A measurement was excluded if the mouse was moving around during recording. If a mouse consistently moved during the measurements, the system was paused until the mouse was still again. Daily BP measurements were started 7 days before recording BP to train the mice for tail cuff BP measurements and measurements were taken at the same time each day.

2.3.2 Telemetry

Telemetry probe implantation was carried out by Dr Ryszard Nosalski or Wendy Beattie. Mice were anaesthetised with 3-5 % isoflurane and oxygen at a flow rate of 2 L/min. An area of skin on the neck was shaved and wiped with povidoneiodine (Betadine). Mice were given a subcutaneous injection of 100 μ l of 1 mg/ml carprofen (Rimadyl) before a small incision was made and the left common carotid artery was isolated. The artery was ligated and a catheter connected to a transducer was inserted into the artery, towards the aorta. 2 sutures were used to hold the catheter in place. The transducer was positioned under the skin on the left flank of the mouse. Mice recovered for 1 wk before baseline BP was measured. After 7 days of baseline BP measurements, mice were treated with Ang II as in section 2.2 and BP continued to be measured for 14 days. Telemetry measurements were taken every 10 minutes and the average for each day and night was calculated.

2.4 Replacement, reduction and refinement (3Rs)

When designing the *in vivo* experiments the 3Rs were taken into account. Replacing animal experiments was not possible as hypertension cannot be induced or measured using *in vitro* techniques. To reduce the number of mice used, the number of mice per group was decided based on previously published data (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). Refinement, improving animal welfare, was considered and mice were given analgesia before surgery to minimise suffering.

The Animal Research: Reporting *in vivo* experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines were also considered when designing experiments (Kilkenny et al., 2010). For example, mice were randomly assigned Ang II or sham treatments to remove subjective bias. This could not be done by blinding when analysing the results as it is obvious which mice had the osmotic minipump implant and which mice had the sham surgery. Further, the strain, sex and number of mice used for each experiment has been reported, along with details of the procedures used.

2.5 Lucigenin chemiluminescence assay

2 mm segments of thoracic aorta were isolated from sham and Ang II treated mice and superoxide production was assessed using a lucigenin assay. Baseline luminescence of 5 µM lucigenin (Sigma-Aldrich) in Krebs-HEPES buffer (99 mM NaCl, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 11.1 mM glucose, 20 mM HEPES, 4.7 mM KCl, 1.9 mM CaCl₂, 1 mM KH₂PO₄, 1.2 mM MgSO₄.7H₂O; pH 7.35) was monitored at 37 °C by a FB12 Luminometer (Titertek-Berthold) using FB12 Sirius software for 15 min. The aorta was added and luminescence was monitored for a further 15 min. The difference of average relative light units (RLU)/s before and after the addition of the aorta was calculated. The aorta was left to dry and weighed so that superoxide production could be expressed as RLU/s/mg of aorta.

2.6 Myography

Wire myography was carried out by Dr Dominik Skiba or Dr Ryszard Nosalski to determine endothelium-dependent and endothelium-independent relaxation of thoracic aorta and mesenteric artery segments from sham and Ang II treated mice. The PVAT was removed from the vessels before mounting them in myograph baths containing PSS and incubating for 30 min at 37 °C. Vessels were pre-constricted with 3 x 10⁻⁸ M U46619 and cumulative concentration response curves were conducted by incrementally increasing the concentration of acetylcholine (ACh) or sodium nitroprusside (SNP). The concentration of ACh or SNP started at 1 x 10⁻¹⁰ M and gradually increased to 3 x 10⁻⁵ M.

2.7 Flow cytometry

2.7.1 Tissue processing

Bone marrow, blood, thymus, spleen, kidney and PVAT were taken and processed using flow cytometry buffer (FB; 1 % FCS 2 mM EDTA in PBS) for flow cytometry with individual, optimised protocols.

2.7.1.1 Bone marrow

Legs were isolated and the fur and muscle were removed from the femur. The ends of the femur were cut off and bone marrow was isolated one of two ways.

- 1. A hole was pierced in the bottom of a 500 μ l Eppendorf tube and this was placed in a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. The femur was put in the 500 μ l tube, 200 μ l of PBS was added and this was centrifuged for 5 10 s. Cells pelleted in the 1.5 ml tube. 500 μ l of ACK lysis buffer (Gibco) was added to the cells for 1 min before adding 500 μ l of FB and centrifuging for 5 min at 400g and 4 °C. Cells were resuspended in 0.3 0.5 ml of FB.
- 2. The bone marrow was flushed out of the femur using a 5 ml syringe with a 23 G needle with 5 ml of RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich)-10 % FCS. The cell suspension was then passed through a 70 µm cell strainer and centrifuged for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were resuspended in 1 ml of ACK lysis buffer (Gibco) for 1 min. FB was added and the cells were centrifuged again for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded in 0.3 0.5 ml of FB.

2.7.1.2 Blood

2

Blood was collected via cardiac puncture or from the vena cava into 1 ml syringes containing 50 μ l of 0.2 M EDTA. 10 ml of RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) was added per 1 ml of blood and incubated for 5 min at room temperature (RT) on a shaker. Up to 10 ml of PBS was added and samples were centrifuged at 400 g and 4 °C for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 0.5 - 1 ml of FB or the lysis was repeated for 1 min if a lot of RBCs remained.

2.7.1.3 Thymus

The thymus was cut into small pieces in FB and passed through a 70 µm strainer into a 50 ml falcon tube. Up to 20 ml of FB was added and samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 0.5 ml of FB.

2.7.1.4 Spleen

Spleens were cut up into 3 pieces in FB and passed through a 70 μ m strainer into a 50 ml falcon tube. Up to 20 ml of FB was added and samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were

resuspended in 5 ml of RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend) for 5 min at RT. Up to 20 ml of FB was added and samples were passed through another 70 μ m strainer and centrifuged again for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 0.5 - 5 ml of FB.

2.7.1.5 Kidney

2

An enzyme mix of 73.4 mg Collagenase I (Sigma-Aldrich), 6.2 mg Collagenase XI (Sigma-Aldrich) and 5.3 mg Hyaluronidase (Sigma-Aldrich) in 20 ml of 20 mM Hepes-PBS containing calcium and magnesium was made on the day of use and kept on ice. Kidneys were cut into small pieces in a 12 well plate containing 1 ml of 20 mM Hepes-PBS containing calcium and magnesium and 1 ml of the enzyme mix was added. Final enzyme concentrations were 450 U/ml Collagenase I, 125 U/ml Collagenase XI and 60 U/ml Hyaluronidase. Samples were incubated at 37 °C for 10 min, agitated with a pipette, and incubated for another 10 min at 37 °C. 500 μ l of 10 % FCS-PBS was added to stop the enzyme reaction and samples were passed through a 70 µm strainer into a 50 ml falcon tube. Up to 20 ml of FB was added and samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 5 ml of RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend) for 5 min at RT. Up to 20 ml of FB was added and samples were passed through another 70 µm strainer and centrifuged again for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 0.3 - 5 ml of FB.

2.7.1.6 PVAT

PVAT was isolated from the thoracic and abdominal aorta and was weighed. The PVAT was placed in 1 ml of 20 mM Hepes-PBS containing calcium and magnesium and cut into small pieces. 1 ml of the enzyme mix from section 2.7.1.5 was added. Samples were incubated at 37 °C for 10 min, agitated with a pipette, and incubated for another 10 min at 37 °C. 500 μ l of 10 % FCS-PBS was added to stop the enzyme reaction and samples were passed through a 70 μ m strainer into a 50 ml falcon tube. Up to 20 ml of FB was added and samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 0.3 - 0.5 ml of FB.

2.7.2 Cell staining

Zombie violet fixable viability dye (Biolegend) was prepared by diluting 1/2000 in PBS or fixable viability dye eFluor 506 (eBioscience) was prepared by diluting 1/1000 in PBS. The appropriate antibody mix was prepared in FB with Fc block (Miltenyi Biotec), diluted 1/100. Antibodies used are detailed in Table 2-1. Cell suspensions, prepared as detailed above, were added to FACS tubes or a 96 well plate and washed in FB by centrifuging for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and 100 μ l of the appropriate viability dye was added to the cells and incubated at RT for 15 min. The cells were washed in FB, the supernatant was discarded and 100 μ l of the antibody mix was added for 20 min at 4 °C. Cells were washed again in FB and resuspended in 200 μ l of FB. Samples were either analysed that day or fixed for 10 min in 1 % paraformaldehyde (PFA) at 4 °C, washed in FB and stored at 4 °C for analysis the next day.

2.7.2.1 Chemokine binding assay

AF647-CCL2 (Almac) was used to measure CCR2 expression by flow cytometry instead of using an antibody (Ford et al., 2014). Cell suspensions were prepared as described above and washed in 5 % BSA-RPMI by centrifuging for 5 min at 400 g and 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 100 μ l of 25 nM AF647-CCL2 in 5 % BSA-RPMI for 60 min at 4 °C. Cells were then washed again in 5 % BSA-RPMI and stained with the appropriate viability dye and antibodies, following the protocol above.

2.7.2.2 Intracellular staining

Intracellular staining was used to analyse MR expression. Cell suspensions were prepared and stained as detailed above and fixed in 4 % PFA for 10 min at 4 °C. Cells were then washed, resuspended in Perm/Wash (BD Bioscience) for 15 min, and washed again. The anti-MR antibody (Novus Biologicals) was diluted 1/25 in Perm/Wash and 100 μ l was added to the cells for 30 min at 4 °C. Cells were washed again in Perm/Wash before adding 100 μ l of anti-mouse IgG1-APC Cy7 secondary antibody (Biolegend), diluted 1/100 in Perm/Wash, for 30 min at 4 °C. Finally, cells were washed in Perm/Wash and resuspended in 200 μ l of FB.

-	
Conjugate	

Antibody	Clone	Conjugate	Company	Catalogue number
CCR3	J073E5	PE Cy7	Biolegend	144514
CCR5	HM-CCR5(7A4)	PE	eBioscience	12-1951-82
CD3	17A2	FITC	Biolegend	100204
CD3	17A2	APC Cy7	Biolegend	100222
CD3e	145-2C11	PE	Biolegend	100308
CD4	GK1.5	APC-eF780	eBioscience	47-0041-82
CD4	RM4.5	PE Cy7	eBioscience	25-0042-82
CD8a	53-6.7	FITC	Miltenyi Biotec	130-102-490
CD8a	53-6.7	APC eF780	eBioscience	47-0081-82
CD11b	M1/70	AF700	Biolegend	101222
CD11b	M1/70	APC Cy7	Biolegend	101226
CD11b	M1/70	PE Cy7	Biolegend	101216
CD11b	M1/70	APC	eBioscience	17-0112-82
CD11c	N418	PerCP Cy5.5	Biolegend	117328
CD19	6D5	AF700	Biolegend	115528
CD19	6D5	PerCP Cy5.5	Biolegend	115534
CD44	IM7	PerCP Cy5.5	Biolegend	103032
CD45	30-F11	BV510	Biolegend	103138
CD45	30-F11	PerCP Cy5.5	Biolegend	103132
F4/80	BM8	PE Cy7	eBioscience	25-4801-82
F4/80	BM8	PE	Biolegend	123110
F4/80	BM8	BV605	Biolegend	123133
Ly6C	HK1.4	AF700	Biolegend	128024
Ly6C	HK1.4	APC	Biolegend	128016
MHC II	M5/114.15.2	BV605	Biolegend	107639

Table 2-1. Antibodies used for flow cytometry

The target, clone, conjugated fluorophore, supplier and catalogue number of the antibodies used for flow cytometry. All antibodies were used at a dilution of 1/100.

2.7.3 Flow cytometry analysis

All data were acquired using a LSR II (BD bioscience) or Fortessa (BD bioscience) flow cytometer and data were analysed using Flowjo software. All samples were analysed with the same initial gating strategy (Figure 2-1). Cells were identified based on SSC-A and FSC-A. Single cells were then selected based on FSC-H and FSC-A and live cells were identified using the viability stain.





2.7.4 Magnetic cell sorting

Cell suspensions from mouse kidneys were isolated as described in section 2.7.1.5. 10^7 cells were stained with an anti-F4/80-PE antibody (Biolegend), diluted 1/10 in FB, for 20 min at 4 °C. Cells were washed and stained with anti-PE Microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) diluted 1/5 in FB, for 20 min at 4 °C. Cells were washed again and resuspended in 500 µl of FB.

F4/80+ cells were sorted using LS columns and a QuadroMACS separator (Miltenyi Biotec). The separator was attached to the magnetic multistand and the columns were placed in the separator. 1 ml of FB was run through the columns before adding the stained samples. 500 μ l of FB was then run through the columns 3 times and collected in Eppendorf tubes. This was the negative fraction. The columns were then removed from the magnet and 1 ml of FB was run through and collected in new Eppendorf tubes. This was the positive fraction. Samples of

pre-sorted cells, the negative fraction and the positive fraction were analysed using a MACSQuant (Miltenyi Biotec) flow cytometer to determine how well the sort worked.

2.8 Histology

2.8.1 Tissue processing

Heart, kidney and thoracic aorta were taken from perfused mice and stored in 1 % PFA overnight at 4 °C. Tissues were then transferred to a solution of 30 % sucrose in distilled water and stored at 4 °C overnight or until the tissue had sunk to the bottom of the solution. After this the tissues were frozen in O.C.T (TissueTek) on dry ice and stored at -80 °C. 8-10 µm sections were cut with a cryostat and put onto SuperFrost slides (VWR). Sections were stored at -20 °C until used for staining.

2.8.2 Haematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) staining

Frozen tissue sections were fixed in ice cold acetone for 5 min and allowed to air dry. Sections were hydrated by incubating them for 1 min in 100 % ethanol, 1 min in 100 % ethanol again, 1 min in 70 % ethanol and washing in running water. Nuclei in the sections were stained with haematoxylin (Cell path) for 7 min before washing in running water. Sections were then dipped 12 times in 1 % acid alcohol, washed in running water and placed in Scotts tap water solution for 2 min. Sections were washed again in running water and stained with eosin (Cell path) for 4 min. Sections were washed for a final time in running water for 2 min and dehydrated by incubating for 1 min in 70 % ethanol, 1 min in 100 % ethanol and 1 min in 100 % ethanol again. Sections were cleared in 3 changes of xylene for 1 min and mounted with DPX (Leica Biosystems).

2.8.3 Picrosirius red staining

Frozen tissue sections were fixed in ice cold acetone for 5 min and allowed to air dry. Sections were hydrated by incubating them for 1 min in 100 % ethanol, 1 min in 100 % ethanol again, 1 min in 70 % ethanol and washing in running water. Sections were stained with 0.1 % picrosirius red solution (Direct Red 80 (Sigma Aldrich) in picric acid) for 60 min at RT and then washed in 2 changes of acidified water (0.5 % acetic acid). Sections were dehydrated by incubating for 1 min in 70 % ethanol, 1 min in 100 % ethanol and 1 min in 100 % ethanol again and then cleared in 3 changes of xylene for 1 min. DPX (Leica Biosystems) was used to mount the sections.

2.8.4 Mounting sections from REP mice

Frozen tissue sections were fixed in ice cold acetone for 5 min and allowed to air dry. Slides were mounted with ProLong gold antifade mountant with DAPI (Thermofisher) and sealed with clear nail polish.

2.8.5 Microscopy

2

H&E and picrosirius red stained sections were imaged using brightfield microscopy with an Axio Imager M2 microscope (Zeiss) and Zen software. Images were analysed with Fiji software. Fluorescent sections were imaged by fluorescent microscopy with an Axio Imager M2 microscope (Zeiss) or LSM 880 confocal microscope (Zeiss) and Zen software.

2.9 Molecular biology

2.9.1 RNA extraction

Tissues were harvested from euthanased mice and stored in RNAlater (Thermofisher) at 4 °C for up to 7 days before RNA was extracted. Tissues were homogenised in Qiazol (Qiagen) using a TissueLyser LT (Qiagen) set at 50 oscillations/s for up to 10 min. RNA was extracted with the miRNeasy kit (Qiagen), following the manufacturer's protocol. The optional DNase digest was performed using the RNase-free DNase set (Qiagen). Once extracted, RNA was stored at -80 °C.

2.9.2 cDNA synthesis

Concentration and quality of RNA was measured using a DeNovix DS-11+ spectrophotometer. 1 μ g of RNA was used to make cDNA using the High Capacity RNA-to-cDNA kit (Applied Biosystems) following the manufacturer's protocol and stored at -20 °C.

2.9.3 Taqman qPCR

Tagman probe/primer sets (Table 2-2) were used to determine relative mRNA expression in tissues. All reagents and samples were kept on ice while the plate was set up. A mastermix of RNase-free water (3 µl per sample), Tagman universal mastermix II, no UNG (Thermofisher; 5 μ l per sample) and Tagman probe/primer (0.5 µl per sample) was made and 8.5 µl of mastermix was added to the appropriate wells of a 384 well plate. 1.5 µl of cDNA (prepared as in section 2.9.2) was added to the appropriate wells. The plate was sealed, centrifuged for 1 min at 300 g and 4 °C and run on a Quant Studio 7 Flex qPCR machine (Applied Biosystems) with Quant Studio Real-Time PCR software. Samples were run in triplicate and target gene expression was calculated relative to Gapdh or Cox7a2l using the $2^{-\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Gapdh was used as a housekeeping gene to compare gene expression within the same tissue and Cox72al was used to compare gene expression between different tissues (Barber et al., 2005; Li et al., 2017). No template controls and - reverse transcriptase controls were run to check for primer contamination and sample genomic contamination, respectively.

Target gene	Target name	Catalogue number
Ccr1	CCR1	Mm00438260_s1
Ccr2	CCR2	Mm99999051_gH
Ccr3	CCR3	Mm00515543_s1
Ccr5	CCR5	Mm01963251_s1
Cox7a2l	Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 7a related protein	Mm00784451_s1
Gapdh	GAPDH	Mm999999915_g1
Nr3c2	Mineralocorticoid receptor	Mm01241596_m1
Scnn1g	Epithelial sodium channel (ENaC)	Mm00441228_m1
Sgk1	Serum/glucocorticoid-regulated kinase 1 (SGK1)	Mm00441380_m1
Slc9a3	Sodium-hydrogen exchanger 3 (NHE3)	Mm01352473_m1

Table 2-2. Taqman primer/probe sets used for qPCR

Targets and catalogue numbers of primers used for qPCR. All used the dye FAM-MGB and were purchased from Thermofisher.

2.10 Plasma chemokine and cytokine detection

2.10.1 Sample preparation

Blood was collected from euthanased mice via cardiac puncture into tubes containing 50 μ l of 0.2 M EDTA. Blood samples were centrifuged at 1000 g for 10 min to isolate plasma which was collected and stored at -80 °C.

2.10.2 Luminex assay

Plasma samples were diluted 1/2 and the concentration of chemokines and cytokines was measured using a mouse premixed multi-analyte kit (R&D Systems), following the manufacturers protocol. The samples were analysed using a Bio-Plex 200 system (Bio-Rad).

2.11 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out with GraphPad Prism software. A t test, Mann Whitney test, Two-Way ANOVA with a post hoc Tukey test or Two-way ANOVA with repeated measures test was performed as appropriate. A p value of < 0.05 was determined as statistically significant. Data are presented as the mean ± standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. Chapter 3

iCCR expression in Ang II induced hypertension

3 iCCR expression in Ang II induced hypertension

3.1 Introduction

There is a large amount of evidence for a role of the immune system in the pathogenesis of hypertension, particularly factors influencing end organ damage such as oxidative stress and vascular dysfunction (Herrera et al., 2006; Moore et al., 2015; Youn et al., 2013). Monocytes and macrophages accumulate in the kidneys and vasculature in hypertension and depleting macrophages in mice is protective against DOCA-salt induced hypertension (Moore et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2006; Thang et al., 2015). T cells also accumulate in the kidneys and vasculature and it has been suggested that T cells are required for Ang II induced hypertension in mice (Guzik et al., 2007; Itani et al., 2016; Krebs et al., 2014).

Chemokines and their receptors are important in orchestrating leukocyte migration and inflammatory responses. Therefore, they are likely to regulate leukocytes in the context of hypertension and influence end organ damage. CCL5^{-/-} mice are protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction and oxidative stress (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016) whilst CCL2^{-/-} mice may be protected from hypertensive renal injury (Kashyap et al., 2018). CCR2 or CCR5 deficiency does not influence BP in hypertensive models but CCR2^{-/-} mice are protected from Ang II induced vascular remodelling (Ishibashi et al., 2004; Krebs et al., 2012). Inflammatory chemokine receptors influence hypertension and end organ damage but the exact role of these receptors is still unclear.

iCCRs have been reported to be expressed by various leukocytes. For example, CCR1 is expressed by T cells and B cells (Armas-González et al., 2018; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016) whilst CCR2 is classically described as being expressed by monocytes and macrophages (Sierra-Filardi et al., 2014; Tacke et al., 2007). CCR3 is expressed by eosinophils and CCR5 has been reported to be expressed by T cells and NK cells (Fox et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2015). It is hypothesised that iCCRs regulate leukocyte migration in hypertension. Circulating monocytes have elevated CCR2 expression and T cells in the PVAT increase CCR1, CCR3 and CCR5 expression in hypertension (Ishibashi et al., 2004; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016) but little else is known about which cell types in various tissues express these receptors in the disease. The aim of this study was to characterise iCCR expression by different leukocytes in multiple tissues in mice with Ang II induced hypertension. WT or REP mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension and iCCR expression was determined by flow cytometry, fluorescent microscopy and qPCR. Furthermore, plasma chemokine and cytokine levels were characterised. This revealed some differences in iCCR and chemokine expression between healthy and hypertensive states which may represent targets to treat elevated BP and end organ damage in hypertension.

3.2 Response of REP mice to Ang II

3

REP mice and WT littermate controls were treated with Ang II for 14 days and their response to Ang II was determined by measuring BP (Figure 3-1a) and assessing cardiac hypertrophy (Figure 3-1b). The ratio of heart weight to tibia length indicates how the weight of the heart changed over the experiment and therefore this was used to determine cardiac hypertrophy. The BP of both WT and REP mice increased in response to Ang II (WT sham 114 \pm 1.2 vs WT Ang II 172 \pm 3.3 mmHg, p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA; REP sham 109 \pm 1.8 vs REP Ang II 159 \pm 9.3 mmHg, p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA). Compared to Ang II treated WT mice, Ang II treated REP mice had a slightly lower BP (WT Ang II 172 \pm 3.3 mmHg vs REP Ang II 159 \pm 9.3 mmHg, p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA). The ratio of heart weight to tibia length increased in the WT mice treated with Ang II (WT sham 9.3 \pm 0.8 vs WT Ang II 13.2 \pm 1.3 mg/mm, p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA). This effect was not seen in the REP mice (REP sham 11.7 \pm 2.5 vs REP Ang II 12.5 \pm 0.2 mg/mm, p = 0.88, Two-Way ANOVA).


Figure 3-1. Response of WT and REP mice to Ang II

WT and REP mice were treated with Ang II for 14 days. BP (a) and the ratio of heart weight to tibia length (b), as a measure of cardiac hypertrophy, were assessed. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

72

3.3 iCCR expression in REP mice following 7 days of Ang Il induced hypertension

To determine how iCCRs contribute to earlier stages of Ang II induced hypertension, REP mice were subject to 7 days of sham or Ang II treatment and iCCR expression by different subsets of leukocytes in the bone marrow, blood, spleen, kidney and PVAT was investigated using flow cytometry. The gating strategies used are detailed below. Fluorescent microscopy was used to determine CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 expression in the kidneys, heart, aorta and PVAT. CCR3 was not looked at as mTagBFP2 fluoresces at the same wavelength as Dapi.

3.3.1 Bone marrow

B cells were identified as CD19+ cells from live, single CD45+ cells. CD11b+SSChi and CD11b+SSCint cells were also identified from the CD45+ cells (Figure 3-2). CD3 was used as a T cell marker but only a very small proportion of cells in the bone marrow were CD3+. These are likely to be T cell precursors (Klein et al., 2003) so bone marrow CD3+ cells were not analysed. CCR1 was expressed by CD19+ B cells in the bone marrow of mice given sham or Ang II treatment for 7 days. These cells also expressed low amounts of CCR2 (Figure 3-3a). CD11b+SSChi cells expressed high amounts of CCR3 (Figure 3-3b). CD11b+SSCint cells most highly expressed CCR2 whilst CCR1 and CCR3 could also be detected on these cells (Figure 3-3c). No differences were seen between sham and Ang II treated mice.



Figure 3-2. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow cells from mice with Ang II induced hypertension

CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+, CD11b+SSCint and CD11b+SSChi cells were gated from the CD45+ cells.



74



The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD11b+SSChi cells (b) and CD11b+SSCint cells (c) in the bone marrow of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 7 days.

3.3.2 Blood

Blood CD19+ B cells, CD3+ T cells and CD11b+ cells were gated from live CD45+ cells (Figure 3-4). CD11b+ cells were grouped into CD11b+SSChi, CD11b+SSCint and CD11b+SSClo populations. CD19+ B cells in the blood showed high CCR1 expression after 7 days of sham or Ang II treatment (Figure 3-5a). A small proportion of CD3+ T cells expressed CCR2 and CCR5 was detected in only one sham sample (Figure 3-5b). Only CCR3 was expressed by CD11b+SSChi cells (Figure 3-5c) whilst a small proportion of CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR2 and CCR5 were expressed CCR1, CCR2 or CCR3 (Figure 3-5d). CCR2 and CCR5 were expressed by CD11b+SSClo cells and some of these cells co-expressed these receptors (Figure 3-5e). No differences in iCCR expression by leukocytes in the blood were observed following 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension.





CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+, CD3+, CD11b+SSClo, CD11b+SSCint and CD11b+SSChi cells were gated from the CD45+ cells.

3

76





The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b), CD11b+SSChi cells (c), CD11b+SSCint cells (d) and CD11b+SSClo cells (e) in the blood of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 7 days.

3.3.3 Spleen

In the spleen, live CD45+ cells were identified and from these, populations of CD19+ B cells, CD3+ T cells, F4/80+ macrophages and CD11b+ cells were determined (Figure 3-6). The CD11b+ cells were further gated into CD11b+SSChi, CD11b+SSCint and CD11b+SSClo cells. After 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension or sham treatment, CD19+ B cells expressed only CCR1 (Figure 3-7a) whilst CD3+ T cells showed low expression of CCR2 and CCR3 (Figure 3-7b). Both

CD11b+SSChi and CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR3 and a small amount of CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR1 or CCR2 (Figure 3-7c, d). CCR2 and CCR5 were expressed by CD11b+SSClo cells and these cells also showed co-expression of these receptors (Figure 3-7e, f). F4/80+ cells highly expressed CCR3 (Figure 3-7g). There were no differences in iCCR expression between sham and Ang II treatments for any of the cell types analysed.



Figure 3-6. Gating strategy for the analysis of spleen cells from mice with Ang II induced hypertension

CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+, CD3+, F4/80+ and CD11b+ cells were gated from the CD45+ population. The CD11b+ population was then gated into CD11b+SSClo, CD11b+SSCint and CD11b+SSChi cells.



Figure 3-7. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b), CD11b+SSChi cells (c), CD11b+SSCint cells (d), CD11b+SSClo cells (e) and F4/80+ cells (g) in the spleens of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 7 days. A representative flow cytometry plot of CD11b+SSClo cell co-expression of CCR2 and CCR5 is shown (f).

3.3.4 Kidney

Heterogeneous populations of F4/80+ cells and CD11b+ cells were identified which are likely to include macrophages, monocytes, DCs and neutrophils (Inoue et al., 2005; Misharin et al., 2013; Sahu et al., 2014). These cell types, along with CD19+ B cells and CD3+ T cells, were gated from live CD45+ cells (Figure 3-8). Following 7 days of sham or Ang II treatment, CD19+ cells expressed CCR1 and also showed low CCR5 expression (Figure 3-9a). CD3+ T cells expressed CCR2 and CCR5. A small proportion of these CD3+ cells also expressed CCR1 (Figure 3-9b). CD11b+ cells most highly expressed CCR2 and also expressed CCR5 (Figure 3-9c). Co-expression of CCR2 and CCR5 by CD11b+ cells was observed (Figure 3-10a) and revealed that all CCR5 expressing CD11b+ cells also expressed CCR2 and that the majority of these cells only expressed CCR2.

F4/80+ cells expressed CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5. Of these, CCR5 was the most highly expressed (Figure 3-9d). Co-expression of these receptors was also observed with the majority of these cells expressing both CCR1 and CCR5. About 11 % of F4/80+ cells expressed none of the iCCRs and none expressed CCR1 alone. Some expressed just CCR2 or just CCR5 and about 15 % were CCR2+CCR5+ (Figure 3-10b). No differences between sham and Ang II treated mice were observed.



Figure 3-8. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney leukocytes from mice with Ang II induced hypertension

CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+, CD3+, F4/80+ and CD11b+ cells were gated from the CD45+ cells.

81



Figure 3-9. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b), CD11b+ cells (c) and F4/80+ cells (d) in the kidneys of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 7 days.







Figure 3-10. iCCR co-expression by kidney leukocytes from REP mice subject to 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The co-expression of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 by CD11b+ cells (a) and F4/80+ cells (b) in the kidneys of REP mice after 7 days of Ang II or sham treatment.

Only CCR5 could be seen after 7 days of treatment in the kidney when frozen tissue sections were imaged (Figure 3-11). These could be T cells or macrophages as CD3+, CD11b+ and F4/80+ cells were shown to express CCR5 when determined by flow cytometry. There was also no apparent difference between sham and Ang II treatments.



Figure 3-11. Kidney iCCR expression in REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension

CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and Dapi were detected in the kidneys of Rep mice by fluorescent microscopy. Representative images after 7 days of sham (a) or Ang II treatment (b) are shown. Scale bar = $50 \mu m$. Yellow arrows point to some CCR5+ cells.

3.3.5 Aorta and PVAT

In the PVAT, CD19+ B cells, CD3+ T cells, CD11b+ cells, CD11b+F4/80+ cells and F4/80+ cells were gated from live, CD45+ cells (Figure 3-12). CD11b+, CD11b+F4/80+ and F4/80+ cells represent heterogeneous populations including macrophages and monocytes (Misharin et al., 2013; Xiong et al., 2018). Following 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension or sham treatment, PVAT CD19+ B cells expressed CCR1 and low amounts of CCR2 or CCR5 (Figure 3-13a). CD3+ cells expressed very low and variable amounts of all iCCRs (Figure 3-13b).

CD11b+ cells most highly expressed CCR2 and also expressed CCR1 and CCR5 (Figure 3-13c). When co-expression of these receptors was investigated, the majority of CD11b+ cells were found to not express any of the iCCRs and around 20 % only expressed CCR2. A small proportion of CD11b+ cells were CCR2+CCR5+ or CCR1+CCR2+CCR5+ (Figure 3-14a). CD11b+F4/80+ cells also expressed these three receptors (Figure 3-13d). Most of these cells did not express any of the iCCRs whilst some were shown to be CCR2+, CCR5+, CCR1+CCR2+ or CCR1+CCR5+ (Figure 3-14b). F4/80+ cells expressed variable amounts of all the iCCRs (Figure 3-13e). There were no differences in PVAT leukocyte iCCR expression between sham and Ang II treated mice.



Figure 3-12. Gating strategy for the analysis of PVAT leukocytes from mice with Ang II induced hypertension

CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+, CD3+ and CD11b+ cells were gated from the CD45+ cells.



Figure 3-13. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of Rep mice after 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of, CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b), CD11b+ cells (c), CD11b+F4/80+ cells (d) and F4/80+ cells (e) in the PVAT of Rep mice after 7 days of sham or Ang II treatment.









The co-expression of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 by CD11b+ cells (a) and CD11b+F4/80+ cells (b) in the PVAT of REP mice after 7 days of Ang II or sham treatment.

Clear expression of CCR5 was observed in the adventitia and PVAT of aortas from sham and Ang II treated mice. These could be CD11b+ or F4/80+ cells. CCR1 was not expressed and very low amounts of CCR2 were observed in some samples (Figure 3-15). iCCRs were not detected in the medial or endothelial layer of the aorta and CCR5 expression did not appear to be effected by Ang II treatment.



Figure 3-15. Aortic iCCR expression in REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and Dapi were detected in the aortas of Rep mice by fluorescent microscopy. Representative images after 7 days of sham (a) or Ang II treatment (b) are shown. Scale bar = 50 μ m. Yellow arrows point to some CCR5+ cells.

3

Heart tissue was not analysed by flow cytometry as an effective cell isolation protocol had not been established but the tissue was analysed by microscopy. Low expression of CCR5 could be detected in the hearts after 7 days of sham or Ang II treatment, but it was not seen in all samples. CCR1 and CCR2 were not detected (Figure 3-16). CCR5 expression did not appear to be effected by Ang II induced hypertension. These CCR5+ cells could be macrophages or T cells as these cell types in other peripheral tissues, such as the kidney, expressed CCR5.



Figure 3-16. Heart iCCR expression in REP mice after 7 days of Ang II induced hypertension CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and Dapi were detected in the hearts of Rep mice by fluorescent microscopy. Representative images after 7 days of sham (a) or Ang II treatment (b) are shown. Scale bar = 50 μ m. Yellow arrows point to some CCR5+ cells.

3.4 iCCR expression in REP mice following 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

90

REP mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension for 14 days and the expression of iCCRs by different subsets of leukocytes in the bone marrow, blood, spleen and kidneys was determined by flow cytometry. PVAT was not analysed as not all the lymph nodes in the PVAT were able to be removed during isolation. Gating strategies used were as detailed in section 3.3. CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 expression in the kidneys, heart, aorta and PVAT was also investigated using fluorescent microscopy.

3.4.1 Bone marrow

3

After 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension about 15 - 20 % of CD19+ B cells expressed CCR1 (Figure 3-17a). This was slightly higher than the expression observed at the 7 day time point and CCR1 expression did not increase in the Ang II treated mice. CD11b+SSChi cells only expressed CCR3 (Figure 3-17b). CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR1 and CCR3, had the highest expression of CCR2 and did not express CCR5 (Figure 3-17c). These cell types showed a similar expression pattern to that seen after 7 days of sham or Ang II treatment and there were no differences in iCCR expression between sham and Ang II treated mice.





The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD11b+SSChi cells (b) and CD11b+SSCint cells (c) in the bone marrow of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 14 days. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD19+ cell CCR1, CD11b+SSChi cell CCR3 and CD11b+SSCint cell CCR2 expression are shown. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

3.4.2 Blood

In sham and Ang II treated mice, blood CD19+ B cells expressed CCR1 whilst about 2 - 6 % of CD3+ T cells expressed CCR2 (Figure 3-18c, d). CD11b+SSChi cells expressed variable amounts of CCR3. This expression tended to be higher than that observed at the 7 day time point (Figure 3-18c). A small amount of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR3 could be detected on CD11b+SSCint cells (Figure 3-18d). CD11b+SSClo cells were shown to express CCR2 and CCR5, with some cells coexpressing both receptors (Figure 3-18e, f). Furthermore, about 40 % of CD11b+SSClo cells expressed CCR5 after 14 days of treatment but only about 20 % were shown to be CCR5+ after 7 days. The expression of iCCRs by these cell subsets was not effected by Ang II treatment.



Figure 3-18. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the blood of REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b) CD11b+SSChi cells (c), CD11b+SSCint cells (d) and CD11b+SSClo cells (e) in the blood of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 14 days. A representative flow cytometry plot of CD11b+SSClo cell CCR2 and CCR5 co-expression is shown (f). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

3.4.3 Spleen

After 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension, spleen leukocytes showed a similar iCCR expression pattern to that observed after 7 days. About 40 - 50 % of CD19+ B cells expressed CCR1, although this was slightly higher than the expression detected after 7 days (Figure 3-19a). A small proportion of T cells expressed CCR2, CCR3 or CCR5 (Figure 3-19b). CCR3 was expressed by CD11b+SSChi cells and CD11b+SSCint cells, which may also have expressed small amounts of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 (Figure 3-19c, d). CD11b+SSClo cells expressed CCR2 and CCR5. Co-expression of these receptors was observed and showed that most of the CCR5+ CD11b+SSClo cells also expressed CCR2 (Figure 3-19e, f). F4/80+ cells in the spleen most highly expressed CCR3 (Figure 3-19g, h). There were no differences in iCCR expression by any of these cell types between sham and Ang II treated mice.



Figure 3-19. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b) CD11b+SSChi cells (c), CD11b+SSCint cells (d) CD11b+SSClo cells (e) and F4/80+ cells (g) in the spleen of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 14 days. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD11b+SSClo cell CCR2 and CCR5 co-expression (f) and F4/80+ cell CCR3 expression (h) are shown. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

3.4.4 Kidney

Up to 40 % of kidney CD19+ B cells expressed CCR1 after 14 days of both Ang II or sham treatment (Figure 3-20a). This is higher than the amount expressing CCR1 after 7 days. CD3+ T cells expressed CCR2 and CCR5 (Figure 3-20b). CCR2 and CCR5 were also expressed by CD11b+ cells and F4/80+ cells whilst F4/80+ cells also expressed CCR1 (Figure 3-20c, d). Similar to the 7 day timepoint, most CD11b+ cells were CCR2+ or did not express any of the iCCRs and about 10 % were CCR2+CCR5+ (Figure 3-20e). Most F4/80+ cells expressed both CCR1 and CCR5 whilst 20 - 30 % only expressed CCR5 and about 20 % expressed both CCR2 and CCR5 (Figure 3-20f). None of the cell types analysed showed a difference in iCCR expression between sham and Ang II treated mice.



Figure 3-20. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b) CD11b+ cells (c) and F4/80+ cells (d) and co-expression of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 by CD11b+ cells (e) and F4/80+ cells (f) in the kidneys of REP mice after sham or Ang II treatment for 14 days. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

Both CCR5 and CCR2 could be seen in the kidney when frozen tissue sections were imaged after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. (Figure 3-21). These may represent CD3+ T cells, CD11b+ cells or F480+ cells. CCR5 appeared to be more highly expressed than CCR2 and there was no apparent difference between sham and Ang II treatments.



Figure 3-21. Kidney iCCR expression in REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and Dapi were detected in the kidneys of REP mice by fluorescent microscopy. Representative images after 14 days of sham (a) or Ang II treatment (b) are shown.

Scale bar = 50 μ m. Red arrows point to some CCR2+ cells. Yellow arrows point to some CCR5+ cells.

3.4.5 Aorta and PVAT

After 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension, CCR2 and CCR5, but not CCR1, were detected in the aortic adventitia and PVAT of REP mice (Figure 3-22). These could be expressed by CD11b+ cells, which were shown to express CCR2 and CCR5 at the 7 day time point. These iCCRs were not seen in the medial or endothelial layers of the aorta and no clear difference in iCCR expression between sham and Ang II treated mice was observed.



Figure 3-22. Aortic iCCR expression in REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and Dapi were detected in the aortas of REP mice by fluorescent microscopy. Representative images after 14 days of sham (a) or Ang II treatment (b) are shown. Scale bar = 50

µm. Red arrows point to some CCR2+ cells. Yellow arrows point to some CCR5+ cells.

3.4.6 Heart

3

In the hearts of sham and Ang II treated REP mice, CCR5 could clearly be detected. CCR2 was also observed in low amounts and CCR1 was not detected at all (Figure 3-23). This may indicate the presence of CD3+ cells, CD11b+ cells or F4/80+ cells in the heart. CCR2 and CCR5 expression did not appear to be affected by Ang II induced hypertension.



Figure 3-23. Heart iCCR expression in REP mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension

CCR1, CCR2, CCR5 and Dapi were detected in the hearts of REP mice by fluorescent microscopy. Representative images after 14 days of sham (a) or Ang II treatment (b) are shown. Scale bar = 50 μ m. Red arrows point to some CCR2+ cells. Yellow arrows point to some CCR5+ cells.

3.5 Use of antibodies and chemokines to determine iCCR expression by flow cytometry

To determine how flow cytometry with antibody staining compares to using REP mice, WT mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension for 14 days and the expression of CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 was investigated using flow cytometry. Antibodies for CCR3 and CCR5 and fluorescently labelled CCL2 to detect CCR2 (Ford et al., 2014) were used. A specific antibody for CCR1 was unavailable. The bone marrow, blood, spleen, kidney and PVAT were analysed. The gating strategies used were as described in section 3.3.

3.5.1 Bone marrow

Following 14 days of Ang II or sham treatment, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 were not detected on CD19+ B cells in the bone marrow (Figure 3-24a). CD11b+SSChi cells expressed CCR3 (Figure 3-24b, d) and 10 - 15% of CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR2 (Figure 3-24c, e). Ang II treatment did not affect iCCR expression by these cell types.

3

100



Figure 3-24. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the bone marrow of WT mice after Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of, CCR2 (using CCL2 conjugated to AF647), CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD11b+SSChi cells (b) and CD11b+SSCint cells (c) in the bone marrow of WT mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD11b+SSChi cell CCR3 expression (d) and CD11b+SSClo cell CCR2 expression (e) are shown. Data are combined from three independent experiments.

3.5.2 Blood

Neither CCR2, CCR3 nor CCR5 were detected on CD19+ B cells in the blood of WT mice after sham or Ang II treatment and very little, if any, were observed on CD3+ T cells (Figure 3-25a, b). CD11b+SSChi cells highly expressed CCR3 (Figure 3-25c, d). A small proportion of CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR2 (Figure 3-25e) but CCR2 was most highly expressed by CD11b+SSClo cells. CCR2 expression by these cells also increased in response to Ang II (Figure 3-25f; Sham CCL2 35.1 \pm 5.0 vs Ang II CCL2 43.3 \pm 8.4 % CD11b+SSClo cells, p < 0.05, t test).

3



Figure 3-25. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the blood of WT mice after Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of, CCR2 (using CCL2 conjugated to AF647), CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b) CD11b+SSChi cells (c), CD11b+SSCint cells (e) and CD11b+SSClo cells (f) in the blood of WT mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. A representative flow cytometry plot of CD11b+SSChi cell CCR3 expression is shown (d). * p < 0.05, t test. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

3.5.3 Spleen

CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 were not detected on spleen CD19+ B cells. Very low CCR2 and CCR3 expression was shown by CD3+ T cells in both sham and Ang II treated mice (Figure 3-26a, b). CD11b+SSChi cells only expressed CCR3 and CD11b+SSCint cells expressed CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 (Figure 3-26c, d). Only CCR2 was expressed by CD11b+SSClo cells and CCR3 was shown on F4/80+ cells (Figure



3-26e, f). There were no differences between the mice given sham or Ang II treatments.

Figure 3-26. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the spleens of WT mice after Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of, CCR2 (using CCL2 conjugated to AF647), CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b) CD11b+SSChi cells (c), CD11b+SSCint cells (d), CD11b+SSClo cells (e) and F4/80+ cells (f) in the spleens of WT mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

3.5.4 Kidney

CCR2 and CCR5 expression by leukocytes in the kidneys was determined but CCR3 could not be measured as the antibody showed nonspecific binding when used to stain kidney cells. CD19+ B cells in sham and Ang II treated mice did not express CCR2 but may have expressed CCR5 (Figure 3-27a). Some CD3+ T cells expressed low levels of CCR2 and variable levels of CCR5 (Figure 3-27b). Both

103

CCR2 and CCR5 expression were detected on CD11b+ cells (Figure 3-27c) and CCR5 expression was lower in Ang II treated mice (Sham CCR5 12.4 \pm 2.5 vs Ang II CCR5 7.4 \pm 2.4 % CD11b+ cells, p < 0.05, t test). F4/80+ cells showed high levels of CCR5 expression and some CCR2 expression but there were no differences between sham and Ang II treatment (Figure 3-27d).



Figure 3-27. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidneys of WT mice after Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of, CCR2 (using CCL2 conjugated to AF647) and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b), CD11b+ cells (c) and F4/80+ cells (d) in the kidneys of WT mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. * p < 0.05, t test. Data are combined from three independent experiments, except CD11b+ cells.

3.5.5 PVAT

CD19+ B cells and CD3+ T cells did not express CCR2 or CCR3 but may have expressed a small amount of CCR5 (Figure 3-28a, b). CD11b+ cells expressed both CCR2 and CCR5 (Figure 3-28c) and CCR5 expression was higher in the Ang II treated mice (Sham CCR5 24.7 \pm 7.9 vs Ang II CCR5 39.6 \pm 5.2 % CD11b+ cells, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test). This was reflected in the representative flow cytometry plots that show more CCR5 staining of CD11b+ cells from Ang II treated mice (Figure 3-28e). There was also a higher number of CD11b+ cells in the mice treated with Ang II (Figure 3-28d; Sham 460 \pm 200 vs Ang II 1560 \pm 800 total cells/mg, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test) The total number of cells was calculated per mg of tissue as the amount of PVAT isolated from each aorta was highly variable. F4/80+ cells were not detected in these samples.



Figure 3-28. iCCR expression by leukocytes in the PVAT of WT mice after Ang II induced hypertension

The expression of, CCR2 (using CCL2 conjugated to AF647), CCR3 and CCR5 by CD19+ cells (a), CD3+ cells (b) and CD11b+cells (c) and total CD11b+ cells (d) in the PVAT of WT mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. Representative plots of CD11b+ cell CCR5 expression (e) are shown. * p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test.

3.6 iCCR mRNA expression

The expression of iCCRs in the kidneys, heart and aorta of WT mice subject to 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension was next determined by qPCR. In the kidney, CCR1 and CCR3 mRNA was not detected whilst there was expression of CCR2 and

CCR5 in both sham and Ang II treated mice (Figure 3-29a). There was no difference in CCR2 and CCR5 expression between the two groups. CCR3 mRNA was not detected in the hearts of WT mice whilst variable amounts of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 were detected in both sham and Ang II treated mice (Figure 3-29b). There was no difference in iCCR expression between the two groups.

CCR3 was not detected in the aorta, including the PVAT, of sham and Ang II treated mice. Low levels of CCR1 were detected after Ang II treatment (Figure 3-29c). Both CCR2 and CCR5 were detected and expression of these receptors increased with Ang II treatment (Sham CCR1 0.0005 \pm 0.0001 vs Ang II CCR1 0.001 \pm 0.0005, p < 0.05, t test; Sham CCR2 0.002 \pm 0.0008 vs Ang II CCR2 0.004 \pm 0.003, p < 0.01, t test; Sham CCR5 0.002 \pm 0.0006 vs Ang II CCR5 0.005 \pm 0.003, p < 0.05, t test; Sham CCR5 0.002 \pm 0.0006 vs Ang II CCR5 0.005 \pm 0.003, p < 0.05, t test; Sham CCR5 0.002 \pm 0.0006 vs Ang II CCR5 0.005 \pm 0.003, p < 0.05, t test; Sham CCR5 0.002 \pm 0.0006 vs Ang II CCR5 0.005 \pm 0.003, p < 0.05, t test; Sham CCR5 0.002 \pm 0.0006 vs Ang II CCR5 0.005 \pm 0.003, p < 0.05, t test; Sham CCR5 0.002 \pm 0.0006 vs Ang II CCR5 0.005 \pm 0.003, p < 0.05, t test).



Figure 3-29. Kidney, heart and aortic iCCR mRNA expression of WT sham and Ang II treated mice

WT mice were treated with Ang II for 14 days and the expression of CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5 in the kidneys (a), heart (b) and aorta (c) was determined by qPCR. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, t test. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

3.7 Plasma chemokines and cytokines

Identifying which chemokines are upregulated in hypertension indicates which receptors are important. Therefore, the concentration of chemokines and cytokines in the plasma of WT mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment was measured and are detailed in Table 3-1. Of the CC chemokines measured, CCL3, CCL7, CCL8, CCL11, CCL12, CCL19, CCL21 and CCL22 could be detected whilst CCL2, CCL4 and CCL20 were not detected. CCL5 could be measured in some samples but not all and CCL21 was lower in the hypertensive mice compared to the control mice. CXCL12 and CXCL13 were measured in the plasma but CXCL10 was not detected. CXCL13 concentration was lower in the plasma of Ang II treated mice than the sham treated mice. Of the cytokines measured, IL-16, IL-10 and VEGF were detected but no differences between sham and Ang II treated mice were observed. TNF α , IFN γ , IL-3, IL-6, IL-7, IL-17, IL-27 and GM-CSF could not be detected in the plasma.

Chemokine	Sham	Ang II
CCL3	1.0 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2
CCL7	49.2 ± 28.6	27.3 ± 3.1
CCL8	4910 ±1691	7923 ± 1978
CCL11	969 ± 255	1086 ± 15.6
CCL12	80.7 ± 10.4	84.1 ± 4.3
CCL19	22.7 ± 19.2	12.5 ± 4.3
CCL21	1490 ± 104	1107 ± 219 *
CCL22	33.8 ± 16.0	38.2 ± 5.3
CXCL12	736 ± 274	568 ± 81.7
CXCL13	1049 ± 44.8	848 ± 131 *
IL-1B	112 ± 6.7	110 ± 13.9
IL-10	5.4 ± 2.4	4.5 ± 1.2
VEGF	5.7 ± 1.3	4.5 ± 0.7

Table 3-1. Plasma chemokine and cytokine concentration in Ang II induced hypertension WT mice were subject to 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension and the concentration of chemokines and cytokines (pg/ml) in the plasma was measured by a Luminex assay. * p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test.

3.8 Discussion

Leukocyte iCCR expression in sham and Ang II treated mice has been investigated using flow cytometry, fluorescent microscopy and qPCR. The data here show that expression of some iCCRs can be affected by Ang II and this depends on the tissue.

3.8.1 Using antibodies and fluorescent reporter mice for flow cytometry

107

Flow cytometry is a well-established technique used to identify leukocyte populations. However, using antibodies can lead to inaccurate results if the antibody binds to nonspecific, off-target proteins or does not effectively bind the target. The data here show various discrepancies in iCCR expression as determined using antibodies and using the REP mice (Table 3-2). For example, using fluorescently labelled CCL2, up to 40 % of kidney CD11b+ cells were found to express CCR2 whereas at least 60 % of kidney CD11b+ cells in the REP mice expressed CCR2. This was also seen for CD11b+SSClo cells in the spleen with up to 30 % of cells expressing CCR2 when detected with CCL2 compared to up to 80 % of cells expressing CCR2 in the spleens of REP mice. In the blood of REP mice, some CD11b+SSClo cells expressed CCR5 whereas the CCR5 antibody did not detect any CCR5 expression by these cells. However, this antibody did detect CCR5 on F4/80+ cells in the kidney at similar levels to that observed in the REP mice. The CCR3 antibody produced similar results to the REP mice when spleen, blood and bone marrow leukocytes were analysed but this antibody showed a lot of nonspecific staining when used to analyse kidney leukocytes. This suggests that how an antibody binds to its target depends on the tissue. This could be a result of the cell isolation protocol.

The REP mice did not respond to Ang II in the exact same way as WT mice. BP increased in the REP mice after Ang II treatment but was not as high as the WT mice. This is probably due to the variability of measurements taken using the tail cuff method and it is likely that if measured by telemetry, REP and WT mice would not have a difference in BP. Also, cardiac hypertrophy was shown in the Ang II treated WT mice but not the REP mice. This was probably due to variability of the sham treated REP mice. Carrying out a power calculation would have informed on the appropriate number of REP mice to use to show the effect of Ang II on cardiac hypertrophy and this should be considered for future experiments. Fluorescent protein expression by the REP mice reflects iCCR expression whilst antibodies are less accurate and less reliable than fluorescent reporter proteins. Therefore, the rest of this discussion will focus on data obtained from the REP mice. However differences in response to Ang II between
the WT and REP mice needs to be considered when interpreting the data from the REP mice.

Tissue	Cell type	iCCRs detected by antibodies	iCCRs detected with REP mice
Bone		antiboules	Inice
marrow			
	B cells	None	CCR1 CCR2 CCR5
	CD11b+SSChi	CCR3	CCR3
	CD11b+SSCint	CCR2 CCR3	CCR1 CCR2 CCR3
Blood			
	B cells	None	CCR1
	T cells	CCR2 CCR3 CCR5	CCR2 CCR5
	CD11b+SSChi		CCR3
	CD11b+SSCint CD11b+SSClo	CCR2 CCR3	CCR1 CCR2 CCR3 CCR2 CCR5
Spleen	CD110+33C10	CCRZ	
Spieen	B cells	None	CCR1 CCR5
	T cells	CCR2 CCR3	CCR2 CCR3 CCR5
	CD11b+SSChi	CCR3	CCR3
	CD11b+SSCint	CCR2 CCR3	CCR1 CCR2 CCR3 CCR5
	CD11b+SSClo	CCR2	CCR2 CCR5
	F4/80+	CCR3	CCR3
Kidney	.		
	B cells	None	CCR1 CCR5
	T cells CD11b+	CCR2 CCR5 CCR2 CCR5	CCR2 CCR5 CCR2 CCR5
	F4/80+	CCR2 CCR5	CCR2 CCR5 CCR1 CCR2 CCR5
ΡΥΑΤ			
	B cells	CCR5	CCR1 CCR2 CCR5
	T cells	CCR5	CCR1 CCR2 CCR3 CCR5
	CD11b+	CCR2 CCR5	CCR1 CCR2 CCR5

 Table 3-2. Antibody and reporter iCCR detection on leukocytes

iCCR expression by leukocytes in the bone marrow, blood, spleen, kidney and PVAT was detected by flow cytometry using antibodies and fluorescent chemokines or REP mice. An antibody for CCR1 was not used as a specific CCR1 antibody was unavailable.

3.8.2 Leukocyte iCCR expression

B cells were shown to consistently express CCR1 in all tissues looked at here, although expression was variable between tissues. The highest expression of CCR1 by B cells was in the spleen and blood whilst the lowest was in the bone marrow. It is possible that CCR1 expression is upregulated once B cells have egressed from the bone marrow, and is involved in migration of B cells to, and localisation within, tissues. In some tissues, low levels of CCR2 or CCR5 were also detected. Few studies on B cell iCCR expression have been reported but expression of CCR1 and CCR2 by human peripheral blood B cells and CCR1, CCR2

and CCR5 by human tonsil B cells has been demonstrated by PCR or flow cytometry (Corcione et al., 2002; Kholodnyuk et al., 2017).

T cells in the kidney, spleen and blood express low levels of CCR2 and CCR5. Only up to 10 % of T cells express these receptors and expression varied between tissues. Most studies investigating iCCR expression by T cells have been carried out using human peripheral blood T cells. The data shown here are consistent with reports of CCR2 expression by 5 - 10 % of human T cells (Moon et al., 2011). However, CCR5 expression has been reported to be higher in these cells (Fukada et al., 2002; Szczepańska et al., 2015). Few studies on splenic T cell iCCR expression in mice have been reported. Kidney T cells have been shown to express CCR1 in a mouse model of renal injury, determined by RT-PCR (Anders et al., 2004). Different subsets of T cells were not analysed in this study but it is likely that Tc, Th₁, Th₂, Th₁₇ and Treg cells have different iCCR expression patterns. For example, human Tregs have been shown to express CCR3 and CCR5 (Ahern et al., 2009). T cell subset iCCR expression in hypertension could be further investigated.

F4/80+ cells are a heterogenous population consisting of macrophages, eosinophils and some DC subsets (Misharin et al., 2013; Sheng et al., 2017). This study has shown that kidney F4/80+ cells express CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 which has also recently been shown in a mouse model of renal injury (Kaneko et al., 2018). CCR2 was shown to be most highly expressed by F4/80+ cells in the renal injury model, whereas the data here suggest that CCR5 is expressed the most. This difference is possibly a result of using antibodies instead of reporter proteins or the effect of renal injury. In addition, mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) was used instead of expression as a percentage of cells so the actual proportion of F4/80+ cells expressing these receptors is not indicated. F4/80+ cells in the kidney and CD11b+F4/80+ cells in PVAT co-express CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5. This suggests that in peripheral tissues, as macrophages differentiate from CCR2+ monocytes, they upregulate CCR1 and CCR5. In the kidney 40 - 50 % of F4/80+ cells are CCR1+CCR5+. CCR1 and CCR5 may be important for localisation and activation within peripheral tissues whilst CCR2 is more important for recruitment to the tissue. However, 20 % of kidney F4/80+ cells are CCR2+CCR5+ so CCR2 may also be involved in localisation within tissues. It is unclear if iCCR

combinatorial expression is a result of redundancy or if each receptor has a unique function. It is also possible that iCCR combinatorial expression marks different macrophage lineages and functions. In the spleen, F4/80+ cells express high levels of CCR3. These cells are likely to be red pulp macrophages, cells that phagocytose red blood cells (Franken et al., 2015; Kurotaki et al., 2015).

CD11b+SSChi cells are likely to be eosinophils (Geslewitz et al., 2018; Suzukawa et al., 2008). These cells have consistently been shown here to express only CCR3 in the spleen, blood and bone marrow. Expression of CCR3 by eosinophils has been widely reported (Kong et al., 2016; Phillips et al., 2003; Ueki et al., 2013). In certain contexts, CCR3 expression by eosinophils can be altered. For example retinoic acid and IL-5 induce increased CCR3 expression (Stirling et al., 2001; Ueki et al., 2013). However, Ang II induced hypertension had no effect on eosinophil CCR3 expression which therefore is unlikely to be involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. Few studies have associated eosinophils with hypertension but eosinophils have been shown to mediate the anti-contractile properties of PVAT (Withers et al., 2017) so CCR3 and eosinophils may be important in basal BP regulation.

CD11b+SSCint cells in the spleen and blood represent a heterogeneous population of cells. Neutrophils are likely to form a high proportion of this population and monocytes, NK cells and DCs may also be included (Lakschevitz et al., 2016; Rose et al., 2012). Variable and low expression of CCR1 and CCR2 by CD11b+SSCint cells is shown in this study, likely due to the heterogeneity of cell types in the population. In the spleen, these cells also expressed CCR3 which may be due to eosinophils being included in the population. Similar to the data here, mouse blood neutrophils have been shown to express low levels of CCR1 and CCR2 (Mercer et al., 2014). CCR1 and CCR2 expression is higher in lung neutrophils than blood neutrophils so expression of these receptors may be upregulated when neutrophils infiltrate tissues (Mercer et al., 2014).

CD11b+SSClo cells in the spleen and blood constitute a population of monocytes. NK cells and DCs may also be included (Lakschevitz et al., 2016; Rose et al., 2012). These cells have high CCR2 expression and some CCR5 expression. Both of these receptors have been shown to be expressed by mouse blood monocytes (Tacke et al., 2007). Some of these cells also co-express the two iCCRs with the majority of CCR5+ CD11b+SSClo cells also expressing CCR2. Whether CCR5 has a unique function on these cells or acts redundantly with CCR2 is unclear. It has been suggested that Ly6Clo monocytes use CCR5 to migrate to plaques in a model of atherosclerosis (Tacke et al., 2007). It is possible that these cells use CCR5 to migrate in a tissue specific manner. Monocytes were not separated into Ly6Chi and Ly6Clo populations in this study which should be carried out to further characterise monocyte iCCR expression as this could highlight differences of CCR2 and CCR5 expression between monocyte subsets. Similar to CD11b+SSClo cells, the CD11b+ cells identified in the kidneys and PVAT in this study also showed CCR2 and CCR5 expression. These cells were either CCR2+, CCR2+CCR5+ or did not express any of the iCCRs. These may represent different cell types that are CD11b+ and could be further identified with more specific cell markers.

3.8.3 Altered iCCR and chemokine expression in Ang II induced hypertension

RNA was extracted from combined aorta and PVAT tissue and CCR2 and CCR5 mRNA expression significantly increased following 14 days of Ang II treatment. This has previously been observed in DOCA-salt induced hypertension (Chan et al., 2012). An increase in CCR2+ and CCR5+ leukocytes in the aorta and PVAT may influence the mRNA expression of these receptors detected in the whole tissue. In this study, Ang II did not affect PVAT leukocyte infiltration but previously PVAT infiltration by T cells, including CCR5+ T cells, and macrophages has been reported in hypertensive mice (Guzik et al., 2007; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). CCR5 has been implicated in monocyte migration to atherosclerotic plaques and monocyte CCR5 expression increased in a mouse model of atherosclerosis (Tacke et al., 2007). CCR5+ monocytes may accumulate in the aorta in hypertension and could be involved in the increased risk of atherosclerosis observed in the disease. It is also possible that EC and VSMC CCR2 and CCR5 expression is upregulated after Ang II treatment, although this was not seen in microscopy images.

After 7 and 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension, no differences in iCCR expression by the leukocytes analysed in the kidney were observed. CCR2 and CCR5 mRNA expression in the whole kidney also did not change in response to Ang II treatment. Contrasting to this, the DOCA-Ang II model increased CCR5

mRNA expression in the renal cortex (Krebs et al., 2012), possibly an effect only seen in longer hypertension models.

Microscopy images showed CCR5 and low CCR2 expression in the heart and kidney as well as clear CCR2 and CCR5 expression in the PVAT. There were no obvious differences between sham and Ang II treated mice. Any differences in iCCR expression in these tissues could be subtle and vary between cell types so are unlikely to be revealed in 2D microscopy images. In addition, the kidney and heart are highly autofluorescent and it is possible some positive cells will not be seen.

Human circulating monocytes have been shown to have increased CCR5 expression in hypertensive patients compared to normotensive controls as well as expression of CCR1 (Syrbe et al., 2007). This was not seen here but that may be a result of species differences. Human monocyte CCR2 expression has been shown to not differ between hypertensive and normotensive individuals (Syrbe et al., 2007) which is similar to the results in this study.

In the spleen, iCCR expression by all leukocytes analysed in this study was not affected by Ang II. The spleen is a secondary lymphoid organ that facilitates the interaction of APCs and lymphocytes. The spleen regulates the immune response so could be altered in hypertension. It has been suggested that infiltrating T cells in the kidney and aorta originate from the spleen and splenectomised mice are protected from Ang II induced BP elevation (Carnevale et al., 2014). Leukocyte iCCR expression may not be affected by Ang II in the spleen, but iCCR expression could change once leukocytes have migrated, or are migrating, to target organs such as the aorta.

The iCCR ligands CCL2, CCL3 and CCL5 have been shown to be elevated in the plasma of hypertensive patients (Parissis et al., 2002). CCL2 was not detected with the Luminex assay used in this study and CCL5 was only detected in half of the samples analysed. The concentration of these chemokines should be verified using an ELISA. Only very low levels of CCL3 were detected and Ang II had no effect on CCL3 concentration. This contrasts to observations in hypertensive patients and may be a result of species differences. The concentration of CCL21 in the plasma was lower in the Ang II treated mice compared to the control

mice. CCL21 is a homeostatic chemokine involved in the homing of T cells and DCs to secondary lymphoid organs (Förster et al., 2008) and has not previously been implicated in hypertension. Through reducing CCL21 production, it is possible that T cell and DC migration is redirected from lymphoid organs to peripheral tissues. CCL21 binds to CCR7, not any of the iCCRs, so it is unlikely that altered CCL21 expression relates to iCCR expression in Ang II induced hypertension. The iCCR ligands CCL7, CCL8 and CCL11 were detected in the plasma but Ang II had no effect on their concentration. CXCL13 was lower in the hypertensive mice. CXCL13 binds to CXCR5 and few studies have focused on these in hypertension. However, a CXCL13 gene polymorphism has been associated with hypertension (Timasheva et al., 2018).

3.9 Conclusion

3

In this chapter, iCCR expression by leukocytes in the kidney, PVAT, spleen, blood and bone marrow in Ang II induced hypertension has been characterised. Antibodies and mice expressing iCCR reporter proteins were used for flow cytometry and it was determined that REP mice were better for analysis of iCCR expression. No changes in iCCR expression in response to Ang II were identified for the cell types analysed but CCR2 and CCR5 mRNA expression was shown to be elevated in the aortas and PVAT of Ang II treated mice.

Altered vasculature iCCR expression could be involved in the pathogenesis of hypertension. Further studies could use the Ang II model of hypertension with CCR5^{-/-} mice as CCR5 mRNA expression in the vasculature was increased in response to Ang II. The longer DOCA-Ang II model of hypertension has been used to study CCR5^{-/-} mice (Krebs et al., 2012) but there are no reports of CCR5^{-/-} mice with 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension. As well as this, iCCR expression at more time points could be looked at, such as after 3 and 28 days of Ang II induced hypertension. This would reveal the temporal changes of iCCR expression that occur during the disease.

Overall, this chapter highlights potential involvement of aortic CCR2 and CCR5 in hypertension but further understanding is required in order to identify how these could be therapeutically targeted to treat hypertension and end organ damage. **Chapter 4**

The effect of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced hypertension

4 The effect of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced hypertension

4.1 Introduction

Due to the complexity of the chemokine system, identifying the exact role of chemokine receptors in various contexts has been a challenge. This has resulted in the development of only three successful drugs that target chemokine receptors. These are the CCR5 antagonist Maraviroc, the CXCR4 antagonist Plerixafor and the monoclonal antibody to CCR4 Mogamulizumab (Dorr et al., 2005; Duvic et al., 2015; Teusink et al., 2016). When studying iCCRs, it has so far only been practical to generate mice deficient for a single iCCR as the genes for each receptor are in close genomic proximity and it is not practical to generate compound receptor deficient mice by interbreeding. The full role, combinatorial or individual, of the iCCRs may not be revealed when using single receptor deficient mice as there could be compensation from the other receptors. To overcome this, mice deficient for the whole genomic cluster containing the iCCR genes (iCCR-KO) have been generated (Dyer et al., 2019).

Some of the iCCRs and their ligands have been implicated in the pathogenesis of hypertension. For example, the expression of CCR2 and CCR5 in the aorta and the expression of CCR5 in the kidney have been shown to be elevated in hypertensive animal models (Chan et al., 2012; Krebs et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2015). As well as this, hypertensive patients have elevated circulating CCL2 (Antonelli et al., 2012; Madej et al., 2005). The previous chapter revealed that after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension, aortic CCR2 and CCR5 expression increases. A deficiency of CCR2 or CCR5 has not been shown to effect BP in hypertension. However, CCR2^{-/-} mice are protected against Ang II induced vascular remodelling (Ishibashi et al., 2004; Krebs et al., 2012). The effect of CCR1 or CCR3 deficiency in hypertension has not been studied.

As only single iCCR deficient mice have been used to study hypertension, the exact role of each iCCR in the disease is not fully understood. Therefore, the aim of the experiments described in this chapter was to investigate the effect of deficiency in all iCCRs in Ang II induced hypertension. iCCR-KO mice were subject to 14 days of Ang II infusion. BP, vascular function and oxidative stress

were assessed, along with plasma chemokine concentration, inflammation of the kidneys, spleen and PVAT and Ang II induced hypertrophy. This has shown how lack of all four iCCRs affects the pathogenesis of hypertension, increasing our understanding of iCCRs in the disease.

4.2 Blood pressure

4

WT and iCCR-KO mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension and BP was measured for 14 days by the tail cuff method (Figure 4-1) or by telemetry (Figure 4-2). In both WT and iCCR-KO mice, upon Ang II infusion, systolic BP started to increase 1 day after treatment and increased by about 40 mmHg by day 14 (Figure 4-2a). Diastolic BP increased by about 30 mmHg (Figure 4-2b). There was no difference in BP between the WT and iCCR-KO mice. When BP was measured in sham treated mice by the tail cuff method, the WT mice had a higher BP than the iCCR-KO mice at days 12 - 14. There was no difference in baseline BP before Ang II infusion, measured by both the tail cuff method and telemetry.



Figure 4-1. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by the tail cuff method WT and iCCR-KO mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension or sham treatment for 14 days and systolic BP was measured by the tail cuff method. WT sham n = 8; WT Ang II n = 8; iCCR-KO sham n = 10; iCCR-KO Ang II n = 11. Data are combined from two independent experiments. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA with repeated measures.



Figure 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency on BP measured by telemetry Telemetry probes were implanted into WT and iCCR-KO mice and BP was measured. After recovery the mice were given Ang II for 14 days and systolic (a) and diastolic (b) BP was measured. WT n = 7; iCCR-KO n = 7. Data are combined from two independent experiments.

4.3 Vascular function and oxidative stress

ACh induces blood vessel relaxation through eNOS activation in ECs and the subsequent production of NO. NO then induces VSMC relaxation (Gewaltig and Kojda, 2002). Vascular function of the aorta and mesenteric arteries, resistance vessels that contribute to systemic BP, from sham or Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice was determined by measuring the relaxation response of the vessels to ACh. This measured endothelium-dependent relaxation. Endothelium-independent relaxation was also determined by measuring the relaxation response to the NO donor SNP (Patik et al., 2016). The relaxation response to ACh was impaired in both WT and iCCR-KO aortas following Ang II infusion

compared to sham aortas. However, the iCCR-KO aortas showed a slight protection from this impairment compared to WT aortas. There was also a difference in the relaxation response between sham treated WT and iCCR-KO aortas. There was no difference in relaxation response to SNP between the WT and iCCR-KO aortas (Figure 4-3a). The mesenteric arteries from Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice showed improved relaxation to ACh compared to the mesenteric arteries from WT Ang II treated mice but no differences in the response to SNP (Figure 4-3b).

Oxidative stress in the aortas of sham and Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice was assessed by measuring superoxide levels. Superoxide reacts with NO to form peroxynitrite, reducing NO bioavailability (Mordi et al., 2016). Increased vascular superoxide has been associated with impaired vascular function (Guzik et al., 2007). There were no differences in aortic superoxide between the WT and iCCR-KO mice. Upon Ang II infusion, superoxide levels were more variable than after sham treatment and tended to be higher but this was not significant (Figure 4-3c).

Overall, the aorta and mesenteric arteries of iCCR-KO mice are slightly protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction compared to WT mice but iCCR deficiency or Ang II treatment did not affect aortic superoxide levels.



Figure 4-3. The effect of iCCR deficiency on vascular function and oxidative stress in Ang II induced hypertension

WT and iCCR-KO mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension and vascular function was determined by measuring the relaxation response of the aorta (a) and mesenteric arteries (b) to increasing concentrations of ACh or SNP. Oxidative stress was measured by detecting superoxide in the aorta (c). Aorta vascular function: WT sham n = 3; WT Ang II n = 7; iCCR-KO sham n = 7; iCCR-KO Ang II n = 9. Data are combined from two independent experiments. Error bars = SEM. Mesentery vascular function WT Ang II n = 5; iCCR-KO Ang II n = 5. # p < 0.05 WT sham vs iCCR-KO sham; * p < 0.05 WT Ang II vs iCCR-KO Ang II; \$ p < 0.05 iCCR-KO Ang II, Two-Way ANOVA with repeated measures.

4.4 Plasma chemokines

Chemokine expression may increase in Ang II induced hypertension to enhance migration of leukocytes to tissues that regulate BP such as the kidneys and vasculature. Any changes to chemokine expression could indicate which chemokine receptors are important. Therefore, the concentration of CC chemokines was determined in the plasma of WT and iCCR-KO mice following 14 days of Ang II or sham treatment and are described in Table 4-1. Plasma CCL3 and CCL7 levels were significantly higher in the iCCR-KO mice compared to WT mice. This was observed for both sham and Ang II treated mice. In the iCCR-KO mice, Ang II treatment induced an increase in plasma CCL3 concentration. CCL5, CCL8, CCL11, CCL12, CCL19, CCL21 and CCL22 were detected in the plasma but neither iCCR deficiency nor Ang II treatment had an effect on plasma concentration. CCL2 and CCL4 were not detected. CCL20 was detected in some, but not all samples.

Chemokine	WT Sham	WT Ang II	iCCR-KO Sham	iCCR-KO Ang II
CCL3	1.4 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.1	98.7 ± 37 **	191 ± 81.6 ##; †
CCL5	171 ± 21.4	121 ± 48.7	315 ± 103	283 ± 116
CCL7	57.9 ±21.7	59.9 ± 49.5	748 ± 431 **	509 ± 263 ##
CCL8	7881 ± 1734	6335 ± 1313	8051 ± 3089	5245 ± 1290
CCL11	1328 ± 681	994 ± 715	1902 ± 786	1546 ± 851
CCL12	334 ± 126	254 ± 288	776 ± 483	620 ± 399
CCL19	29.2 ± 1.9	26.4 ± 8.2	31.0 ± 9.2	30.3 ± 7.0
CCL21	5520 ± 101	5330 ± 440	5543 ± 153	4274 ± 1852
CCL22	182 ± 84.7	116 ± 91.3	155 ± 62.2	122 ± 74.5

Table 4-1. Plasma chemokine concentration in Sham and Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice

The concentration (pg/ml) of CC chemokines in the plasma of WT and iCCR-KO mice following 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment was measured using a Luminex assay. ** p < 0.01 vs WT sham; ## p < 0.01 vs WT Ang II; † p < 0.05 vs iCCR-KO Sham, Two-Way ANOVA.

4.5 Inflammation

4

The accumulation of leukocytes in the kidneys and vasculature has been implicated in hypertension (Guzik et al., 2007; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Ozawa et al., 2006). Therefore, the infiltration of CD19+ B cells, CD3+ T cells, CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and CD11b+F4/80+ cells was investigated in the kidneys and PVAT of WT and iCCR-KO mice following 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment. These cell types were also analysed in the spleen as this could indicate whether these cells migrate from, or accumulate, in the spleen in hypertension. In addition, CD11b+ monocyte and CD11c+MHC II+ DC populations were investigated in the bone marrow and blood of Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice as these cells have been implicated in hypertension (Vinh et al., 2010; Wenzel et al., 2011). This also indicates how these cells migrate from the bone marrow to the blood and then to tissues. This analysis revealed some differences between WT and iCCR-KO mice. The gating strategy for kidney, PVAT and spleen analysis is detailed below (Figure 4-4).



Figure 4-4. Gating strategy for the analysis of kidney, PVAT and spleen leukocytes from WT and iCCR-KO mice with Ang II induced hypertension CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+ and CD3+ cells were gated from the CD45+ population then CD8+ and CD4+ cells were gated from the CD3+ population. F4/80+ cells were

4.5.1 Bone marrow

gated from CD11b+ cells.

The effect of iCCR-deficiency on bone marrow CD11b+ monocyte and DC populations in Ang II induced hypertension was investigated. CD11b+Ly6C- cells, which could be neutrophils, CD11b+Ly6C+ patrolling monocytes and CD11b+Ly6C++ inflammatory monocytes (Evrard et al., 2018; Kratofil et al., 2017) were gated from CD11b+ cells, as were CD11c+MHC II+ DCs (Figure 4-5). Sham treated mice were not used as these experiments were carried out using the Ang II treated mice subject to telemetry BP measurements. iCCR-KO mice had more CD11b+Ly6C- cells (Ang II WT 1.2 \pm 0.1 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 1.7 \pm 0.1 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test) and more CD11b+Ly6C++ cells (Ang II WT 6.8 \pm 0.5 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 8.4 \pm 0.9 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test) in the bone marrow than WT mice (Figure 4-6). There was also an increase in CD11b+CD11c+MHC II+ cells in the bone marrow of iCCR-KO mice (Ang II WT 0.3 \pm 0.1 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 1.0 \pm 0.2 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test).

These differences are demonstrated by representative flow cytometry plots (Figure 4-6d, f).



Figure 4-5. Gating strategy for the analysis of bone marrow leukocytes in 14 day Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice

CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD11b+ cells were gated on CD45+ cells and gated into Ly6C-, Ly6C+, Ly6C++ and CD11c+MHC II+ cells.



Figure 4-6. The effect of iCCR deficiency on bone marrow leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension

 \dot{WT} and iCCR-KO mice were treated with Ang II for 14 days and the number of CD11b+Ly6C- cells (a), CD11b+Ly6C+ cells (b), CD11b+Ly6C++ cells (c) and CD11b+CD11c+MHC II+ cells in the bone marrow was determined. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD11b+Ly6C+ (d) and CD11c+MHC II+ (f) populations are shown. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test.

4.5.2 Blood

The effect of iCCR-deficiency on blood B cell and T cell populations in Ang II induced hypertension was investigated, along with the CD11b+ monocyte and DC populations described above. CD19+ B cells and CD3+ T cells were gated from CD45+ cells. Expression of CD44, a marker of activated and memory T cells (Baaten et al., 2010; Maeshima et al., 2011), was also determined (Figure 4-7).

CD3+CD44+-23.4 CD3+CD44+ 41.6 SSC-A CD3+CD44-32.0 CD19 CD3+ CD45+ 80.2 104 10⁴ 103 150 K CD44 CD3 SSC-A CD11b+Ly6C++ 19.5 CD11b+Ly6C+ 37.2 . 10³ LV6C 250 CD45 CD11b+ 28.6 200ł CD11b+Ly6C SSC-A 50.6 100ł SSC-A CD11b+CD11c+MHCI+ - 10³ 10³ 104 10⁵ 1.93 CD11b MHC II 103 0

As with the bone marrow analysis, sham treated mice were not used for these experiments.

CD11c

Figure 4-7. Gating strategy for the analysis of leukocytes in the blood of WT and iCCR-KO Ang II treated mice

CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD19+ and CD3+ cells were gated from the CD45+ population. The CD3+ cells were gated into CD44-, CD44+ and CD44++ populations. CD11b+ cells were gated from CD45+ cells and further gated into Ly6C-, Ly6C+, Ly6C++ and CD11c+MHC II+ cells.

Similar to the bone marrow, iCCR-KO mice had more CD11b+Ly6C- cells in the blood than WT mice (Ang II WT 7.1 \pm 0.4 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 9.6 \pm 1.3 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test). However, there were fewer CD11b+Ly6C++ cells in the blood of WT mice (Ang II WT 5.9 \pm 0.9 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 1.5 \pm 0.6 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test) which contrasts to the bone marrow (Figure 4-8). The blood of iCCR-KO mice also had fewer CD11b+CD11c+MHC II+ cells than the blood of WT mice (Ang II WT 0.5 \pm 0.1 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 0.3 \pm 0.1

% CD45+ cells, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test), contradicting the observations for the bone marrow. These reductions are reflected in the representative flow cytometry plots (Figure 4-8d, f).



Figure 4-8. The effect of iCCR deficiency on blood leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension

 \dot{WT} and iCCR-KO mice were treated with Ang II for 14 days and the number of CD11b+Ly6C- cells (a), CD11b+Ly6C+ cells (b), CD11b+Ly6C++ cells (c) and CD11b+CD11c+MHC II+ cells in the blood was determined. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD11b+Ly6C+ (d) and CD11c+MHC II+ (f) populations are shown. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01, Mann. Whitney test.

Blood B cells were reduced in Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice (Ang II WT 43.5 \pm 8.5 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 32.4 \pm 1.5 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test) whilst blood T cells were increased (Ang II WT 14.2 \pm 1.4 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 18.7 \pm 1.4 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test) compared to Ang II treated WT mice

(Figure 4-9a, b). CD44 expression by T cells was also assessed (Figure 4-9c). There were more CD44- T cells (Ang II WT 4.0 \pm 0.4 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 5.8 \pm 0.4 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test) and CD44+ T cells (Ang II WT 5.0 \pm 0.7 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 7.1 \pm 0.5 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test) in the blood of iCCR-KO mice than WT mice. CD44++ T cells did not differ between WT and iCCR-KO mice. These differences are demonstrated in representative flow cytometry plots (Figure 4-9d).



Figure 4-9. In Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduces the proportion of B cells in the blood whilst increasing the proportion of CD44- and CD44+ T cells WT and iCCR-KO mice were treated with Ang II for 14 days. The proportion of circulating CD19+ cells was lower in the iCCR-KO mice (a) whilst the proportion of CD3+ cells was higher (b). CD3+CD44- and CD3+CD44+ cells were increased in iCCR-KO mice but CD3+CD44++ cells were not affected by iCCR deficiency (c). Representative flow cytometry plots of CD19+, CD3+, CD3+CD44-, CD3+CD44+ and CD3+CD44++ populations are shown (d). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test.

4.5.3 Spleen

The spleens of iCCR-KO mice had fewer CD45+ cells as a proportion of live cells than WT mice after both sham and Ang II treatment (Figure 4-10a; Sham WT 92.8 \pm 1.3 vs Sham iCCR-KO 84.2 \pm 1.4 % live+ cells, p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA; Ang II WT 92.0 \pm 2.0 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 80.3 \pm 6.8 % live+ cells, p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA). This difference was not obvious from representative flow cytometry plots and was not reflected in the total number of CD45+ cells (Figure 4-10b, d). CD45+ cell infiltration was not affected by Ang II treatment. Ang II infusion also did not affect the infiltration of CD11b+F4/80+ cells, B cells and T cells in both WT and iCCR-KO mice (Figure 4-10, Figure 4-11) but iCCR deficiency did alter the infiltration of T cells in the spleen (Figure 4-11b, c). After Ang II treatment, the total number of T cells in the spleen was lower in the iCCR-KO mice (Ang II WT 1.5 x 10⁷ \pm 2.8 x 10⁶ vs Ang II iCCR-KO 1.0 x 10⁷ \pm 2.4 x 10⁶ total cells, p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA). There were also fewer CD8+ T cells in the Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice (Ang II WT 12.5 \pm 2.4 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 8.5 \pm 1.7 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA). These differences were not seen in sham treated mice.

Overall, iCCR deficiency reduced the proportion of CD45+ cells in the spleen. In the context of Ang II induced hypertension, iCCR deficiency reduced the total number of splenic T cells and the proportion of infiltrating CD8+ T cells.



Figure 4-10. iCCR deficiency and leukocytes in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension The accumulation of CD45+ cells (a), total CD45+ cells (b) and CD11b+F4/80+ cells (c) in the spleens of WT and iCCR-KO mice given Ang II or sham treatment for 14 days was determined. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD45+ cells are shown (d). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA.



Figure 4-11. The effect of iCCR deficiency on T and B cells in the spleen in Ang II induced hypertension

The proportion of CD3+ cells (a), total CD3+ cells (b), CD8+ cells (c), CD4+ cells (d) CD4-CD8cells (e) and CD19+ cells (f) was measured in the spleens of WT and iCCR-KO mice subject to 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension. * p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA.

4.5.4 Kidney

Infiltration of CD45+ leukocytes, B cells and CD11b+ F4/80+ cells in the kidneys was not affected by Ang II treatment or iCCR deficiency (Figure 4-12). Overall T cell infiltration was also not effected by Ang II treatment or iCCR deficiency but there was a higher infiltration of double negative CD4-CD8- T cells in the kidneys of Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice compared to Ang II treated WT mice (Ang II WT 1.7 \pm 0.5 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 2.6 \pm 0.5 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA). There were no differences in CD8+ and CD4+ T cells between all groups (Figure 4-13).





Figure 4-12. iCCR deficiency and kidney infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension

The infiltration of CD45+ cells (a), CD19+ cells (b) and CD11b+F4/80+ cells (c) was determined in the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice following Ang II induced hypertension for 14 days.



Figure 4-13. iCCR deficiency and kidney T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension The infiltration of CD3+ cells (a), CD8+ cells (b), CD4+ cells (c) and CD4-CD8- cells (d) in the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment was determined. ** p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA.

Infiltration of leukocytes in the PVAT was measured as a proportion of cells and total number of cells per mg of tissue. There were no differences for any cell types analysed, including B cells, T cell subsets and CD11b+F4/80+ cells, between sham and Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice (Figure 4-14, Figure 4-15).



Figure 4-14. iCCR deficiency and PVAT infiltration of leukocytes in Ang II induced hypertension

The infiltration as a proportion and total number of CD45+ cells (a), CD19+ cells (b) and CD11b+F4/80+ cells (c) was determined in the PVAT of WT and iCCR-KO mice following Ang II induced hypertension for 14 days.



Figure 4-15. iCCR deficiency and PVAT T cell infiltration in Ang II induced hypertension The infiltration as a proportion and total number of CD3+ cells (a), CD8+ cells (b), CD4+ cells (c) and CD4-CD8- cells (d) in the PVAT of WT and iCCR-KO mice after 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment.

4.6 Cardiac and vascular remodelling

Hypertension induces the development of cardiac hypertrophy and interstitial fibrosis which can lead to heart failure (Suthahar et al., 2017). Further, Ang II can induce phenotypic switching of VSMCs from a contractile phenotype to a proliferative phenotype which leads to hypertrophy and inflammation

(Montezano et al., 2014). The effect of iCCR-deficiency on the aortic and cardiac hypertrophic effects of Ang II was investigated in WT and iCCR-KO mice after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension.

4.6.1 Aortic hypertrophy

After 14 days of sham or Ang II treatment, the thickness of the aortic medial layer was measured for the aortas of WT and iCCR-KO mice to assess aortic hypertrophy. No differences were observed between the groups, although there appeared to be a trend for increased aortic hypertrophy in the Ang II treated mice (Figure 4-16).



Figure 4-16. The effect of iCCR deficiency on aortic hypertrophy in Ang II induced hypertension

 \dot{WT} and iCCR-KO mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension and aortic hypertrophy was assessed by measuring the width of the aortic medial layer (a) Representative H&E stained images are shown (b). Scale bar = 50 μ m.

4.6.2 Cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis

As a risk factor for heart failure, cardiac remodelling in hypertension should be treated. This was assessed in sham and Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice by measuring the heart weight and looking at collagen deposition with a picrosirius red stain. When normalised to body weight, the heart weight increased in Ang II treated mice (Sham WT 5.7 \pm 0.3 vs Ang II WT 7.2 \pm 0.5 mg/g, p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA; Sham iCCR-KO 5.9 \pm 0.8 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 7.3 \pm 0.5 mg/g, p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA) and there were no differences between WT and iCCR-KO mice (Figure 4-17a). When normalised to tibia length, there was only an increase in heart weight in the iCCR-KO mice following Ang II treatment (Sham iCCR-KO 8.1 \pm 1.6 vs Ang II iCCR-KO 10.4 \pm 1.0 mg/mm, p < 0.05, Two-Way ANOVA) although there was a trend for Ang II to increase heart weight in WT mice (Figure 4-17b). Collagen deposition in the heart did not differ between the groups (Figure 4-17c, d).



Figure 4-17. The effect of iCCR-deficiency on cardiac remodelling in Ang II induced hypertension

WT and iCCR-KO mice were subject to Ang II induced hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy was assessed by measuring the ratio of heart weight to body weight (a) and tibia length (b) and collagen deposition by picrosirius staining (c). Representative images are shown (d). Red staining indicates collagen. Scale bar = 100 μ m. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, Two-Way ANOVA.

4.7 Discussion

iCCR-KO mice were subject to 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension and hypertensive phenotypes were assessed. These included BP, vascular function and oxidative stress as well as inflammation and cardiac hypertrophy. This has revealed how iCCR deficiency affects hypertension, increasing our understanding of how iCCRs contribute to the disease.

4.7.1 iCCRs and BP, vascular function and oxidative stress

The BP of both WT and iCCR-KO mice increased in response to Ang II and there was no difference between the Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice. Previously

it has been shown that CCR2 or CCR5 deficiency also does not affect BP in hypertension (Ishibashi et al., 2004; Krebs et al., 2012). This would suggest that the iCCRs are not involved in elevating BP in hypertension. However, treatment of mice subject to Ang II or DOCA-salt induced hypertension with the CCR2 antagonist INCB3344 reduces BP (Chan et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2015). This could suggest that CCR2, and possibly other iCCRs, contribute to BP regulation in hypertension but other mechanisms that compensate for this are established when the mice are deficient for the receptors from birth. This could be investigated using a combination of iCCR antagonists.

IL-17^{-/-} mice subjected to Ang II induced hypertension undergo an initial elevation in BP that is similar to WT mice at the 14 day time point but then falls to a level lower than that of WT mice by 21 and 28 days of Ang II treatment (Madhur et al., 2010). 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension may not be long enough to see the effect of iCCR deficiency on BP and this model could be run for longer. Further, depletion of macrophages, T cells and B cells have all been associated with reduced BP in hypertensive animal models (Chan et al., 2015; Rudemiller et al., 2014; Thang et al., 2015). Factors other than iCCRs may have influenced leukocyte migration, enabling them to still regulate Ang II induced BP elevation in iCCR-KO mice.

The BP of sham treated WT mice was higher than the sham treated iCCR-KO mice at days 12 - 14 of tail cuff BP measurements. At this time point, the mice were 14 - 15 weeks old. No differences in baseline BP were seen between WT and iCCR-KO mice when measured by telemetry, when the mice were 11 - 12 weeks old. This difference in BP may be related to age and only occurs once the mice are around 14 weeks old. Measuring the BP of aged mice using the more reliable telemetry method would reveal if iCCR deficiency can protect from an increase in BP associated with aging (Parati et al., 2015).

Aortic vascular function was impaired in Ang II treated mice compared to sham treated mice, as has been shown before (Guzik et al., 2007). The iCCR-KO mice showed some protection from this impairment, although variability between mice meant that there was not a large protection. CCL5^{-/-} mice have been shown to be protected from Ang II induced aortic dysfunction (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). As CCL5 binds to CCR1 and CCR5, leukocytes may be recruited to the

136

aorta via these receptors and contribute to vascular dysfunction. Recruitment of NK cells to the aorta has been associated with Ang II induced vascular dysfunction (Kossmann et al., 2013) and mice with depleted monocytes are also protected from Ang II induced aortic dysfunction (Wenzel et al., 2011). Leukocytes have a role in vascular dysfunction and it is likely that iCCR deficiency is protective from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction through altered leukocyte recruitment. The infiltration of leukocytes in the PVAT was determined in this study but further analysis of the whole aorta is required.

iCCR-KO mesenteric arteries showed improved relaxation to ACh after Ang II treatment compared to Ang II treated WT vessels. Sham treated mice were not used so the extent of the effect of the Ang II was not determined, although impaired relaxation to ACh of hypertensive mesenteric arteries compared to controls has been shown (Ye et al., 2019). The improved relaxation seen in iCCR-KO mice may be due to altered leukocyte recruitment. NK cells accumulate in mesenteric arteries from L-NAME treated mice (Taherzadeh et al., 2010) but further characterisation of mesenteric artery leukocyte infiltration in hypertension is required. The response of both vessel types to SNP was not effected by iCCR deficiency, showing that iCCRs may mediate endothelium-dependent, but not -independent, relaxation.

Multiple studies have associated increased vascular superoxide with impaired vascular function and mice which are protected from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction, such as Op/Op, Rag-1^{-/-} and CCL5^{-/-} mice, are also protected from Ang II induced vascular superoxide elevation (De Ciuceis et al., 2005; Guzik et al., 2007; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). No differences in aortic superoxide were shown between sham and Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice. There was a trend for the Ang II treated mice to have increased aortic superoxide but the data were variable and therefore, not significant. A way to verify superoxide levels would be to determine the expression and activity of NADPH oxidases. As there was no difference in aortic superoxide between the WT and iCCR-KO mice, it is likely that superoxide level is not mediating the protection from Ang II induced vascular dysfunction in the iCCR-KO mice. NO release by mesenteric arteries has been shown to be reduced in the vessels of hypertensive rats compared to control rats (Stankevicius et al., 2002). It is possible that vessels

137

from hypertensive iCCR-KO mice release more NO than vessels from hypertensive WT mice and this should be further investigated.

4.7.2 iCCRs and plasma chemokines

iCCR-KO mice have a higher concentration of CCL3 and CCL7 in the plasma than WT mice and there was a trend to have increased CCL5. This was seen in both sham and Ang II treated mice. CCL3 binds to CCR1 and CCR5 whilst CCL7 binds to CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR5. Previously, iCCR-KO mice have been shown to have elevated plasma levels of CCL5, CCL7 and CCL11 (Dyer et al., 2019). This increase suggests that these chemokines have a homeostatic role and that the iCCRs scavenge these chemokines.

CCL3 concentration was higher in the plasma of Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice compared to sham treated iCCR-KO mice. This effect was not seen in the WT mice. Expression of the iCCRs may have been enough to scavenge any CCL3 that had been produced in response to Ang II and therefore no overall increase was observed. It is also possible that in WT mice, leukocytes migrate towards CCL3 and provide a feedback mechanism which switches off Ang II induced CCL3 expression. CCL3 mRNA expression has been shown to be elevated in the kidneys of hypertensive mice and to be higher in hypertensive CCR5^{-/-} mice than hypertensive WT mice (Krebs et al., 2012). This suggests that CCR5 is involved in leukocyte migration towards CCL3 in the kidney. A limitation of looking at plasma chemokine concentration is that it is not possible to identify where the chemokines originated.

There is evidence of elevated CCL2 and CCL5 plasma concentration in hypertensive patients (Parissis et al., 2002). CCL2 was not detected by the Luminex assay used in this study and CCL5 concentration was not affected by Ang II. These differences could be due to differences between mice and humans. Data from the previous chapter showed that plasma CCL21 concentration slightly decreased in Ang II induced hypertension. This is not shown in this chapter and the data here show that some chemokine concentrations differ to those previously shown. This could be due to sample collection occurring at different times.

4.7.3 iCCRs and inflammation in hypertension

Ang II did not induce an increase in any of the leukocytes analysed in the kidneys of WT or iCCR-KO mice, in contrast to previous studies (Evans et al., 2017; Itani et al., 2016; Ozawa et al., 2006). This could be due to different cell isolation protocols or gating strategies and could be further investigated by IHC. CCR2 blockade with RS102895 reduces renal macrophage infiltration in hypertensive mice (Elmarakby et al., 2007; Kashyap et al., 2015) whilst CCR5 deficiency has no effect on T cell and macrophage infiltration in DOCA + Ang II induced hypertension (Krebs et al., 2012). This suggests that macrophages require CCR2, but not CCR5, to migrate to the kidney. However, as Ang II did not increase leukocyte infiltration in this study, the role of iCCRs could not be identified. iCCR deficiency resulted in an increase of kidney CD4-CD8- T cells in the hypertensive mice which was not seen in the sham treated mice. This could be due to iCCR induced changes in T cell subsets, which may only occur in hypertension. CD4-CD8- T cells have been shown to reside in the kidney and these cells are reduced in renal ischaemia reperfusion injury (Ascon et al., 2008).

T cells, macrophages and DCs have been shown to infiltrate the PVAT in Ang II induced hypertension and the expression of CCR1, CCR3 and CCR5 by T cells increases in the PVAT (Guzik et al., 2007; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). In this study, Ang II was not shown to have this effect meaning that identifying how iCCR deficiency influences PVAT leukocyte infiltration was challenging. CCL5^{-/-} and IL-17^{-/-} mice are both protected from Ang II induced PVAT leukocyte infiltration (Madhur et al., 2010; Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). It is hypothesised that CCL5 recruits T cells to the PVAT via iCCRs. which then produce cytokines that mediate oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction. If this is the case, Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice would have fewer infiltrating T cells, and possibly other leukocytes, which was not observed.

As inflammation develops in hypertension, it is likely that changes are seen in lymphoid organs. In the spleen, Ang II had no effect on the number of the leukocyte types analysed here. CD69 expression, a marker of activation, has been shown to increase by splenic T cells following Ang II treatment (Caillon et al., 2017). Activation of T cells was not investigated here but it is possible iCCR

deficiency could influence T cell activation. The monocyte population in the spleen may be reduced in rats after Ang II treatment and it has been suggested that this is due to migration from the spleen to the heart (N. P. Wang et al., 2017). Only splenic macrophages were analysed in this study and these were not affected by Ang II in WT and iCCR-KO mice. Additional markers such as Ly6C would be required to further analyse splenic monocytes.

iCCR deficiency altered certain splenic populations. The proportion of total leukocytes was reduced in the spleens of iCCR-KO mice compared to WT mice, suggesting that a small number of leukocytes require iCCRs to migrate to, or be retained in, the spleen. Hypertensive iCCR-KO mice also have a reduced total number of T cells compared to hypertensive WT mice, although this was not seen in the sham treated mice. Splenic CD8+, but not CD4+, T cells were reduced in the hypertensive iCCR-KO mice. In a model of viral infection, CD8+ T cells have been shown to increase in the spleen and this is associated with CCR2 and CCR5 expression (Nansen et al., 2000). It is possible that CD8+ T cells require these iCCRs to migrate to the spleen when challenged by a virus and, possibly, Ang II.

iCCR-KO mice had fewer Ly6C+ monocytes in the blood and more in the bone marrow, suggesting that iCCR deficiency prevents monocyte egress from the bone marrow to the blood. This has been previously shown in resting iCCR-KO mice and it is likely that this is dependent on CCR2 (Dyer et al., 2019). The same effect is seen for CD11b+ DCs but it is unknown which of the iCCRs these DCs require to migrate from the bone marrow. It is unclear if these differences are affected by Ang II and this should be repeated with sham and Ang II treated mice. Reconstituting WKY rats with the bone marrow from SHRs results in an increase in BP (Santisteban et al., 2015), suggesting that leukocytes in the bone marrow are important in hypertension. Further studies identifying leukocyte changes in the blood and bone marrow in hypertension and how these are regulated by iCCRs should be carried out.

B and T cells were also analysed in the blood of Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice. The proportion of B cells decreased while T cells increased in iCCR-KO mice. Further analysis of T cell activation revealed that there were more CD44- and CD44+ T cells in the iCCR-KO mice but no difference in the CD44++ T cells.

The increase in CD44+ T cells in the iCCR-KO mice may reflect a more proliferative state. However, there are also more CD44- T cells so this may just reflect an overall increase in T cells. Ang II has been shown to increase the number of circulating CD4+ T cells expressing CD44 (Guzik et al., 2007). This should be verified by repeating the experiment with sham treated mice. A population of CD4+CD44^{hi}CD62L^{lo} T cells can produce ACh and have been suggested to deliver ACh to ECs, mediating vascular relaxation (Olofsson et al., 2016). It would be interesting to see if this population of T cells is affected by iCCR deficiency as this could contribute to BP regulation.

4.7.4 iCCRs and cardiac and vascular remodelling

4

Vascular hypertrophy has been demonstrated in several hypertensive animal models and hypertensive patients (Al-gburi et al., 2017; Guzik et al., 2007; Schiffrin et al., 2000). Aortic hypertrophy in sham and Ang II treated WT and iCCR-KO mice was assessed by measuring the medial thickness of the aortas. Ang II did not induce an increase in aortic medial thickness in both WT and iCCR-KO mice. As there was no increase in medial thickness, it is hard to determine if iCCR deficiency has any effect on vascular hypertrophy. However, there was a trend for aortic medial thickness to increase in the Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice compared to sham treated iCCR-KO mice, suggesting that iCCR deficiency does not influence Ang II induced vascular hypertrophy. This contrasts to CCR2^{-/-} mice which are protected from Ang II induced aortic hypertrophy (Ishibashi et al., 2004). However, the protection in CCR2^{-/-} mice was seen after 28 days of Ang II treatment. It is possible that it takes more than 14 days for this effect to be seen and aortic hypertrophy should be determined in the iCCR-KO mice after a longer model of Ang II induced hypertension.

Cardiac hypertrophy, as determined by measuring the ratio of heart weight to body weight, increased in both WT and iCCR-KO mice after Ang II treatment. This is also seen in hypertensive CCR5^{-/-} and CCL2^{-/-} mice (Krebs et al., 2012; Shen et al., 2014), suggesting that iCCRs do not affect cardiac hypertrophy in hypertension. Cardiac fibrosis was determined by measuring the deposition of collagen in the heart and there were no differences in collagen between any of the groups. However, it was expected that Ang II treatment would result in an increase in cardiac collagen as this has been shown previously (Wei et al., 2017). A longer model may have been required to observe this. CCL2^{-/-} mice are protected from hypertension induced collagen deposition in the heart (Shen et al., 2014), suggesting that CCR2 may be involved in fibrosis. If this is the case, it is likely iCCR-KO mice would be protected from Ang II induced cardiac fibrosis. Macrophages accumulate in the hearts and aortas of hypertensive mice and this is associated with remodelling (Falkenham et al., 2015; Ishibashi et al., 2004; Moore et al., 2015). Following monocyte depletion, fewer monocytes infiltrate the hearts of mice after Ang II treatment and there is reduced cardiac fibrosis (Falkenham et al., 2015). iCCR-KO mice have been shown to have reduced circulating monocytes and impaired recruitment of monocytes to sites of inflammation, similar to CCR2^{-/-} mice (Dyer et al., 2019). It is hypothesised that there will be fewer macrophages recruited to the heart and aortas of Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice compared to WT mice and that this will result in reduced fibrosis but this has yet to be investigated.

4.8 Conclusion

4

The effect of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced hypertension has been investigated (Table 4-2). The BP of iCCR-KO mice increased to the same extent as WT mice but the iCCR-KO mice were protected from vascular dysfunction. Vascular oxidative stress was the same in WT and iCCR-KO mice and iCCR deficiency did not affect Ang II induced inflammation in the PVAT or kidneys. However, the effect of Ang II on inflammation and oxidative stress in WT mice seen here was not as expected, or as has been demonstrated before, so the role of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced inflammation may not be fully revealed by these experiments. iCCR-KO mice also showed cardiac hypertrophy similar to WT mice.

Overall, this study has revealed that iCCRs are involved in vascular dysfunction in Ang II induced hypertension. Leukocyte infiltration into the aorta and mesenteric arteries should be investigated to see how leukocytes may mediate vascular function. Although iCCRs do not appear to regulate BP, through protecting vascular function the risk of atherosclerosis is reduced. Therefore, iCCRs represent potential targets to improve end organ damage in hypertension. Further studies are required to identify any individual or combinatorial roles of the iCCRs in Ang II induced hypertension.

Hypertension phenotype	WT	iCCR-KO	Further experiments needed
BP	Increased	Increased	
Vascular function	Impaired	Protected	Mesenteric sham vessels
Aortic oxidative	No increase	No increase	Measure NADPH oxidase
stress	detected	detected	activity
Plasma CCL3	No increase	Increased	
Kidney inflammation	No increase	No increase	Repeat/IHC
	detected	detected	
PVAT inflammation	No increase	No increase	Repeat/IHC
	detected	detected	
Aortic hypertrophy	No increase	No increase	Longer model
	detected	detected	
Cardiac hypertrophy	Increased	Increased	
Cardiac fibrosis	No increase	No increase	Longer model

Table 4-2. The effect of iCCR deficiency in Ang II induced hypertensionWT and iCCR-KO mice were subject to 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension. BP, vascularfunction, aortic oxidative stress, inflammation and hypertrophy were assessed and the effect ofiCCR deficiency was determined.
Chapter 5

The effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney immune cells and regulators of blood pressure

5 The effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney immune cells and regulators of blood pressure

5.1 Introduction

The kidney is an important organ for the maintenance of BP through the regulation of salt excretion and fluid homeostasis. This involves reabsorption of sodium in the nephrons of the kidney and the retention of water (Soundararajan et al., 2010). Increased sodium reabsorption can result in hypertension, as is seen in certain diseases such as Liddle disease or Gordon's syndrome (Sabbadin and Armanini, 2016). Work in the previous chapter demonstrated that iCCR-KO mice could have slightly reduced baseline BP compared to WT mice, potentially in older mice. This could be due to altered kidney function. Therefore, the effect of iCCR deficiency on the kidney was investigated. iCCR-KO mice have been shown to have reduced macrophage and monocyte numbers in the spleen, skin and lung (Dyer et al., 2019) so the presence of these cells and other leukocytes in the kidney was determined along with the expression of genes involved in sodium reabsorption and BP regulation. Mice deficient in individual iCCRs were also used to determine if any differences could be a result of lacking one iCCR or multiple iCCRs. In addition, the structure of the kidneys in WT and iCCR-KO mice was investigated. This increases understanding of how iCCRs could affect BP regulation.

5.2 Kidney leukocyte infiltration

The infiltration of CD45+ cells, CD11b+F4/80+ cells, CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells in the kidneys of iCCR-KO and individual iCCR deficient mice was investigated by flow cytometry, using the gating strategy below (Figure 5-1). Cells that were CD11b+ and F4/80+ were gated from CD45+ cells and these were divided based on Ly6C expression. Kidney T cells and B cells were characterised in iCCR-KO mice following the gating strategy in the previous chapter (Figure 4-4).



Figure 5-1. Gating strategy for the analysis of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting WT, iCCR-KO, CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice CD45+ cells were gated from live, single cells. CD11b+ cells were gated from the CD45+ population and from these a population of F4/80+ cells were identified. The CD11b+F4/80+ cells were gated into CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ populations.

5.2.1 Macrophages and monocytes in iCCR-KO mice

The accumulation of CD45+ cells (Figure 5-2a) in the kidneys of iCCR-KO mice did not differ from the WT mice but there was a reduction in CD11b+F4/80+ cells (Figure 5-2b; WT 5.5 \pm 1.0 vs iCCR-KO 3.4 \pm 0.6 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test). This was shown to be explained by a reduction in CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (WT 1.9 \pm 0.3 vs iCCR-KO 0.6 \pm 0.1 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test) but not CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells (Figure 5-2c, d). Representative flow cytometry plots demonstrate the reduction of CD11b+F4/80+ cells in the iCCR-KO mice (Figure 5-2e).



Figure 5-2. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting iCCR-KO mice

The infiltration of CD45+ cells (a), CD11b+F4/80+ cells (b), CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells (c) and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (d) in the kidneys of resting iCCR-KO mice was determined by flow cytometry. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD11b+F4/80+, CD11b+F4/80Ly6C- and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ populations are shown (e). ** p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test.

5.2.2 Macrophages and monocytes in CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice

To determine if the reduction in CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells in the iCCR-KO mice was a result of a deficiency of a single iCCR or multiple iCCRs, the infiltration of CD11b+F4/80+ cells, CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells in the kidneys of individual iCCR deficient mice was investigated. CD45+ cells represented up to 5 % of total cells and CD11b+F4/80+ cells accounted for up to 10 % of CD45+ cells in the CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO mice and their WT controls (Figure 5-3, Figure 5-4, Figure 5-5). Analysis of the CCR5-KO mice and WT controls showed that up to about 45 % of kidney CD45+ cells were CD11b+F4/80+ (Figure 5-6). CCR1, CCR3 or CCR5 deficiency had no effect on these cell types in the kidney but CCR2 deficiency resulted in a reduction of CD11b+F4/80+ cells, CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (CD11b+F4/80+: WT 6.4 ± 1.4 vs CCR2-KO 2.8 ± 0.5 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test; CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C-: WT 4.1 ± 0.8 vs CCR2-KO 2.2 ± 0.4 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test; CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+: WT 1.7 \pm 0.5 vs CCR2-KO 0.4 \pm 0.2 % CD45+ cells, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test). This reduction is demonstrated by representative flow cytometry plots (Figure 5-4).



Figure 5-3. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting CCR1-KO mice

The infiltration of CD45+ cells (a), CD11b+F4/80+ cells (b), CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells (c) and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (d) in the kidneys of resting CCR1-KO mice was determined by flow cytometry.



Figure 5-4. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting CCR2-KO mice

The infiltration of CD45+ cells (a), CD11b+F4/80+ cells (b), CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells (c) and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (d) in the kidneys of resting CCR2-KO mice was determined by flow cytometry. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD11b+F4/80+, CD11b+F4/80Ly6C- and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ populations are shown (e). ** p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test.



Figure 5-5. Infiltration of macrophages and monocytes in the kidneys of resting CCR3-KO mice

The infiltration of CD45+ cells (a), CD11b+F4/80+ cells (b), CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells (c) and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (d) in the kidneys of resting CCR3-KO mice was determined by flow cytometry.





The infiltration of CD45+ cells (a), CD11b+F4/80+ cells (b), CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells (c) and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells (d) in the kidneys of resting CCR5-KO mice was determined by flow cytometry.

5.2.3 iCCR expression by macrophages and monocytes

REP mice were used to identify which iCCRs macrophages and monocytes express to aid the understanding of which iCCRs may be used for migration to and within the kidney (Figure 5-7). Neither CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells nor CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells expressed CCR3 but they did express CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5. CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells most highly expressed CCR5 whilst CCR2 was most highly expressed by CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells. Co-expression of CCR1, CCR2 and CCR5 by CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells was also assessed but there were too few CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells to analyse iCCR co-expression. About 30 % of CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells were CCR1+CCR5+ and 20 % were CCR5+ but none expressed just CCR1. About 5 % of these cells expressed just CCR2 and up to 15 %

expressed both CCR2 and CCR5. Further, about 30 % of these cells did not express any of the iCCRs (Figure 5-7c).





5.2.4 T cells and B cells in iCCR-KO mice

Infiltrating CD19+ B cells and overall CD3+ T cells were not affected by iCCR deficiency (Figure 5-8a, e). T cells were further analysed as CD4+, CD8+ and CD4-CD8- and these were also not affected by the lack of iCCRs (Figure 5-8b, c, d).



Figure 5-8. Infiltrating T cells and B cells in the kidneys or resting iCCR-KO mice The infiltration of CD3+ cells (a), CD3+CD4+ cells (b), CD3+CD8+ cells (c), CD3+CD4-CD8- cells (d) and CD19 + cells (e) in the kidneys of resting iCCR-KO mice was determined by flow cytometry.

5.3 Kidney blood pressure regulators

As iCCR deficiency may reduce baseline BP, iCCR deficiency may affect regulators of sodium reabsorption, and therefore BP, in the kidney. The

expression of the genes for MR, serum/glucocorticoid-regulated kinase 1 (SGK1), ENaC and sodium/hydrogen exchanger 3 (NHE3) were assessed by qPCR. MR is a nuclear receptor transcription factor that binds to aldosterone and regulates transcription of genes involved in sodium reabsorption. One of these genes is SGK1. SGK1 regulates activation of ENaC, a channel that facilitates sodium reabsorption (Shibata and Fujita, 2011). NHE3 also regulates sodium reabsorption and is important in BP maintenance (Fenton et al., 2017).

5.3.1 iCCR-KO mice

5

The mRNA expression of MR was reduced in the iCCR-KO mice (Figure 5-9a; WT 100 \pm 41 vs iCCR-KO 30 \pm 14 % WT mRNA expression, p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test). SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression were not altered in the iCCR-KO mice compared to WT mice (Figure 5-9b, c, d).



Figure 5-9. iCCR-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression

The expression of MR (a), SGK1 (b), ENaC (c) and NHE3 (d) in the kidneys of resting WT and iCCR-KO mice was determined by qPCR. ** p < 0.01, Mann Whitney test.

5.3.2 CCR1-KO, CCR2-KO, CCR3-KO and CCR5-KO mice

To evaluate whether the reduction in MR mRNA expression in the iCCR-KO mice was a result of an individual iCCR deficiency or is specific to iCCR-KO mice, the expression of MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 was determined in each of the individual iCCR deficient mice. Analysis of CCR1-KO mice showed the same MR, SGK1 and NHE3 expression as the WT mice but ENaC expression was lower in the CCR1-KO mice (Figure 5-10c; WT 100 \pm 7 vs CCR1-KO 81 \pm 10 % WT mRNA expression, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test). CCR2 or CCR3 deficiency had no effect on the expression of MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 (Figure 5-11, Figure 5-12). The expression of MR, ENaC and NHE3 in the kidneys of CCR5-KO mice was not different from the WT mice but SGK1 expression was higher in the CCR5-KO mice (Figure 5-13b; WT 100 \pm 13 vs CCR5-KO 139 \pm 28 % WT mRNA expression, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test).



Figure 5-10. CCR1-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression

The expression of MR (a), SGK1 (b), ENaC (c) and NHE3 (d) in the kidneys of resting WT and CCR1-KO mice was determined by qPCR. * p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test.



Figure 5-11. CCR2-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression The expression of MR (a), SGK1 (b), ENaC (c) and NHE3 (d) in the kidneys of resting WT and

CCR2-KO mice was determined by qPCR.



Figure 5-12. CCR3-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression The expression of MR (a), SGK1 (b), ENaC (c) and NHE3 (d) in the kidneys of resting WT and CCR3-KO mice was determined by qPCR.



Figure 5-13. CCR5-KO kidney MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3 expression The expression of MR (a), SGK1 (b), ENaC (c) and NHE3 (d) in the kidneys of resting WT and CCR5-KO mice was determined by qPCR. * p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test.

5.4 Immune cell MR expression

Macrophages and monocytes have been shown to express MR (Lim et al., 2007; Rickard et al., 2009). It is possible that the reduction of MR expression in the kidneys of iCCR-KO mice is a reflection of the reduction of CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells. Therefore, MR expression by immune cells, including macrophages, in WT and iCCR-KO mice was investigated.

5.4.1 Macrophage sort

F4/80+ cells were isolated from the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice using magnetic columns and the MR expression by these cells was determined. Representative flow cytometry plots of the negative fraction, positive fraction and cells before the sort are shown (Figure 5-14). F4/80+ cells represented a

very small fraction of the total cells in the kidney. These cells were depleted in the negative fraction but only slightly enriched in the positive fraction. The majority of the positive fraction consisted of F4/80- cells and therefore isolating F4/80+ cells was unsuccessful and MR expression was not tested.



Figure 5-14. Magnetic sort of kidney F4/80+ cells F4/80+ cells were sorted from kidney cells using magnetic columns. Representative flow cytometry plots of the cells before the sort (pre-sort) and the negative and positive fractions are shown.

5.4.2 Flow cytometry

The expression of MR by leukocytes in the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice was next investigated using flow cytometry. Overall, about 4 % of kidney cells were shown to express MR in both WT and iCCR-KO mice. Representative flow cytometry plots of total kidney cells stained with the MR antibody and FMO control are shown with a heatmap of CD45 expression. This suggests that the majority of MR+ cells are CD45+ (Figure 5-15a). 60 % of CD3+ T cells and up to 95 % of CD19+ B cells were shown to be MR+ and the majority of CD11b+F4/80+ cells were MR+ (Figure 5-15b, c, d). Slightly more CD11b+F4/80+ cells expressed MR in the iCCR-KO mice compared to WT mice (WT 93 \pm 4 vs iCCR-KO 98 \pm 1 % CD11b+F4/80+ cells, p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test). Representative flow cytometry plots of FMO controls and MR stained samples illustrate high MR staining by CD3+, CD19+ and CD11b+F4/80+ cells.



Figure 5-15. The expression MR in the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice Overall MR expression (a) and MR expression by CD3+ cells (b), CD19+ cells (c) and CD11b+F4/80+ cells (d) in the kidneys of WT and iCCR-KO mice was determined by flow

cytometry. Representative flow cytometry plots of MR staining by these cell types and an FMO control are shown. CD45 expression is presented as a heat map in a. * p < 0.05, Mann Whitney test.

5.4.3 Lymphoid MR expression

The high expression of MR by kidney leukocytes demonstrated by flow cytometry was unexpected and it is likely that the antibody is showing non-specific binding to these cells. To clarify this, MR expression in the spleen, thymus and kidney was determined by flow cytometry and qPCR. The spleen and thymus consist mostly of leukocytes whereas only up to 5 % of kidney cells are leukocytes. Therefore these experiments indicate whether leukocytes express MR or if the antibody binds non-specifically to them. Flow cytometry showed that the spleen had the highest MR expression, with about 4×10^6 MR+ cells. The thymus had 1.5 $\times 10^6$ MR+ cells. This was much higher than the 8 $\times 10^4$ MR+ cells in the kidney (Figure 5-16a). In contrast to this, qPCR revealed that MR expression was about 10-fold higher in the kidney compared to the spleen and thymus (Figure 5-16b). Very low levels of MR mRNA, if any, were detected in the spleen and thymus with ct values over 30.



Figure 5-16. Spleen, thymus and kidney MR expression The total expression of MR in the spleen, thymus and kidneys of WT mice was determined by flow cytometry (a) and qPCR (b).

5.5 iCCR-KO Kidney structure

Macrophages have been shown to be involved in development. They regulate angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis and development of various organs such as the mammary glands (Fantin et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2017).

Chemokines and their receptors are also involved as ACKR2 has been shown to regulate branching morphogenesis in the mammary gland and both ACKR2 and CCR2 regulate lymphangiogenesis (Lee et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2017). Therefore, the effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney structure was investigated as this may be effected by altered kidney monocyte and macrophage populations. There appeared to be no differences in the structure of the WT and iCCR-KO kidneys, demonstrated by representative images (Figure 5-17a). The number of glomeruli were counted to indicate nephron formation and this did not differ between WT and iCCR-KO kidneys (Figure 5-17b).





Figure 5-17. The effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney structure

The structure of kidneys from WT and iCCR-KO mice was assessed by H&E staining (a) and the average number of glomeruli per field of view (FOV) was measured (b). Arrows point to glomeruli. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$.

5.6 Discussion

The effect of total iCCR and individual iCCR deficiency on kidney leukocytes, BP regulators and kidney structure was investigated. This has revealed how iCCRs contribute to macrophage and monocyte infiltration in the kidney and showed that MR expression is influenced by iCCRs or iCCR expressing cells.

5.6.1 Kidney monocytes and macrophages

Ly6C expression was used to identify monocyte and macrophage populations. CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells represent inflammatory monocytes whilst CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells represent macrophages (Clements et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2009). iCCR deficiency resulted in fewer CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells in the kidney but CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells were unaffected. CCR1, CCR3 and CCR5 deficiency had no effect on these populations whilst CCR2-KO mice had fewer CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ and CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells. This suggests that only CCR2 is required for the migration of these cells to the kidney. The reason CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells were reduced in CCR2-KO mice but not iCCR-KO mice is unclear but this has also been demonstrated in the lung (Dyer et al., 2019). It has been suggested that Ly6C^{hi} monocytes differentiate into macrophages and that these macrophages have a role in renal fibrosis (Lin et al., 2009). Whether monocyte derived macrophages and tissue resident macrophages have a role in resting kidney function has not been investigated. Cardiac macrophages have been shown to have a role in cardiac conduction (Hulsmans et al., 2017) so it is possible that kidney macrophages have functions in the kidney outside their immune and inflammatory roles. Depletion of monocytes and macrophages or CCR2 deficiency do not affect baseline BP (Huang et al., 2018; Ishibashi et al., 2004) which would suggest that the observed changes in kidney monocytes and macrophages in iCCR-KO mice are not responsible for any changes in BP compared to WT mice.

The majority of CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells in the kidney express both CCR1 and CCR5 whilst CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells most highly express CCR2. This could suggest that as CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells differentiate, they downregulate CCR2 expression and upregulate CCR1 and CCR5 expression. This has been demonstrated by human monocytes *in vitro* (Kaufmann et al., 2001). The role of

CCR1 and CCR5 on kidney macrophages is unclear but these may regulate migration within the kidney or macrophage function. CCR5 may regulate macrophage polarisation as it has been suggested that CCR5 deficiency increases alternative activation of macrophages (Dehmel et al., 2010). CCR1 deficient peritoneal macrophages show increased phagocytosis and cytotoxicity, suggesting that CCR1 can regulate macrophage innate immune responses (Ness et al., 2004). At rest, CCR2 appears to regulate kidney monocyte and macrophage recruitment but other iCCRs may be involved in disease states. For example, CCR1 may regulate macrophage infiltration in renal ischaemiareperfusion injury (Furuichi et al., 2008).

166

CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C- cells can be CCR2+, CCR5+, CCR1+CCR5+ or CCR2+CCR5+ and these may represent distinct subpopulations. None of these cells were just CCR1+ which could suggest a redundant role for CCR1. Some of these cells did not express any of the iCCRs and these may depend on other chemokine receptors for migration such as CX3CR1 (Geissmann et al., 2003). A population of CD11b+F4/80-Ly6C+ monocytes could reside in the kidney and these cells in iCCR-KO and individual iCCR deficient mice could be further explored, along with their iCCR expression.

5.6.2 MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3

It is unlikely that the reduction of CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells in the kidneys of iCCR-KO mice directly affects BP. Therefore, other regulators of BP in the kidney were investigated. These were MR, SGK1, ENaC and NHE3. NHE3 expression was not effected by individual or total iCCR deficiency. MR is a transcription factor that regulates SGK1 expression (Shibata and Fujita, 2011). MR expression was reduced in iCCR-KO mice but SGK1 expression was not effected by iCCR deficiency, suggesting that there was enough MR protein or that other transcription factors were able to regulate SGK1 expression. SGK1 expression was increased in CCR5-KO mice. How CCR5 effects SGK1 expression has not been investigated but T cell SGK1 has been shown to be important in hypertension (Norlander et al., 2017). It is possible that CCR5 regulates T cell SGK1 expression or that CCR5+ cells regulate the expression of SGK1 by other cells types such as epithelial cells. The increase of SGK1 expression in CCR5-KO mice would also be expected in the iCCR-KO mice and it is unclear why this was not observed. SGK1

167

inhibits ENaC degradation, leading to increased levels of ENaC and increased activity (Debonneville et al., 2001). ENaC expression was reduced in CCR1-KO mice. The effect of CCR1 deficiency on BP has not been looked at but it is possible that a reduction in ENaC would result in lower BP. ENaC is also expressed by epithelial cells in the lung, colon and bladder and expression may also be reduced in these tissues in CCR1-KO mice. ENaC expression was not reduced in the iCCR-KO mice, which would have been expected.

MR mRNA expression was reduced in the iCCR-KO mice and this effect was not seen in any of the individual iCCR deficient mice, suggesting that this is a result of loss of multiple iCCRs. Because MR can be expressed by monocytes and macrophages (Lim et al., 2007; Rickard et al., 2009), it is possible that the reduction in expression reflected the reduction in CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells. However, this may not be the case as a reduction in MR expression in CCR2-KO mice would also be expected. Nonetheless, the expression of MR by monocytes, macrophages and other leukocytes in WT and iCCR-KO mice was investigated. The data here show that B cells, T cells and macrophages. Mice with MR deficient T cells have reduced BP at baseline and after Ang II treatment and deletion of MR in macrophages protects against DOCA-salt induced hypertension (Rickard et al., 2009; Sun et al., 2017). Macrophages in iCCR-KO mice were shown to express slightly more MR than WT mice, although this difference is small and unlikely to be biologically relevant.

The antibody based data here suggest that only 4 % of kidney cells express MR and that the majority of these are CD45+ which is surprising as MR is expressed by epithelial cells in the distal convoluted tubules of the kidney (Funder, 2005; Hirasawa et al., 1997). It is therefore likely that the antibody used did not work effectively and could bind to leukocytes non-specifically. To check this, MR expression was measured in the spleen, thymus and kidney by flow cytometry and qPCR. The flow cytometry data suggested that the spleen had the most MR+ cells, followed by the thymus, and the kidney had 50-fold fewer MR+ cells than the spleen. qPCR revealed that MR expression was highest in the kidney whilst MR was almost undetectable in the spleen and thymus with ct values higher than 30. This suggests that the MR antibody used for flow cytometry was binding nonspecifically to immune cells and that the data obtained using it is unreliable.

Although the expression of MR by leukocytes shown here is unreliable, it is still possible that MR expression by these cells is affected by iCCR deficiency. It is also possible that iCCR expressing leukocytes can regulate MR expression, potentially through cytokine production. The MR gene may be transcribed at the same rate in WT and iCCR-KO mice, but the mRNA could be degraded faster in the iCCR-KO mice. This could be regulated by MicroRNAs such as miR-124 and miR-135a, which have been shown to regulate MR expression. However this is likely through regulation of translation, not mRNA stability (Sõber et al., 2010). The study here was limited by the fact that only mRNA expression was measured and not protein expression. However, an antibody that could be used to measure MR expression by IHC or western blotting was not available.

Another explanation for reduced MR expression is if the iCCR-KO kidneys have a different structure to WT kidneys such as fewer nephrons and epithelial cells. This could be influenced by macrophages and may also affect BP. ACKR2 deficient mice show increased macrophage recruitment to developing mammary glands which is associated with an increase in ductal epithelial network density (Wilson et al., 2017). Macrophages have been shown to accumulate near renal tubules in the developing kidney and CSF-1 treated kidney explant cultures develop an increased number of nephrons (Rae et al., 2007). The data here indicate that the structure of the WT and iCCR-KO kidneys does not differ which suggests that kidney development is not affected by iCCR deficiency or reduced macrophage populations. However, this could be verified by studying kidney development and macrophage populations in embryonic iCCR-KO mice.

The vasculature is also important in regulating BP and how iCCR deficiency affects leukocytes and BP regulation by the vasculature should be investigated. MR has been shown to be expressed by endothelial cells and VSMCs and this is important in regulating BP (Galmiche et al., 2014; Nguyen et al., 2010). It is possible that iCCR-KO mice have reduced MR expression in the vasculature as well as the kidney. Older iCCR-KO mice tended to have a lower BP than WT mice so how iCCRs contribute to BP regulation in older mice and in age related hypertension would be interesting.

168

5.7 Conclusion

This study shows that the kidneys of iCCR-KO mice have fewer CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells than WT mice and that this is likely due to lack of CCR2. iCCR-KO mice also have reduced MR expression in the kidneys which may influence BP and this is specific to the iCCR-KO mice. The reason for MR expression downregulation is still unclear. As CCR2-KO mice do not show a reduction in kidney MR expression, the reduction of CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells is unlikely to be involved with the reduced MR expression. Kidney MR protein expression needs to be verified, along with which cells are expressing MR and whether reduced MR expression is responsible for any differences in BP.

Overall, this study reveals some ways that iCCR deficiency influences the kidneys. Further work on whether this influences BP needs to be done, along with studies focusing on the vasculature, but this could start to identify ways that iCCRs can be targeted to regulate BP.

Chapter 6

Discussion

6 Discussion

6.1 General discussion

The immune system is an important factor in the pathogenesis of hypertension, with the depletion of T cells, B cells, monocytes and macrophages having been shown to be protective in various hypertensive models (Chan et al., 2015; Guzik et al., 2007; Thang et al., 2015; Wenzel et al., 2011). Further, inflammation of the vasculature and kidneys develops in hypertension and this is associated with end organ damage (Moore et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2006).

As regulators of leukocyte migration and inflammation, chemokines and their receptors have been implicated in hypertension. Of the iCCRs, CCR2 has been most widely studied. CCR2^{-/-} mice are protected from Ang II induced vascular remodelling, but not elevated BP, whilst the CCR2 antagonist INCB3344 reduces BP in Ang II induced hypertension (Ishibashi et al., 2004; Moore et al., 2015). The deficiency of CCR5 has not been shown to influence BP or kidney function and inflammation in hypertension but CCR5 expression does increase in hypertensive kidneys and aortas (Chan et al., 2012; Krebs et al., 2012). CCR1 and CCR3 have not previously been studied in hypertension.

Studying the role of chemokine receptors in hypertension, and other contexts, has been challenging due to the complexity of the chemokine system. To overcome this, iCCR-KO mice have been developed (Dyer et al., 2019) as well as REP mice which can be used to detect individual and combinatorial iCCR expression. In the experiments described here, these mice were used to investigate the role of iCCRs in hypertension. Firstly, through characterising leukocyte iCCR expression in Ang II induced hypertension and secondly, through investigating how iCCR deficiency affects Ang II induced hypertension. Finally, how iCCR deficiency may affect the regulation of BP by the kidney was investigated.

For the characterisation of leukocyte iCCR expression, B cells, T cells, monocytes and macrophages were analysed in the bone marrow, blood, spleen, kidney and PVAT by flow cytometry, using REP mice. This was carried out after 7 or 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension and there were no changes in iCCR expression by the cell types analysed at either of the time points. However, iCCR expression in the kidney, heart and aorta (including PVAT) was also analysed by qPCR after 14 days of Ang II induced hypertension and this revealed an increase in aortic CCR2 and CCR5 expression in the Ang II treated mice. This suggests that CCR2 and CCR5 are important in regulating vascular inflammation in hypertension. Leukocytes expressing CCR2 and CCR5 may be involved in the vascular dysfunction that occurs in hypertension as iCCR-KO mice subject to Ang II induced hypertension had improved aortic and mesenteric artery function compared to Ang II treated WT mice. A similar effect is seen in CCL5^{-/-} mice (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016). CCL5, and possibly other ligands for CCR5 or ligands for CCR2, could be important for the recruitment of leukocytes that impair vascular function. Vascular oxidative stress is associated with vascular dysfunction in hypertension (Guzik et al., 2007) but iCCR deficiency had no effect on aortic superoxide so it is possible that other factors were mediating the protection from vascular dysfunction.

Inflammation of the kidneys and vasculature is widely reported in hypertension (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2015; Ozawa et al., 2006). However, the results here do not show Ang II to increase inflammation of the kidneys or PVAT. This may be due to different protocols for cell isolation or different flow cytometry gating strategies. It was hypothesised that there would be fewer inflammatory monocytes and macrophages in the kidneys and PVAT of Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice but any effect of iCCR deficiency on kidney and PVAT inflammation was difficult to identify when the overall effect of Ang II was not observed.

The BP of Ang II treated iCCR-KO mice increased to the same extent as WT mice. This, along with studies of CCR2 and CCR5 deficient mice (Ishibashi et al., 2004; Krebs et al., 2012), suggests that iCCRs do not influence blood pressure in hypertension. As a deficiency in T cells, B cells or macrophages has been reported to prevent a BP increase in hypertension, it is likely that other chemokine receptors are involved in the migration of these cells to where they regulate BP.

A difference in BP was observed between the WT and iCCR-KO sham treated mice after 12 - 14 days of BP measurements, suggesting that iCCR deficiency

172

results in reduced BP, an effect that might only be seen in older mice. To understand this observation, factors that regulate BP were investigated in WT and iCCR-KO mice. As a regulator of salt retention and fluid homeostasis, the experiments described here focused on the kidney. The iCCR-KO mice were shown to have fewer CD11b+F4/80+Ly6C+ cells in the kidney. Analysis of individual receptor KO mice suggested that CCR2 is the iCCR responsible for this phenotype. The iCCR-KO mice also had reduced kidney MR expression and this was not seen in any of the individual receptor KO mice. The reduction in inflammatory monocytes in the kidneys of iCCR-KO mice is unlikely to be associated with MR expression as CCR2-KO mice also had fewer monocytes in the kidney but MR expression was similar to that of WT mice.

6.2 Future work

6

CCR2 and CCR5 were identified as upregulated in the aortas of Ang II treated WT mice. In addition, mice deficient for the iCCRs were shown to have improved vascular function in Ang II induced hypertension compared to WT mice. It is hypothesised that CCR2 and CCR5 regulate vascular dysfunction in hypertension and this needs to be further investigated. The cells expressing these receptors in the aorta should be identified, as CCR2+ and CCR5+ leukocytes may not be recruited to the aorta in iCCR-KO mice and this could be protective against Ang II induced vascular dysfunction. Additionally, vascular function in CCR2^{-/-} and CCR5^{-/-} mice following Ang II induced hypertension should be determined as this may identify whether just one of these receptors is responsible for the effects seen in the iCCR-KO mice or whether both receptors are involved. This could also be carried out using CCR2 and CCR5 inhibitors. Whether these inhibitors can be protective in hypertension that has already been established would also be interesting to investigate and more clinically relevant. Although CCR1 and CCR3 were not upregulated in the hypertensive aortas, how CCR1^{-/-} and CCR3^{-/-} mice respond to Ang II would still be interesting to determine as this has not previously been done.

Reversible iCCR-KO mice are currently being generated. These mice are conditionally null for the iCCRs but expression of individual receptors can be switched on, in multiple combinations. CCR1-CCR2+CCR3-CCR5-, CCR1-CCR2-CCR3-CCR5+ and CCR1-CCR2+CCR3-CCR5+ mice could be subjected to Ang II

174

induced hypertension and vascular function assessed. This would show if mice that only express CCR2, CCR5 or CCR2 and CCR5 experience vascular dysfunction similar to WT mice, indicating how important these receptors are in regulating vascular dysfunction in hypertension.

It would also be interesting to see if iCCR-KO mice are protected from cardiac and vascular remodelling after 28 days of Ang II treatment as this was not observed after 14 days. Remodelling can be regulated by monocytes and macrophages (Falkenham et al., 2015; Moore et al., 2015). It is hypothesised that fewer monocytes would be recruited to the hearts and aortas of iCCR-KO mice and this would result in reduced pathogenic remodelling. CCR2 deficiency has already been shown to be protective against Ang II induced vascular remodelling (Ishibashi et al., 2004). WT and iCCR-KO mice could be treated with Ang II for 28 days and the infiltration of monocytes and macrophages in the aorta and heart could be determined, along with fibrosis markers such as collagen and matrix metalloproteinases (Giannandrea and Parks, 2014).

The effect of iCCR deficiency on MR expression was unexpected. How the lack of iCCRs affects other tissues and how they function would be interesting to investigate. For understanding BP regulation, characterising how iCCR deficiency affects the vasculature needs to be carried out. This would involve determining the infiltration of monocytes and macrophages in the vasculature. Assessing vascular function in resting WT and iCCR-KO mice would also be interesting as a slight difference between sham treated WT and iCCR-KO mice was identified. The effect of PVAT on vascular function in these mice should also be investigated by carrying out wire myography with and without PVAT as the experiments described here only focused on vessels after the removal of the PVAT.

6.3 Final conclusion

Overall, the work described here has increased understanding of how iCCRs influence hypertension and BP regulation. Characterising iCCR expression in Ang II induced hypertension has shown that Ang II has few effects on iCCR expression. However, aortic CCR2 and CCR5 mRNA expression increased in response to Ang II. iCCR deficiency was shown to be protective against Ang II induced vascular dysfunction, but had no effect on BP. iCCR deficiency was also shown to reduce the infiltration of monocytes in the kidney and reduce kidney MR expression. Further experiments are required to understand if this influences BP.

These experiments have identified iCCRs as possible targets to improve vascular function in hypertension which could reduce the risk of complications of hypertension such as atherosclerosis, MI and stroke.

List of References

- Acosta-Rodriguez, E. V., Napolitani, G., Lanzavecchia, A., Sallusto, F., 2007. Interleukins 1B and 6 but not transforming growth factor-B are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. Nat. Immunol. 8, 942-949.
- Ahern, D., Lloyd, C.M., Robinson, D.S., 2009. Chemokine responsiveness of CD4+
 CD25+ regulatory and CD4+ CD25- T cells from atopic and nonatopic donors.
 Allergy Eur. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 64, 1121-1129.
- Al-gburi, S., Deussen, A.J., Galli, R., Muders, M.H., Zatschler, B., Neisser, A., Müller, B., Kopaliani, I., 2017. Sex-specific differences in age-dependent progression of aortic dysfunction and related cardiac remodeling in spontaneously hypertensive rats 312, 835-849.
- Allen, S.J., Crown, S.E., Handel, T.M., 2007. Chemokine:Receptor Structure, Interactions, and Antagonism. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 25, 787-820.
- Amatya, N., Garg, A. V., Gaffen, S.L., 2017. IL-17 Signaling: The Yin and the Yang. Trends Immunol. 38, 310-322.
- Amsellem, V., Lipskaia, L., Abid, S., Poupel, L., Houssaini, A., Quarck, R.,
 Marcos, E., Mouraret, N., Parpaleix, A., Bobe, R., Gary-Bobo, G., Saker, M.,
 Dubois-Randé, J.L., Gladwin, M.T., Norris, K.A., Delcroix, M., Combadière,
 C., Adnot, S., 2014. CCR5 as a treatment target in pulmonary arterial
 hypertension. Circulation 130, 880-891.
- Anders, H.J., Belemezova, E., Eis, V., Segerer, S., Vielhauer, V., De Lema, G.P., Kretzler, M., Cohen, C.D., Frink, M., Horuk, R., Hudkins, K.L., Alpers, C.E., Mampaso, F., Schlöndorff, D., 2004. Late onset of treatment with a chemokine receptor CCR1 antagonist prevents progression of lupus nephritis in MRL-Fas(lpr) mice. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 15, 1504-1513.
- Antonelli, A., Fallahi, P., Ferrari, S.M., Ghiadoni, L., Virdis, A., Mancusi, C., Centanni, M., Taddei, S., Ferrannini, E., 2012. High serum levels of CXC

(CXCL10) and CC (CCL2) chemokines in untreated essential hypertension. Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 25, 387-395.

- Armas-González, E., Domínguez-Luis, M.J., Díaz-Martín, A., Arce-Franco, M., Castro-Hernández, J., Danelon, G., Hernández-Hernández, V., Bustabad-Reyes, S., Cantabrana, A., Uguccioni, M., Díaz-González, F., 2018. Role of CXCL13 and CCL20 in the recruitment of B cells to inflammatory foci in chronic arthritis. Arthritis Res. Ther. 20, 1-12.
- Ascon, D.B., Ascon, M., Satpute, S., Lopez-Briones, S., Racusen, L., Colvin, R.B.,
 Soloski, M.J., Rabb, H., 2008. Normal mouse kidneys contain activated and
 CD3 + CD4 CD8 double-negative T lymphocytes with a distinct TCR
 repertoire . J. Leukoc. Biol. 84, 1400-1409.
- Baaten, B.J.G., Li, C.R., Deiro, M.F., Lin, M.M., Linton, P.J., Bradley, L.M.,
 2010. CD44 Regulates Survival and Memory Development in Th1 Cells.
 Immunity 32, 104-115.
- Barber, R.D., Harmer, D.W., Coleman, R.A., Clark, B.J., 2005. GAPDH as a housekeeping gene: Analysis of GAPDH mRNA expression in a panel of 72 human tissues. Physiol. Genomics 21, 389-395.
- Barhoumi, T., Kasal, D.A., Li, M.W., Shbat, L., Laurant, P., Neves, M.F., Paradis,
 P., Schiffrin, E.L., 2011. T Regulatory lymphocytes prevent angiotensin IIinduced hypertension and vascular injury. Hypertension 57, 469-476.
- Basting, T., Lazartigues, E., 2017. DOCA-Salt Hypertension: an Update. Curr. Hypertens. Rep. 19, 1-8.
- Benigni, A., Cassis, P., Remuzzi, G., 2010. Angiotensin II revisited: New roles in inflammation, immunology and aging. EMBO Mol. Med. 2, 247-257.
- Benjamin, E.J., Muntner, P., Alonso, A., Bittencourt, M.S., Callaway, C.W.,
 Carson, A.P., Chamberlain, A.M., Chang, A.R., Cheng, S., Das, S.R., Delling,
 F.N., Djousse, L., Elkind, M.S.V., Ferguson, J.F., Fornage, M., Jordan, L.C.,
 Khan, S.S., Kissela, B.M., Knutson, K.L., Kwan, T.W., Lackland, D.T., Lewis,

T.T., Lichtman, J.H., Longenecker, C.T., Loop, M.S., Lutsey, P.L., Martin, S.S., Matsushita, K., Moran, A.E., Mussolino, M.E., O'Flaherty, M., Pandey, A., Perak, A.M., Rosamond, W.D., Roth, G.A., Sampson, U.K.A., Satou, G.M., Schroeder, E.B., Shah, S.H., Spartano, N.L., Stokes, A., Tirschwell, D.L., Tsao, C.W., Turakhia, M.P., VanWagner, L.B., Wilkins, J.T., Wong, S.S., Virani, S.S., 2019. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 139, e56-e528.

- Bergheanu, S.C., Bodde, M.C., Jukema, J.W., 2017. Pathophysiology and treatment of atherosclerosis: Current view and future perspective on lipoprotein modification treatment. Netherlands Hear. J. 25, 231-242.
- Bianchi, M.E., 2007. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J. Leukoc. Biol. 81, 1-5.
- Blowey, D.L., 2016. Diuretics in the treatment of hypertension. Pediatr. Nephrol. 31, 2223-2233.
- Boehm, T., Swann, J.B., 2013. Origin and Evolution of Adaptive Immunity. Annu. Rev. Anim. Biosci. 2, 259-283.
- Bonecchi, R., Graham, G.J., 2016. Atypical chemokine receptors and their roles in the resolution of the inflammatory response. Front. Immunol. 7, 1-7.
- Bonilla, F.A., Oettgen, H.C., 2010. Adaptive Immunity. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125, S33-S40.
- Brands, M.W., Banes-Berceli, A.K.L., Inscho, E.W., Al-Azawi, H., Allen, A.J., Labazi, H., 2010. Interleukin 6 knockout prevents angiotensin II hypertension: Role of renal vasoconstriction and janus kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 activation. Hypertension 56, 879-884.
- Brightling, C.E., Ammit, A.J., Kaur, D., Black, J.L., Wardlaw, A.J., Hughes, J.M.,
 Bradding, P., 2005a. The CXCL10/CXCR3 axis mediates human lung mast cell
 migration to asthmatic airway smooth muscle. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care

Med. 171, 1103-1108.

- Brightling, C.E., Kaur, D., Berger, P., Morgan, A.J., Wardlaw, A.J., Bradding, P.,
 2005b. Differential expression of CCR3 and CXCR3 by human lung and bone
 marrow-derived mast cells: implications for tissue mast cell migration. J.
 Leukoc. Biol. 77, 759-766.
- Caillon, A., Mian, M.O.R., Fraulob-Aquino, J.C., Huo, K.G., Barhoumi, T., Ouerd,
 S., Sinnaeve, P.R., Paradis, P., Schiffrin, E.L., 2017. γδ T cells mediate
 angiotensin II-induced hypertension and vascular injury. Circulation 135,
 2155-2162.
- Carnevale, D., Pallante, F., Fardella, V., Fardella, S., Iacobucci, R., Federici,
 M., Cifelli, G., DeLucia, M., Lembo, G., 2014. The angiogenic factor PIGF mediates a neuroimmune interaction in the spleen to allow the onset of hypertension. Immunity 41, 737-752.
- Carver, K.A., Smith, T.L., Gallagher, P.E., Tallant, E.A., 2015. Angiotensin-(1-7) prevents angiotensin ii-induced fibrosis in cremaster microvessels. Microcirculation 22, 19-27.
- Castellino, F., Germain, R.N., 2006. Cooperation Between CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells: When, Where, and How. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 24, 519-540.
- Caza, T., Landas, S., 2015. Functional and Phenotypic Plasticity of CD4+ T Cell Subsets. Biomed Res. Int. 2015, 1-13.
- Chan, C.T., Lieu, M., Toh, B.H., Kyaw, T.S., Bobik, A., Sobey, C.G., Drummond, G.R., 2014. Antibodies in the pathogenesis of hypertension. Biomed Res. Int. 2014.
- Chan, C.T., Moore, J.P., Budzyn, K., Guida, E., Diep, H., Vinh, A., Jones, E.S.,
 Widdop, R.E., Armitage, J.A., Sakkal, S., Ricardo, S.D., Sobey, C.G.,
 Drummond, G.R., 2012. Reversal of vascular macrophage accumulation and
 hypertension by a CCR2 antagonist in deoxycorticosterone/salt-treated
 mice. Hypertension 60, 1207-1212.
- Chan, C.T., Sobey, C.G., Lieu, M., Ferens, D., Kett, M.M., Diep, H., Kim, H.A., Krishnan, S.M., Lewis, C. V., Salimova, E., Tipping, P., Vinh, A., Samuel, C.S., Peter, K., Guzik, T.J., Kyaw, T.S., Toh, B.H., Bobik, A., Drummond, G.R., 2015. Obligatory role for B cells in the development of angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. Hypertension 66, 1023-1033.
- Chen, L., Fan, J., Chen, H., Meng, Z., Chen, Z., Wang, P., Liu, L., 2014. The IL-8/CXCR1 axis is associated with cancer stem cell-like properties and correlates with clinical prognosis in human pancreatic cancer cases. Sci. Rep. 4, 1-7.
- Chen, S.C., De Groot, M., Kinsley, D., Laverty, M., McClanahan, T., Arreaza, M., Gustafson, E.L., Teunissen, M.B.M., De Rie, M.A., Fine, J.S., Kraan, M., 2010. Expression of chemokine receptor CXCR3 by lymphocytes and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in human psoriatic lesions. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 302, 113-123.
- Clements, M., Gershenovich, M., Chaber, C., Campos-Rivera, J., Du, P., Zhang,
 M., Ledbetter, S., Zuk, A., 2016. Differential Ly6C Expression after Renal
 Ischemia-Reperfusion Identifies Unique Macrophage Populations. J. Am. Soc.
 Nephrol. 27, 159-170.
- Coates, P.T.H., Colvin, B.L., Ranganathan, A., Duncan, F.J., Yuk, Y.L., Shufesky,
 W.J., Zahorchak, A.F., Morelli, A.E., Thomson, A.W., 2004. CCR and CC
 chemokine expression in relation to Flt3 ligand-induced renal dendritic cell
 mobilization. Kidney Int. 66, 1907-1917.
- Corcione, A., Tortolina, G., Bonecchi, R., Battilana, N., Taborelli, G., Malavasi, F., Sozzani, S., Ottonello, L., Dallegri, F., Pistoia, V., 2002. Chemotaxis of human tonsil B lymphocytes to CC chemokine receptor (CCR) 1, CCR2 and CCR4 ligands is restricted to non-germinal center cells. Int. Immunol. 14, 883-892.
- Crane, M.J., Daley, J.M., Van Houtte, O., Brancato, S.K., Henry, W.L., Albina, J.E., 2014. The monocyte to macrophage transition in the murine sterile wound. PLoS One 9.

- Da Silva, A.A., Do Carmo, J.M., Kanyicska, B., Dubinion, J., Brandon, E., Hall, J.E., 2008. Endogenous melanocortin system activity contributes to the elevated arterial pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 51, 884-890.
- da Silva, E.Z.M., Jamur, M.C., Oliver, C., 2014. Mast Cell Function: A New Vision of an Old Cell. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 62, 698-738.
- Dal-Secco, D., Wang, J., Zeng, Z., Kolaczkowska, E., Wong, C.H.Y., Petri, B., Ransohoff, R.M., Charo, I.F., Jenne, C.N., Kubes, P., 2015. A dynamic spectrum of monocytes arising from the in situ reprogramming of CCR2 ⁺ monocytes at a site of sterile injury. J. Exp. Med. 212, 447-456.
- Danilova, E., Skrindo, I., Gran, E., Hales, B.J., Smith, W.A., Jahnsen, J.,
 Johansen, F.E., Jahnsen, F.L., Baekkevold, E.S., 2015. A role for CCL28CCR3 in T-cell homing to the human upper airway mucosa. Mucosal
 Immunol. 8, 107-114.
- Darash-Yahana, M., Pikarsky, E., Abramovitch, R., Zeira, E., Pal, B., Karplus, R.,
 Beider, K., Avniel, S., Kasem, S., Galun, E., Peled, A., 2004. Role of high
 expression levels of CXCR4 in tumor growth, vascularization, and metastasis.
 FASEB J. 18, 1240-1242.
- De Ciuceis, C., Amiri, F., Brassard, P., Endemann, D.H., Touyz, R.M., Schiffrin, E.L., 2005. Reduced vascular remodeling, endothelial dysfunction, and oxidative stress in resistance arteries of angiotensin II-infused macrophage colony-stimulating factor-deficient mice: Evidence for a role in inflammation in angiotensin-induced vascular injury. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25, 2106-2113.
- de Oliveira, C.E., Gasparoto, T.H., Pinheiro, C.R., Amôr, N.G., Nogueira, M.R.S., Kaneno, R., Garlet, G.P., Lara, V.S., Silva, J.S., Cavassani, K.A., Campanelli, A.P., 2017. CCR5-Dependent Homing of T Regulatory Cells to the Tumor Microenvironment Contributes to Skin Squamous Cell Carcinoma Development. Mol. Cancer Ther. 16, 2871-2880.

- Dean, M., Carrington, M., Winkler, C., Huttley, G.A., Smith, M.W., Allikmets, R., Goedert, J.J., Buchbinder, S.P., Vittinghoff, E., Gomperts, E., Donfield, S., Vlahov, D., Kaslow, R., Saah, A., Rinaldo, C., Detels, R., O'Brien, S.J., 1996. Genetic Restriction of HIV-1 Infection and Progression to AIDS by a Deletion Allele of the CKR5 Structural Gene. Science (80-.). 273, 1856-1862.
- Debonneville, C., Flores, S.Y., Kamynina, E., Plant, P.J., Tauxe, C., Thomas,
 M.A., Münster, C., Chraïbi, A., Pratt, J.H., Horisberger, J.D., Pearce, D.,
 Loffing, J., Staub, O., 2001. Phosphorylation of Nedd4-2 by Sgk1 regulates
 epithelial Na + channel cell surface expression. EMBO J. 20, 7052-7059.
- Dehmel, S., Wang, S., Schmidt, C., Kiss, E., Loewe, R.P., Chilla, S., Schlöndorff,
 D., Gröne, H.J., Luckow, B., 2010. Chemokine receptor Ccr5 deficiency
 induces alternative macrophage activation and improves long-term renal
 allograft outcome. Eur. J. Immunol. 40, 267-278.
- Del Pozo, V., de Andrés, B., Martín, E., Cárdaba, B., Fernández, J.C., Gallardo, S., Tramón, P., Palomino, P., Lahoz, C., Leyva-Cobian, F., 1992. Eosinophil as antigen-presenting cell: activation of T cell clones and T cell hybridoma by eosinophils after antigen processing. Eur. J. Immunol. 22, 1919-1925.
- Deng, G., Long, Y., Yu, Y.R., Li, M.R., 2010. Adiponectin directly improves endothelial dysfunction in obese rats through the AMPK-eNOS Pathway. Int. J. Obes. 34, 165-171.
- Deng, H., Liu, R., Ellmeier, W., Choe, S., Unutmaz, D., Burkhart, M., Di Marzio,
 P., Marmon, S., Sutton, R., Hill, C., Davis, C., Peiper, S., Schall, T.,
 Littman, D., Landau, N., 1996. Identification of a major co-receptor for
 primary isolates of HIV-1.
- DeVries, M.E., Kelvin, A.A., Xu, L., Ran, L., Robinson, J., Kelvin, D.J., 2006. Defining the Origins and Evolution of the Chemokine/Chemokine Receptor System. J. Immunol. 176, 401-415.
- Di Nardo, A., Vitiello, A., Gallo, R.L., 2003. Cutting Edge: Mast Cell Antimicrobial Activity Is Mediated by Expression of Cathelicidin

Antimicrobial Peptide. J. Immunol. 170, 2274-2278.

- Dimberg, A., 2010. Chemokines in angiogenesis. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 341, 59-80.
- Dingwell, L.S., Shikatani, E.A., Besla, R., Levy, A.S., Dinh, D.D., Momen, A.,
 Zhang, H., Afroze, T., Chen, M.B., Chiu, F., Simmons, C.A., Billia, F.,
 Gommerman, J.L., John, R., Heximer, S., Scholey, J.W., Bolz, S.-S.,
 Robbins, C.S., Husain, M., 2019. B-Cell Deficiency Lowers Blood Pressure in
 Mice. Hypertension 561-570.
- Dokka, S., Shi, X.L., Leonard, S., Wang, L.Y., Castranova, V., Rojanasakul, Y.,
 2001. Interleukin-10-mediated inhibition of free radical generation in
 macrophages. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Mol. Physiol. 280, L1196-L1202.
- Donnelly, L.E., Barnes, P.J., 2006. Chemokine receptors as therapeutic targets in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 27, 546-553.
- Doris, P.A., 2017. Genetics of hypertension: an assessment of progress in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Physiol. Genomics 49, 601-617.
- Dornas, W.C., Silva, M.E., 2011. Animal models for the study of arterial hypertension. J. Biosci. 36, 731-737.
- Dorr, P., Westby, M., Dobbs, S., Griffin, P., Irvine, B., Macartney, M., Mori, J., Rickett, G., Smith-Burchnell, C., Napier, C., Webster, R., Armour, D., Price, D., Stammen, B., Wood, A., Perros, M., 2005. Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a Potent, Orally Bioavailable, and Selective Small-Molecule Inhibitor of Chemokine Receptor CCR5 with Broad-Spectrum Anti-Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Activity. Antimicrob. agents Chemother. 49, 4721-4732.
- Durante, P., Chávez, M., Pérez, M., Romero, F., Rivera, F., 2010. Effect of uric acid on hypertension progression in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Life Sci. 86, 957-964.

- Duvic, M., Pinter-Brown, L.C., Foss, F.M., Sokol, L., Jorgensen, J.L.,
 Challagundla, P., Dwyer, K.M., Zhang, X., Kurman, M.R., Ballerini, R., Liu,
 L., Kim, Y.H., 2015. Phase 1/2 study of mogamulizumab, a defucosylated anti-CCR4 antibody, in previously treated patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Blood 125, 1883-1889.
- Dyer, D.P., Medina-Ruiz, L., Bartolini, R., Schuette, F., Hughes, C.E., Pallas, K.,
 Vidler, F., Macleod, M.K.L., Kelly, C.J., Lee, K.M., Hansell, C.A.H., Graham,
 G.J., 2019. Chemokine Receptor Redundancy and Specificity Are Context
 Dependent. Immunity 50, 378-389.e5.
- Eisenberg, M.J., Brox, A., Bestawros, A.N., 2004. Calcium channel blockers: An update. Am. J. Med. 116, 35-43.
- Elesgaray, R., Caniffi, C., Ierace, D.R., Jaime, M.F.V., Fellet, A., Arranz, C., Costa, M.Á., 2008. Signaling cascade that mediates endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation induced by atrial natriuretic peptide. Regul. Pept. 151, 130-134.
- Elliott, D.E., Siddique, S.S., Weinstock, J. V., 2014. Innate immunity in disease. Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 12, 749-755.
- Elmarakby, A.A., Quigley, J.E., Olearczyk, J.J., Sridhar, A., Cook, A.K., Inscho, E.W., Pollock, D.M., Imig, J.D., 2007. Chemokine receptor 2b inhibition provides renal protection in angiotensin II-salt hypertension. Hypertension 50, 1069-1076.
- Espinosa, V., Dutta, O., Elrath, C.M., Du, P., Chang, Y.-J., Cicciarelli, B., Pitler,
 A., Whitehead, I., Obar, J.J., Durbin, J., Kotenko, S., Rivera, A., 2017. Type
 III interferon is a critical regulator of innate antifungal immunity. Sci.
 Immunol. 2.
- Evans, L.C., Petrova, G., Kurth, T., Yang, C., Bukowy, J.D., Mattson, D.L., Cowley, A.W., 2017. Increased Perfusion Pressure Drives Renal T-Cell Infiltration in the Dahl Salt-Sensitive Rat. Hypertension 70, 543-551.

- Evrard, M., Kwok, I.W.H., Chong, S.Z., Teng, K.W.W., Becht, E., Chen, J.,
 Sieow, J.L., Penny, H.L., Ching, G.C., Devi, S., Adrover, J.M., Li, J.L.Y.,
 Liong, K.H., Tan, L., Poon, Z., Foo, S., Chua, J.W., Su, I.H., Balabanian, K.,
 Bachelerie, F., Biswas, S.K., Larbi, A., Hwang, W.Y.K., Madan, V., Koeffler,
 H.P., Wong, S.C., Newell, E.W., Hidalgo, A., Ginhoux, F., Ng, L.G., 2018.
 Developmental Analysis of Bone Marrow Neutrophils Reveals Populations
 Specialized in Expansion, Trafficking, and Effector Functions. Immunity 48, 364-379.e8.
- Falkenham, A., Antueno, R. De, Rosin, N., Betsch, D., Lee, T.D.G., Duncan, R.,
 Legare, J.-F., 2015. Nonclassical Resident Macrophages Are Important
 Determinants in the Development of Myocardial Fibrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 185, 927-942.
- Fang, W. Bin, Jokar, I., Zou, A., Lambert, D., Dendukuri, P., Cheng, N., 2012. CCL2/CCR2 chemokine signaling coordinates survival and motility of breast cancer cells through Smad3 protein- and p42/44 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependent mechanisms. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 36593-36608.
- Fantin, A., Vieira, J.M., Gestri, G., Denti, L., Schwarz, Q., Prykhozhij, S., Peri, F., Wilson, S.W., Ruhrberg, C., 2010. Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood 116, 829-840.
- Farooq, S.M., Stillie, R., Svensson, M., Svanborg, C., Strieter, R.M., Stadnyk,
 A.W., 2009. Therapeutic Effect of Blocking CXCR2 on Neutrophil
 Recruitment and Dextran Sodium Sulfate-Induced Colitis. J. Pharmacol. Exp.
 Ther. 329, 123-129.
- Fauriat, C., Long, E.O., Ljunggren, H.G., Bryceson, Y.T., 2010. Regulation of human NK-cell cytokine and chemokine production by target cell recognition. Blood 115, 2167-2176.
- Fenton, R.A., Poulsen, S.B., de la Mora Chavez, S., Soleimani, M., Dominguez Rieg, J.A., Rieg, T., 2017. Renal tubular NHE3 is required in the maintenance of water and sodium chloride homeostasis. Kidney Int. 92, 397-

- Fernandez, E.J., Lolis, E., 2002. Structure, Function and Inhibition of Chemokines. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 42, 469-499.
- Foley, J.F., Yu, C.-R., Solow, R., Yacobucci, M., Peden, K.W.C., Farber, J.M.,
 2014. Roles for CXC Chemokine Ligands 10 and 11 in Recruiting CD4+ T Cells to HIV-1-Infected Monocyte-Derived Macrophages, Dendritic Cells, and
 Lymph Nodes. J. Immunol. 174, 4892-4900.
- Ford, L.B., Cerovic, V., Milling, S.W.F., Graham, G.J., Hansell, C.A.H., Nibbs,
 R.J.B., 2014. Characterization of Conventional and Atypical Receptors for
 the Chemokine CCL2 on Mouse Leukocytes. J. Immunol. 193, 400-411.
- Förster, R., Davalos-Misslitz, A.C., Rot, A., 2008. CCR7 and its ligands: Balancing immunity and tolerance. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8, 362-371.
- Forster, R., Krueger, A., Willenzon, S., Lyszkiewicz, M., Kremmer, E., 2009. CC chemokine receptor 7 and 9 double-deficient hematopoietic progenitors are severely impaired in seeding the adult thymus. Blood 115, 1906-1912.
- Förster, R., Mattis, A.E., Kremmer, E., Wolf, E., Brem, G., Lipp, M., 1996. A putative chemokine receptor, BLR1, directs B cell migration to defined lymphoid organs and specific anatomic compartments of the spleen. Cell 87, 1037-1047.
- Fox, J.M., Kasprowicz, R., Hartley, O., Signoret, N., 2015. CCR5 susceptibility to ligand-mediated down-modulation differs between human T lymphocytes and myeloid cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 98, 59-71.
- Francois, H., Makhanova, N., Ruiz, P., Ellison, J., Mao, L., Rockman, H.A., Coffman, T.M., 2008. A role for the thromboxane receptor in l -NAME hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 295, F1096-F1102.
- Franken, L., Klein, M., Spasova, M., Elsukova, A., Wiedwald, U., Welz, M., Knolle, P., Farle, M., Limmer, A., Kurts, C., 2015. Splenic red pulp

macrophages are intrinsically superparamagnetic and contaminate magnetic cell isolates. Sci. Rep. 5, 1-10.

- Frey, R.S., Ushio-Fukai, M., Malik, A.B., 2008. NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Signaling in Endothelial Cells: Role in Physiology and Pathophysiology. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 11, 791-810.
- Fukada, K., Sobao, Y., Tomiyama, H., Oka, S., Takiguchi, M., 2002. Functional Expression of the Chemokine Receptor CCR5 on Virus Epitope-Specific Memory and Effector CD8+ T Cells. J. Immunol. 168, 2225-2232.
- Funder, J.W., 2005. Mineralocorticoid Receptors: Distribution and Activation. Heart Fail. Rev. 10, 15-22.
- Furuichi, K., Gao, J.-L., Horuk, R., Wada, T., Kaneko, S., Murphy, P.M., 2008.
 Chemokine Receptor CCR1 Regulates Inflammatory Cell Infiltration after Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. J. Immunol. 181, 8670-8676.
- Galmiche, G., Pizard, A., Gueret, A., El Moghrabi, S., Ouvrard-Pascaud, A.,
 Berger, S., Challande, P., Jaffe, I.Z., Labat, C., Lacolley, P., Jaisser, F.,
 2014. Smooth muscle cell mineralocorticoid receptors are mandatory for aldosterone-salt to induce vascular stiffness. Hypertension 63, 520-526.
- Gálvez-Prieto, B., Bolbrinker, J., Stucchi, P., de las Heras, A.I., Merino, B., Arribas, S., Ruiz-Gayo, M., Huber, M., Wehland, M., Kreutz, R., Fernandez-Alfonso, M.S., 2008. Comparative expression analysis of the renin -Angiotensin system components between white and brown perivascular adipose tissue. J. Endocrinol. 197, 55-64.
- Gao, Y.J., Lu, C., Su, L.Y., Sharma, A.M., Lee, R.M.K.W., 2007. Modulation of vascular function by perivascular adipose tissue: The role of endothelium and hydrogen peroxide. Br. J. Pharmacol. 151, 323-331.
- Gao, Y.J., Takemori, K., Su, L.Y., An, W.S., Lu, C., Sharma, A.M., Lee,
 R.M.K.W., 2006. Perivascular adipose tissue promotes vasoconstriction: the role of superoxide anion. Cardiovasc. Res. 71, 363-373.

- Gaspar, K., Kukova, G., Bunemann, E., Buhren, B.A., Sonkoly, E., Szollosi, A.G.,
 Muller, A., Savinko, T., Lauerma, A.I., Alenius, H., Kemeny, L., DieuNosjean, M.C., Stander, S., Fischer, J.W., Ruzicka, T., Zlotnik, A., Szegedi,
 A., Homey, B., 2013. The chemokine receptor CCR3 participates in tissue
 remodeling during atopic skin inflammation. J. Dermatol. Sci. 71, 12-21.
- Geissmann, F., Jung, S., Littman, D.R., 2003. Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. Immunity 19, 71-82.
- Germain, R.N., 2002. T-cell development and the CD4-CD8 lineage decision. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2, 309-322.
- Geslewitz, W.E., Percopo, C.M., Rosenberg, H.F., 2018. FACS isolation of live mouse eosinophils at high purity via a protocol that does not target Siglec F.J. Immunol. Methods 454, 27-31.
- Gewaltig, M.T., Kojda, G., 2002. Vasoprotection by nitric oxide: Mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Cardiovasc. Res. 55, 250-260.
- Giannandrea, M., Parks, W.C., 2014. Diverse functions of matrix metalloproteinases during fibrosis. DMM Dis. Model. Mech. 7, 193-203.
- Ginhoux, F., Greter, M., Leboeuf, M., Nandi, S., See, P., Gokhan, S., Mehler,
 M.F., Conway, S.J., Ng, L.G., Stanley, E.R., Samokhvalov, I.M., Merad, M.,
 2010. Fate Mapping Analysis Reveals That Adult Microglia Dervive from
 Primitive Macrophages. Science (80-.). 701, 841-845.
- Godo, S., Shimokawa, H., 2017. Endothelial Functions. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 37, e108-e114.
- Gouwy, M., Struyf, S., Leutenez, L., Pörtner, N., Sozzani, S., Van Damme, J., 2014. Chemokines and other GPCR ligands synergize in receptor-mediated migration of monocyte-derived immature and mature dendritic cells. Immunobiology 219, 218-229.

Guyenet, P.G., 2006. The sympathetic control of blood pressure. Nat. Rev.

- Guzik, T.J., Hoch, N.E., Brown, K.A., McCann, L.A., Rahman, A., Dikalov, S.,
 Goronzy, J., Weyand, C., Harrison, D.G., 2007. Role of the T cell in the
 genesis of angiotensin II-induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. J.
 Exp. Med. 204, 2449-2460.
- Guzik, T.J., West, N.E.J., Black, E., Mcdonald, D., Ratnatunga, C., Pillai, R.,Channon, K.M., 2000. Association With Endothelial Dysfunction and ClinicalRisk Factors. Circ Res 86, 85-90.
- Hales, C.M., Carroll, M.D., Simon, P.A., Kuo, T., Ogden, C.L., 2017.
 Hypertension Prevalence, Awareness, Treatment, and Control Among Adults
 Aged ≥18 Years Los Angeles County, 1999-2006 and 2007-2014. MMWR.
 Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 66, 846-849.
- Handel, T.M., Domaille, P.J., 1996. Heteronuclear (¹ H, ¹³ C, ¹⁵ N) NMR Assignments and Solution Structure of the Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1) Dimer [†], [‡]. Biochemistry 35, 6569-6584.
- Hanlon, C.D., Andrew, D.J., 2015. Outside-in signaling A brief review of GPCR signaling with a focus on the Drosophila GPCR family. J. Cell Sci. 128, 3533-3542.
- Hansell, C.A.H., Fraser, A.R., Hayes, A.J., Pingen, M., Burt, C.L., Lee, K.M.,
 Medina-Ruiz, L., Brownlie, D., Macleod, M.K.L., Burgoyne, P., Wilson, G.J.,
 Nibbs, R.J.B., Graham, G.J., 2018. The Atypical Chemokine Receptor Ackr2
 Constrains NK Cell Migratory Activity and Promotes Metastasis. J. Immunol.
 ji1800131.
- Haque, N.S., Fallon, J.T., Pan, J.J., Taubman, M.B., Harpel, P.C., 2004.
 Chemokine receptor-8 (CCR8) mediates human vascular smooth muscle cell chemotaxis and metalloproteinase-2 secretion. Blood 103, 1296-1304.
- Harboe, M., Thorgersen, E.B., Mollnes, T.E., 2011. Advances in assay of complement function and activation. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 63, 976-987.

- Haringman, J.J., Smeets, T.J.M., Reinders-Blankert, P., Tak, P.P., 2006.
 Chemokine and chemokine receptor expression in paired peripheral blood mononuclear cells and synovial tissue of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, and reactive arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 65, 294-300.
- Hashmat, S., Rudemiller, N., Lund, H., Abais-Battad, J.M., Van Why, S.,
 Mattson, D.L., 2016. Interleukin-6 inhibition attenuates hypertension and associated renal damage in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 311, F555-F561.
- Hausmann, O. V., Gentinetta, T., Fux, M., Ducrest, S., Pichler, W.J., Dahinden,C.A., 2011. Robust expression of CCR3 as a single basophil selection marker in flow cytometry. Allergy Eur. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 66, 85-91.
- Hayakawa, Y., Smyth, M.J., 2006. CD27 Dissects Mature NK Cells into Two Subsets with Distinct Responsiveness and Migratory Capacity. J. Immunol. 176, 1517-1524.
- Herrera, J., Ferrebuz, A., MacGregor, E.G., Rodriguez-Iturbe, B., 2006.Mycophenolate Mofetil Treatment Improves Hypertension in Patients with Psoriasis and Rheumatoid Arthritis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 17, S218-S225.
- Hevia, D., Araos, P., Prado, C., Luppichini, E.F., Rojas, M., Alzamora, R.,
 Cifuentes-Araneda, F., Gonzalez, A.A., Amador, C.A., Pacheco, R., Michea,
 L., 2018. Myeloid CD11c+ antigen-presenting cells ablation prevents
 hypertension in response to angiotensin II plus high-salt diet. Hypertension
 71, 709-718.
- Hirasawa, G., Sasano, H., Takahashi, K.-I., Fukushima, K., Suzuki, T., Hiwatashi,
 N., Toyota, T., Krozowski, Z.S., Nagura, H., 1997. Colocalization of 11bHydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase Type II and Mineralocorticoid Receptor in
 Human Epithelia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 82, 3859-3863.
- Hochweller, K., Wabnitz, G.H., Samstag, Y., Suffner, J., Hammerling, G.J.,Garbi, N., 2010. Dendritic cells control T cell tonic signaling required for responsiveness to foreign antigen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 5931-5936.

- Hoeffel, G., Ginhoux, F., 2015. Ontogeny of tissue-resident macrophages. Front. Immunol. 6.
- Homey, B., Alenius, H., M Uuml Ller, A., Soto, H., Bowman, E.P., Yuan, W.,
 Mcevoy, L., Lauerma, A.I., Assmann, T., B Uuml Nemann, E., Lehto, M.,
 Wolff, H., Yen, D., Marxhausen, H., To, W., Sedgwick, J., Ruzicka, T.,
 Lehmann, P., Zlotnik, A., 2002. CCL27 [ndash] | CCR10 interactions regulate
 T cell [ndash] | mediated skin inflammation. Nat. Med. 8, 157.
- Horns, F., Vollmers, C., Croote, D., Mackey, S.F., Swan, G.E., Dekker, C.L.,Davis, M.M., Quake, S.R., 2016. Lineage tracing of human B cells reveals the in vivo landscape of human antibody class switching. Elife 5, 1-20.
- Hsu, H.-H., Duning, K., Meyer, H.H., Stölting, M., Weide, T., Kreusser, S., van Le, T., Gerard, C., Telgmann, R., Brand-Herrmann, S.-M., Pavenstädt, H., Bek, M.J., 2009. Hypertension in mice lacking the CXCR3 chemokine receptor. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 296, F780-F789.
- Huang, L., Wang, A., Hao, Y., Li, W., Liu, C., Yang, Z., Zheng, F., Zhou, M.S.,
 2018. Macrophage depletion lowered blood pressure and attenuated
 hypertensive renal injury and fibrosis. Front. Physiol. 9, 1-11.
- Hubert, F.-X., Kinkel, S.A., Davey, G.M., Phipson, B., Mueller, S.N., Liston, A.,
 Proietto, A.I., Cannon, P.Z.F., Forehan, S., Smyth, G.K., Wu, L., Goodnow,
 C.C., Carbone, F.R., Scott, H.S., Heath, W.R., 2011. Aire regulates the
 transfer of antigen from mTECs to dendritic cells for induction of thymic
 tolerance Franc 118, 2462-2473.
- Hulsmans, M., Clauss, S., Xiao, L., Aguirre, A.D., King, K.R., Hanley, A., Hucker, W.J., Wülfers, E.M., Seemann, G., Courties, G., Iwamoto, Y., Sun, Y., Savol, A.J., Sager, H.B., Lavine, K.J., Fishbein, G.A., Capen, D.E., Da Silva, N., Miquerol, L., Wakimoto, H., Seidman, C.E., Seidman, J.G., Sadreyev, R.I., Naxerova, K., Mitchell, R.N., Brown, D., Libby, P., Weissleder, R., Swirski, F.K., Kohl, P., Vinegoni, C., Milan, D.J., Ellinor, P.T., Nahrendorf, M., 2017. Macrophages Facilitate Electrical Conduction in the Heart. Cell 169, 510-522.e20.

- Inoue, T., Plieth, D., Venkov, C.D., Xu, C., Neilson, E.G., 2005. Antibodies against macrophages that overlap in specificity with fibroblasts. Kidney Int. 67, 2488-2493.
- Ishibashi, M., Hiasa, K.I., Zhao, Q., Inoue, S., Ohtani, K., Kitamoto, S.,
 Tsuchihashi, M., Sugaya, T., Charo, I.F., Kura, S., Tsuzuki, T., Ishibashi, T.,
 Takeshita, A., Egashira, K., 2004. Critical role of monocyte chemoattractant
 protein-1 receptor CCR2 on monocytes in hypertension-induced vascular
 inflammation and remodeling. Circ. Res. 94, 1203-1210.
- Islam, S., Shimizu, N., Hoque, S.A., Jinno-Oue, A., Tanaka, A., Hoshino, H., 2013. CCR6 Functions as a New Coreceptor for Limited Primary Human and Simian Immunodeficiency Viruses. PLoS One 8, 1-12.
- Itani, H.A., McMaster, W.G., Saleh, M.A., Nazarewicz, R.R., Mikolajczyk, T.P.,
 Kaszuba, A.M., Konior, A., Prejbisz, A., Januszewicz, A., Norlander, A.E.,
 Chen, W., Bonami, R.H., Marshall, A.F., Poffenberger, G., Weyand, C.M.,
 Madhur, M.S., Moore, D.J., Harrison, D.G., Guzik, T.J., 2016. Activation of
 Human T Cells in Hypertension: Studies of Humanized Mice and Hypertensive
 Humans. Hypertension 68, 123-132.
- Jiao, Y., Zhang, T., Wang, R., Zhang, H., Huang, X., Yin, J., Zhang, L., Xu, X., Wu, H., 2012. Plasma IP-10 Is Associated with Rapid Disease Progression in Early HIV-1 Infection. Viral Immunol. 25, 333-337.
- Jo, C.H., Oh, S.K.I.H., Park, J.S., Kim, G.H., 2017. Alteration of tight junction protein expression in dahl salt-sensitive rat kidney. Kidney Blood Press. Res. 42, 951-960.
- Johnson, E.L., Singh, R., Johnson-Holiday, C.M., Grizzle, W.E., Partridge, E.E., Lillard, J.W., Singh, S., 2010. CCR9 interactions support ovarian cancer cell survival and resistance to cisplatin-induced apoptosis in a PI3K-dependent and FAK-independent fashion. J. Ovarian Res. 3, 1-8.
- Josefowicz, S.Z., Rudensky, A., 2009. Control of Regulatory T Cell Lineage Commitment and Maintenance. Immunity 30, 616-625.

- Joubert, P., Lajoie-Kadoch, S., Labonte, I., Gounni, A.S., Maghni, K.,
 Wellemans, V., Chakir, J., Laviolette, M., Hamid, Q., Lamkhioued, B., 2005.
 CCR3 Expression and Function in Asthmatic Airway Smooth Muscle Cells. J.
 Immunol. 175, 2702-2708.
- Kaneko, Y., Cho, T., Sato, Y., Goto, K., Yamamoto, S., Goto, S., Madaio, M.P.,
 Narita, I., 2018. Attenuated macrophage infiltration in glomeruli of aged
 miceresultinginamelioratedkidneyinjuryinnephrotoxic serum nephritis.
 Journals Gerontol. Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 73, 1178-1186.
- Kannel, W.B., 1996. Blood pressure as a cardiovascular risk factor: Prevention and treatment. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 275, 1571-1576.
- Kashyap, S., Osman, M., Ferguson, C.M., Nath, M.C., Roy, B., Lien, K.R., Nath,
 K.A., Garovic, V.D., Lerman, L.O., Grande, J.P., 2018. Ccl2 deficiency
 protects against chronic renal injury in murine renovascular hypertension.
 Sci. Rep. 8, 1-12.
- Kashyap, S., Warner, G.M., Hartono, S.P., Boyilla, R., Knudsen, B.E., Zubair,
 A.S., Lien, K., Nath, K.A., Textor, S.C., Lerman, L.O., Grande, J.P., 2015.
 Blockade of CCR2 reduces macrophage influx and development of chronic renal damage in murine renovascular hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 310, F372-F384.
- Kaufmann, A., Salentin, R., Gemsa, D., Sprenger, H., 2001. Increase of CCR1 and CCR5 expression and enhanced functional response to MIP-1α during differentiation of human monocytes to macrophages. J. Leukoc. Biol. 69, 248-252.
- Keyel, P.A., 2014. How is inflammation initiated? Individual influences of IL-1, IL-18 and HMGB1. Cytokine 69, 136-145.
- Kholodnyuk, I., Rudevica, Z., Leonciks, A., Ehlin-Henriksson, B., Kashuba, E., 2017. Expression of the chemokine receptors CCR1 and CCR2B is upregulated in peripheral blood B cells upon EBV infection and in established lymphoblastoid cell lines. Virology 512, 1-7.

- Kilkenny, C., Browne, W.J., Cuthill, I.C., Emerson, M., Altman, D.G., 2010. Improving bioscience research reporting: The arrive guidelines for reporting animal research. PLoS Biol. 8, e1000412.
- Kim, H.Y., Cha, H.J., Kim, H.S., 2015. CCL5 upregulates IL-10 expression and partially mediates the antihypertensive effects of IL-10 in the vascular smooth muscle cells of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertens. Res. 38, 666-674.
- Kim, H.Y., Choi, J.H., Kang, Y.J., Park, S.Y., Choi, H.C., Kim, H.S., 2011.
 Reparixin, an Inhibitor of CXCR1 and CXCR2 Receptor Activation, Attenuates
 Blood Pressure and Hypertension-Related Mediators Expression in
 Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 34, 120-127.
- Kim, H.Y., Kang, Y.J., Song, I.H., Choi, H.C., Kim, H.S., 2008. Upregulation of Interleukin-8/CXCL8 in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells from Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats. Hypertens. Res. 31, 515-523.
- Kirabo, A., Fontana, V., De Faria, A.P., Loperena, R., Galindo, C., Wu, J.,
 Bikineyeva, A., Dikalov, S., Xiao, L., Chen, W., Saleh, M., Trott, D., Itani,
 H., Vinh, A., Amarnath, V., Amarnath, K., Guzik, T., Bernstein, K., Shen,
 X., Shyr, Y., Chen, S., Mernaugh, R., Lafer, C., Elijovich, F., Davies, S.,
 Moreno, H., Madhur, M., Roberts, J., Harrison, D., 2014. DC isoketalmodified proteins activate T cells and promote hypertension. J. Clin. Invest.
 124, 4642-4656.
- Klein, F., Feldhahn, N., Lee, S., Wang, H., Ciuffi, F., von Elstermann, M.,
 Toribio, M.L., Sauer, H., Wartenberg, M., Barath, V.S., Kronke, M., Wernet,
 P., Rowley, J.D., Muschen, M., 2003. T lymphoid differentiation in human
 bone marrow. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100, 6747-6752.
- Koelink, P.J., Overbeek, S.A., Braber, S., De Kruijf, P., Folkerts, G., Smit, M.J.,Kraneveld, A.D., 2012. Targeting chemokine receptors in chronicinflammatory diseases: An extensive review. Pharmacol. Ther. 133, 1-18.

Kolaczkowska, E., Kubes, P., 2013. Neutrophil recruitment and function in

health and inflammation. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 13, 159-175.

- Kong, S.-K., Kim, B.S., Hwang, S.M., Lee, H.H., Chung, I.Y., 2016. Roles of RUNX1 and PU.1 in CCR3 Transcription . Immune Netw. 16, 176.
- Kossmann, S., Hu, H., Steven, S., Schönfelder, T., Fraccarollo, D., Mikhed, Y., Brähler, M., Knorr, M., Brandt, M., Karbach, S.H., Becker, C., Oelze, M., Bauersachs, J., Widder, J., Münzel, T., Daiber, A., Wenzel, P., 2014. Inflammatory monocytes determine endothelial nitric-oxide synthase uncoupling and nitro-oxidative stress induced by Angiotensin II. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 27540-27550.
- Kossmann, S., Schwenk, M., Hausding, M., Karbach, S.H., Schmidgen, M.I.,
 Brandt, M., Knorr, M., Hu, H., Kröller-Schön, S., Schönfelder, T., Grabbe,
 S., Oelze, M., Daiber, A., Münzel, T., Becker, C., Wenzel, P., 2013.
 Angiotensin ii-induced vascular dysfunction depends on interferon-γ- driven immune cell recruitment and mutual activation of monocytes and nk-cells.
 Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 33, 1313-1319.
- Kratofil, R.M., Kubes, P., Deniset, J.F., 2017. Monocyte conversion during inflammation and injury. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 37, 35-42.
- Krebs, C., Fraune, C., Schmidt-Haupt, R., Turner, J.E., Panzer, U., N. Quang,
 M., Tannapfel, A., Velden, J., Stahl, R.A., Wenzel, U.O., 2012. CCR5
 deficiency does not reduce hypertensive end-organ damage in mice. Am. J.
 Hypertens. 25, 479-486.
- Krebs, C.F., Lange, S., Niemann, G., Rosendahl, A., Lehners, A., Meyer-Schwesinger, C., Stahl, R.A.K., Benndorf, R.A., Velden, J., Paust, H.J., Panzer, U., Ehmke, H., Wenzel, U.O., 2014. Deficiency of the interleukin 17/23 axis accelerates renal injury in mice with deoxycorticosterone acetate+angiotensin II-induced hypertension. Hypertension 63, 565-571.
- Kulke, R., Bornscheuer, E., Schluter, C., Bartels, J., Rowert, J., Sticherling, M., Christophers, E., 1998. The CXC receptor 2 is overexpressed in psoriatic epidermis. J. Invest. Dermatol. 110, 90-94.

- Kuo, J.J., Silva, A.A., Hall, J.E., 2003. Hypothalamic melanocortin receptors and chronic regulation of arterial pressure and renal function. Hypertension 41, 768-774.
- Kurotaki, D., Uede, T., Tamura, T., 2015. Functions and development of red pulp macrophages. Microbiol. Immunol. 59, 55-62.
- Kurtz, A., Della Bruna, R., Pfeilschifter, J., Taugner, R., Bauer, C., Della, B.R.,
 1986. Atrial natriuretic peptide inhibits renin release from juxtaglomerular cells by a cGMP-mediated process. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 83, 4769-4773.
- La Favor, J.D., Dubis, G.S., Yan, H., White, J.D., Nelson, M.A.M., Anderson,
 E.J., Hickner, R.C., 2016. Microvascular Endothelial Dysfunction in
 Sedentary, Obese Humans Is Mediated by NADPH Oxidase: Influence of
 Exercise Training. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 36, 2412-2420.
- Lakschevitz, F.S., Hassanpour, S., Rubin, A., Fine, N., Sun, C., Glogauer, M., 2016. Identification of neutrophil surface marker changes in health and inflammation using high-throughput screening flow cytometry. Exp. Cell Res. 342, 200-209.
- Langrish, C.L., Chen, Y., Blumenschein, W.M., Mattson, J., Basham, B., Sedgwick, J.D., McClanahan, T., Kastelein, R.A., Cua, D.J., 2005. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J. Exp. Med. 201, 233-240.
- Laurent, S., 2017. Antihypertensive drugs. Pharmacol. Res. 124, 116-125.
- Lauw, F.N., Pajkrt, D., Hack, C.E., Kurimoto, M., van Deventer, S.J.H., van der Poll, T., 2000. Proinflammatory Effects of IL-10 During Human Endotoxemia.
 J. Immunol. 165, 2783-2789.
- Law, M.R., Wald, N.J., Morris, J.K., Jordan, R.E., 2003. Value of low dose combination treatment with blood pressure lowering drugs: analysis of 354 randomised trials. Bmj 326, 1427-0.

- Lee, D.Y., Won, K.J., Lee, K.P., Jung, S.H., Baek, S., Chung, H.W., Choi, W.S., Lee, H.M., Lee, B.H., Jeon, B.H., Kim, B., 2018. Angiotensin II facilitates neointimal formation by increasing vascular smooth muscle cell migration: Involvement of APE/Ref-1-mediated overexpression of sphingosine-1phosphate receptor 1. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 347, 45-53.
- Lee, J.W., Hoshino, A., Inoue, K., Saitou, T., Uehara, S., Kobayashi, Y., Ueha,
 S., Matsushima, K., Yamaguchi, A., Imai, Y., Iimura, T., 2017. The HIV coreceptor CCR5 regulates osteoclast function. Nat. Commun. 8.
- Lee, K.M., Danuser, R., Stein, J. V., Graham, D., Nibbs, R.J., Graham, G.J., 2014. The chemokine receptors ACKR2 and CCR2 reciprocally regulate lymphatic vessel density. EMBO J. 33, 2564-2580.
- Lee, R.M.K.W., Lu, C., Su, L.Y., Gao, Y.J., 2009. Endothelium-dependent relaxation factor released by perivascular adipose tissue. J. Hypertens. 27, 782-790.
- Li, B., Qing, T., Zhu, J., Wen, Z., Yu, Y., Fukumura, R., Zheng, Y., Gondo, Y., Shi, L., 2017. A Comprehensive Mouse Transcriptomic BodyMap across 17 Tissues by RNA-seq. Sci. Rep. 7, 1-10.
- Liang, H., Ma, Z., Peng, H., He, L., Hu, Z., Wang, Y., 2016. CXCL16 Deficiency Attenuates Renal Injury and Fibrosis in Salt-Sensitive Hypertension. Sci. Rep. 6, 1-10.
- Lim, H.Y., Müller, N., Herold, M.J., Van Den Brandt, J., Reichardt, H.M., 2007. Glucocorticoids exert opposing effects on macrophage function dependent on their concentration. Immunology 122, 47-53.
- Lima, M., Leander, M., Santos, M., Santos, A.H., Lau, C., Queirós, M.L.,
 Gonçalves, M., Fonseca, S., Moura, J., Teixeira, M.D.A., Orfao, A., 2015.
 Chemokine Receptor Expression on Normal Blood CD56+NK-Cells Elucidates
 Cell Partners That Comigrate during the Innate and Adaptive Immune
 Responses and Identifies a Transitional NK-Cell Population. J. Immunol. Res.
 2015.

- Lin, S.L., Castaño, A.P., Nowlin, B.T., Lupher, M.L., Duffield, J.S., 2009. Bone Marrow Ly6C high Monocytes Are Selectively Recruited to Injured Kidney and Differentiate into Functionally Distinct Populations. J. Immunol. 183, 6733-6743.
- Lip, G.Y.H., Felmeden, D.C., Li-Saw-Hee, F.L., Beevers, D.G., 2000. Hypertensive heart disease: A complex syndrome or a hypertensive "cardiomyopathy"? Eur. Heart J. 21, 1653-1665.
- Liu, J.J., Horst, R., Katritch, V., Stevens, R.C., Wüthrich, K., 2012. Biased Signaling Pathways in B2-Adrenergic Receptor Characterized by 19F-NMR. Science (80-.). 335, 1106-1111.
- Liu, X., Zhang, H., Chang, X., Shen, J., Zheng, W., Xu, Y., Wang, J., Gao, W., He, S., 2017. Upregulated expression of CCR3 in rheumatoid arthritis and CCR3-dependent activation of fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Cell Biol. Toxicol. 33, 15-26.
- Liu, X., Zhang, Q., Wu, H., Du, H., Liu, L., Shi, H., Wang, C., Xia, Y., Guo, X.,
 Li, C., Bao, X., Su, Q., Sun, S., Wang, X., Zhou, M., Jia, Q., Zhao, H., Song,
 K., Niu, K., 2015. Blood Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio as a Predictor of
 Hypertension. Am. J. Hypertens. 28, 1339-1346.
- Livak, K.J., Schmittgen, T.D., 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Methods 25, 402-408.
- Llorián-Salvador, M., González-Rodríguez, S., Lastra, A., Fernández-García, M.T., Hidalgo, A., Menéndez, L., Baamonde, A., 2016. Involvement of CC Chemokine Receptor 1 and CCL3 in Acute and Chronic Inflammatory Pain in Mice. Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 119, 32-40.
- Lu, M., Grove, E.A., Miller, R.J., 2002. Abnormal development of the hippocampal dentate gyrus in mice lacking the CXCR4 chemokine receptor 99.

- Lucas, M., Schachterle, W., Oberle, K., Aichele, P., Diefenbach, A., 2007. Dendritic Cells Prime Natural Killer Cells by trans-Presenting Interleukin 15. Immunity 26, 503-517.
- Machnik, A., Neuhofer, W., Jantsch, J., Dahlmann, A., Tammela, T., MacHura, K., Park, J.K., Beck, F.X., Müller, D.N., Derer, W., Goss, J., Ziomber, A., Dietsch, P., Wagner, H., Van Rooijen, N., Kurtz, A., Hilgers, K.F., Alitalo, K., Eckardt, K.U., Luft, F.C., Kerjaschki, D., Titze, J., 2009. Macrophages regulate salt-dependent volume and blood pressure by a vascular endothelial growth factor-C-dependent buffering mechanism. Nat. Med. 15, 545-552.
- Madej, A., Okopień, B., Kowalski, J., Haberka, M., Herman, Z.S., 2005. Plasma concentrations of adhesion molecules and chemokines in patients with essential hypertension. Pharmacol. Reports 57, 878-881.
- Madhur, M.S., Lob, H.E., McCann, L.A., Iwakura, Y., Blinder, Y., Guzik, T.J., Harrison, D.G., 2010. Interleukin 17 promotes angiotensin II-induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. Hypertension 55, 500-507.
- Maeshima, N., Poon, G.F.T., Dosanjh, M., Felberg, J., Lee, S.S.M., Cross, J.L.,
 Birkenhead, D., Johnson, P., 2011. Hyaluronan binding identifies the most
 proliferative activated and memory T cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 41, 1108-1119.
- Mandal, A., Viswanathan, C., 2015. Natural killer cells: In health and disease. Hematol. Oncol. Stem Cell Ther. 8, 47-55.
- Mansson, A., Cardell, L.-O., 2009. Role of atopic status in Toll-like receptor (TLR)7- and TLR9-mediated activation of human eosinophils. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 719-727.
- Maranon, R., Lima, R., Spradley, F.T., do Carmo, J.M., Zhang, H., Smith, A.D.,
 Bui, E., Thomas, R.L., Moulana, M., Hall, J.E., Granger, J.P., Reckelhoff,
 J.F., 2015. Roles for the sympathetic nervous system, renal nerves, and CNS melanocortin-4 receptor in the elevated blood pressure in
 hyperandrogenemic female rats. Am. J. Physiol. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 308,

- Markó, L., Kvakan, H., Park, J.K., Qadri, F., Spallek, B., Binger, K.J., Bowman,
 E.P., Kleinewietfeld, M., Fokuhl, V., Dechend, R., Müller, D.N., 2012.
 Interferon-γ signaling inhibition ameliorates angiotensin ii-induced cardiac
 damage. Hypertension 60, 1430-1436.
- Mattar, E.H., Almehdar, H.A., Aljaddawi, A.A., Abu Zeid, I.E.M., Redwan, E.M.,
 2016. Elevated concentration of defensins in Hepatitis C virus-infected
 patients. J. Immunol. Res. 2016.
- Mattson, D.L., Jacob, H., Rudemiller, N., Lund, H., Geurts, A.M., Guo, C., 2013.
 Genetic mutation of recombination activating gene 1 in Dahl salt-sensitive rats attenuates hypertension and renal damage. Am. J. Physiol. Integr.
 Comp. Physiol. 304, R407-R414.
- Mazor, R., Kristal, B., Cohen-Mazor, M., Yagil, C., Yagil, Y., Sela, S., 2007. The polymorphonuclear leukocyte contributes to the development of hypertension in the Sabra rat. J. Hypertens. 25, 2249-2256.
- McCurley, A., Jaffe, I.Z., 2012. Mineralocorticoid receptors in vascular function and disease. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 350, 256-265.
- McGrath, K.E., Frame, J.M., Fegan, K.H., Bowen, J.R., Conway, S.J.,
 Catherman, S.C., Kingsley, P.D., Koniski, A.D., Palis, J., 2015. Distinct
 Sources of Hematopoietic Progenitors Emerge before HSCs and Provide
 Functional Blood Cells in the Mammalian Embryo. Cell Rep. 11, 1892-1904.
- McKinney, C.A., Fattah, C., Loughrey, C.M., Milligan, G., Nicklin, S.A., 2014. Angiotensin-(1-7) and angiotensin-(1-9): function in cardiac and vascular remodelling. Clin. Sci. 126, 815-827.
- Mellado, M., Rodrriguez-Frade, J.M., Vila-coro, A.J., Fernandez, S., Martin de Ana, A., Jones, D.R., Toran, J.L., Martinez-A, C., 2001. Chemokine receptor homo- or heterodimerization activates distinct signaling pathways. EMBO J. 20, 2497-2507.

- Mennuni, S., Rubattu, S., Pierelli, G., Tocci, G., Fofi, C., Volpe, M., 2014. Hypertension and kidneys: Unraveling complex molecular mechanisms underlying hypertensive renal damage. J. Hum. Hypertens. 28, 74-79.
- Mercer, P.F., Williams, A.E., Scotton, C.J., José, R.J., Sulikowski, M., Moffatt, J.D., Murray, L.A., Chambers, R.C., 2014. Proteinase-activated receptor-1, CCL2, and CCL7 regulate acute neutrophilic lung inflammation. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 50, 144-157.
- Mettimano, M., Specchia, M.L., La Torre, G., Bruno, A., Ricciardi, G., Savi, L., Romano-Spica, V., 2006. Blood pressure regulation by CCR genes. Clin. Exp. Hypertens. 28, 611-618.
- Mian, M.O.R., Barhoumi, T., Briet, M., Paradis, P., Schiffrin, E.L., 2015.
 Deficiency of T-regulatory cells exaggerates angiotensin II-induced microvascular injury by enhancing immune responses. J. Hypertens. 34, 97-108.
- Mikolajczyk, T.P., Nosalski, R., Szczepaniak, P., Budzyn, K., Osmenda, G., Skiba, D., Sagan, A., Wu, J., Vinh, A., Marvar, P.J., Guzik, B., Podolec, J., Drummond, G., Lob, H.E., Harrison, K.D.G., Guzik, T.J., 2016. Role of chemokine RANTES in the regulation of perivascular inflammation, T-cell accumulation, and vascular dysfunction in hypertension. FASEB J. 30, 1987-1999.
- Miller, L.S., Pietras, E.M., Uricchio, L.H., Hirano, K., Rao, S., Lin, H., O'Connell, R.M., Iwakura, Y., Cheung, A.L., Cheng, G., Modlin, R.L., 2007.
 Inflammasome-Mediated Production of IL-1 Is Required for Neutrophil Recruitment against Staphylococcus aureus In Vivo. J. Immunol. 179, 6933-6942.
- Misharin, A. V., Morales-Nebreda, L., Mutlu, G.M., Budinger, G.R.S., Perlman,
 H., 2013. Flow cytometric analysis of macrophages and dendritic cell subsets in the mouse lung. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 49, 503-510.

Mitchell, A.J., Roediger, B., Weninger, W., 2014. Monocyte homeostasis and the

plasticity of inflammatory monocytes. Cell. Immunol. 291, 22-31.

- Mizoguchi, A., Mizoguchi, E., Takedatsu, H., Blumberg, R.S., Bhan, A.K., 2002. Chronic intestinal inflammatory condition generates IL-10-producing regulatory B cell subset characterized by CD1d upregulation. Immunity 16, 219-230.
- Mohan, K., Issekutz, T.B., 2014. Blockade of Chemokine Receptor CXCR3 Inhibits T Cell Recruitment to Inflamed Joints and Decreases the Severity of Adjuvant Arthritis. J. Immunol. 179, 8463-8469.
- Montezano, A.C., Nguyen Dinh Cat, A., Rios, F.J., Touyz, R.M., 2014. Angiotensin II and vascular injury. Curr. Hypertens. Rep. 16.
- Moon, E.K., Carpenito, C., Sun, J., Wang, L.C.S., Kapoor, V., Predina, J., Powell, D.J., Riley, J.L., June, C.H., Albelda, S.M., 2011. Expression of a functional CCR2 receptor enhances tumor localization and tumor eradication by retargeted human T cells expressing a mesothelin-specific chimeric antibody receptor. Clin. Cancer Res. 17, 4719-4730.
- Moore, J.P., Vinh, A., Tuck, K.L., Sakkal, S., Krishnan, S.M., Chan, C.T., Lieu, M., Samuel, C.S., Diep, H., Kemp-Harper, B.K., Tare, M., Ricardo, S.D., Guzik, T.J., Sobey, C.G., Drummond, G.R., 2015. M2 Macrophage Accumulation in the Aortic Wall During Angiotensin Ii Infusion in Mice Is Associated With Fibrosis, Elastin Loss and Elevated Blood Pressure. Am. J. Physiol. Hear. Circ. Physiol. ajpheart.00821.2014.
- Mordi, I., Mordi, N., Delles, C., Tzemos, N., 2016. Endothelial dysfunction in human essential hypertension. J. Hypertens. 34, 1464-1472.
- Muller, D.N., Shagdarsuren, E., Park, J.-K., Dechend, R., Mervaala, E., Hampich,
 F., Fiebeler, A., Ju, X., Finckenberg, P., Theuer, J., Viedt, C., Kreuzer, J.,
 Heidecke, H., Haller, H., Zenke, M., Luft, F.C., 2011. Immunosuppressive
 Treatment Protects Against Angiotensin II-Induced Renal Damage. Am. J.
 Pathol. 161, 1679-1693.

Murray, P.J., 2017. Macrophage Polarization. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 79, 541-566.

- Nagarsheth, N., Wicha, M.S., Zou, W., 2017. Chemokines in the cancer microenvironment and their relevance in cancer immunotherapy. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 17, 559-572.
- Nagase, H., Okugawa, S., Ota, Y., Yamaguchi, M., Tomizawa, H., Matsushima,
 K., Ohta, K., Yamamoto, K., Hirai, K., 2003. Expression and Function of
 Toll-Like Receptors in Eosinophils: Activation by Toll-Like Receptor 7 Ligand.
 J. Immunol. 171, 3977-3982.
- Nagase, M., Shibata, S., Yoshida, S., Nagase, T., Gotoda, T., Fujita, T., 2006.
 Podocyte Injury Underlies the Glomerulopathy of Dahl Salt-Hypertensive
 Rats and Is Reversed by Aldosterone Blocker. Hypertension 47, 1084-1093.
- Nakano, H., Lin, K.L., Yanagita, M., Charbonneau, C., Cook, D.N., Kakiuchi, T., Gunn, M.D., 2009. Blood-derived inflammatory dendritic cells in lymph nodes stimulate acute T helper type 1 immune responses. Nat. Immunol. 10, 394-402.
- Nansen, A., Marker, O., Bartholdy, C., Thomsen, A.R., 2000. CCR2+ and CCR5+
 CD8+ T cells increase during viral infection and migrate to sites of infection.
 Eur. J. Immunol. 30, 1797-1806.
- Naruse, K., Ueno, M., Satoh, T., Nomiyama, H., Tei, H., Takeda, M., Ledbetter,
 D.H., Van Coillie, E., Opdenakker, G., Gunge, N., Sakaki, Y., Iio, M., Miura,
 R., 1996. A YAC contig of the human CC chemokine genes clustered on
 chromosome 17q11.2. Genomics 34, 236-240.
- Negash, A.A., Ramos, H.J., Crochet, N., Lau, D.T.Y., Doehle, B., Papic, N.,
 Delker, D.A., Jo, J., Bertoletti, A., Hagedorn, C.H., Gale, M., 2013. IL-18
 Production through the NLRP3 Inflammasome by Hepatic Macrophages Links
 Hepatitis C Virus Infection with Liver Inflammation and Disease. PLoS
 Pathog. 9, 1-13.

Ness, T.L., Carpenter, K.J., Ewing, J.L., Gerard, C.J., Hogaboam, C.M., Kunkel,

S.L., 2004. CCR1 and CC Chemokine Ligand 5 Interactions Exacerbate Innate Immune Responses during Sepsis. J. Immunol. 173, 6938-6948.

- Nguyen, A., Dinh, C., Griol-Charhbili, V., Loufrani, L., Labat, C., Benjamin, L., Farman, N., Lacolley, P., Henrion, D., Jaisser, F., 2010. The endothelial mineralocorticoid receptor regulates vasoconstrictor tone and blood pressure. FASEB J. 24, 2454-2463.
- Nibbs, R.J.B., Graham, G.J., 2013. Immune regulation by atypical chemokine receptors. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 13, 815-829.
- Nomiyama, H., Osada, N., Yoshie, O., 2011. A family tree of vertebrate chemokine receptors for a unified nomenclature. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 35, 705-715.
- Nomiyama, H., Yoshie, O., 2015. Functional roles of evolutionary conserved motifs and residues in vertebrate chemokine receptors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 97, 39-47.
- Norlander, A.E., Saleh, M.A., Pandey, A.K., Itani, H.A., Wu, J., Xiao, L., Kang,
 J., Dale, B.L., Goleva, S.B., Laroumanie, F., Du, L., Harrison, D.G., Madhur,
 M.S., 2017. A salt-sensing kinase in T lymphocytes, SGK1, drives
 hypertension and hypertensive end-organ damage. JCI insight 2.
- Ohmori, M., Kitoh, Y., Harada, K., Sugimoto, K., Fujimura, A., 2000. Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) functions in SHR, l-NAME- and DOCA/salt-induced hypertensive rats. J. Hypertens. 18, 703-707.
- Olofsson, P.S., Steinberg, B.E., Sobbi, R., Cox, M.A., Ahmed, M.N., Oswald, M., Szekeres, F., Hanes, W.M., Introini, A., Liu, S.F., Holodick, N.E., Rothstein, T.L., Lövdahl, C., Chavan, S.S., Yang, H., Pavlov, V.A., Broliden, K., Andersson, U., Diamond, B., Miller, E.J., Arner, A., Gregersen, P.K., Backx, P.H., Mak, T.W., Tracey, K.J., 2016. Blood pressure regulation by CD4 + lymphocytes expressing choline acetyltransferase. Nat. Biotechnol. 34, 1066-1071.

- Orinska, Z., Bulanova, E., Budagian, V., Metz, M., Maurer, M., Bulfone-Paus, S., 2005. TLR3-induced activation of mast cells modulates CD8+ T-cell recruitment. Blood 106, 978-987.
- Ozawa, Y., Kobori, H., Suzaki, Y., Navar, L.G., 2006. Sustained renal interstitial macrophage infiltration following chronic angiotensin II infusions. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 292, F330-F339.
- Pagès, F., Berger, A., Camus, M., Sanchez-Cabo, F., Costes, A., Molidor, R.,
 Mlecnik, B., Kirilovsky, A., Nilsson, M., Damotte, D., Meatchi, T., Bruneval,
 P., Cugnenc, P.-H., Trajanoski, Z., Fridman, W.-H., Galon, J., 2005.
 Effector Memory T Cells, Early Metastasis, and Survival in Colorectal Cancer.
 N. Engl. J. Med. 353, 2654-2666.
- Palomino, D.C.T., Marti, L.C., 2015. Chemokines and immunity. Einstein (São Paulo) 13, 469-473.
- Pan, Q., Feng, Y., Peng, Y., Zhou, H., Deng, Z., Li, L., Han, H., Lin, J., Shi, L., Wang, S., An, N., Yang, C., Liu, H.F., 2017. Basophil Recruitment to Skin Lesions of Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Mediated by CCR1 and CCR2. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 43, 832-839.
- Panza, J.A., Casino, P.R., Kilcoyne, C.M., Quyyumi, A.A., 1994. Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with essential hypertension: Evidence that the abnormality is not at the muscarinic receptor level. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 23, 1610-1616.
- Parati, G., Ochoa, J.E., Torlasco, C., Salvi, P., Lombardi, C., Bilo, G., 2015. Aging, High Altitude, and Blood Pressure: A Complex Relationship. High Alt. Med. Biol. 16, 97-109.
- Parissis, J.T., Korovesis, S., Giazitzoglou, E., Kalivas, P., Katritsis, D., 2002.
 Plasma profiles of peripheral monocyte-related inflammatory markers in patients with arterial hypertension. Correlations with plasma endothelin-1.
 Int. J. Cardiol. 83, 13-21.

- Patik, J.C., Christmas, K.M., Hurr, C., Brothers, R.M., 2016. Impaired endothelium independent vasodilation in the cutaneous microvasculature of young obese adults. Microvasc. Res. 104, 63-68.
- Phillips, R.M., Stubbs, V.E.L., Henson, M.R., Williams, T.J., Pease, J.E., Sabroe,
 I., 2003. Variations in Eosinophil Chemokine Responses: An Investigation of
 CCR1 and CCR3 Function, Expression in Atopy, and Identification of a
 Functional CCR1 Promoter. J. Immunol. 170, 6190-6201.
- Pieper, K., Grimbacher, B., Eibel, H., 2013. B-cell biology and development. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 131, 959-971.
- Pillay, J., Kamp, V.M., Van Hoffen, E., Visser, T., Tak, T., Lammers, J.-W., Ulfman, L.H., Leenen, L.P., Pickkers, P., Koenderman, L., 2012. A subset of neutrophils in human systemic inflammation inhibits T cell responses through Mac-1. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 327-336.
- Piqueras, L., Kubes, P., Alvarez, A., O'Connor, E., Issekutz, A.C., Esplugues, J. V., Sanz, M.J., 2000. Angiotensin II induces leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in vivo via AT1 and AT2 receptor-mediated P-selectin upregulation. Circulation 102, 2118-2123.
- Puga, I., Cols, M., Barra, C.M., He, B., Cassis, L., Gentile, M., Comerma, L., Chorny, A., Shan, M., Xu, W., Magri, G., Knowles, D.M., Tam, W., Chiu, A., Bussel, J.B., Serrano, S., Lorente, J.A., Bellosillo, B., Lloreta, J., Juanpere, N., Alameda, F., Baró, T., De Heredia, C.D., Torán, N., Català, A., Torrebadell, M., Fortuny, C., Cusí, V., Carreras, C., Diaz, G.A., Blander, J.M., Farber, C.M., Silvestri, G., Cunningham-Rundles, C., Calvillo, M., Dufour, C., Notarangelo, L.D., Lougaris, V., Plebani, A., Casanova, J.L., Ganal, S.C., Diefenbach, A., Aróstegui, J.I., Juan, M., Yagüe, J., Mahlaoui, N., Donadieu, J., Chen, K., Cerutti, A., 2012. B cell-helper neutrophils stimulate the diversification and production of immunoglobulin in the marginal zone of the spleen. Nat. Immunol. 13, 170-180.
- Qiu, Y., Zhu, J., Bandi, V., Atmar, R.L., Hattotuwa, K., Guntupalli, K.K., Jeffery, P.K., 2003. Biopsy Neutrophilia, Neutrophil Chemokine and

Receptor Gene Expression in Severe Exacerbations of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 168, 968-975.

- Quintin, J., Saeed, S., Martens, J.H.A., Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E.J., Ifrim, D.C.,
 Logie, C., Jacobs, L., Jansen, T., Kullberg, B.J., Wijmenga, C., Joosten,
 L.A.B., Xavier, R.J., Van Der Meer, J.W.M., Stunnenberg, H.G., Netea,
 M.G., 2012. Candida albicans infection affords protection against reinfection
 via functional reprogramming of monocytes. Cell Host Microbe 12, 223-232.
- Rae, F., Woods, K., Sasmono, T., Campanale, N., Taylor, D., Ovchinnikov, D.A., Grimmond, S.M., Hume, D.A., Ricardo, S.D., Little, M.H., 2007.
 Characterisation and trophic functions of murine embryonic macrophages based upon the use of a Csf1r-EGFP transgene reporter. Dev. Biol. 308, 232-246.
- Ramirez, J.G., O'Malley, E.J., Ho, W.S.V., 2017. Pro-contractile effects of perivascular fat in health and disease. Br. J. Pharmacol. 174, 3482-3495.
- Ramos, M.., Ruggieri, M., Panek, A.., Mejias, M.., Fernandez-Brando, R.., Abrey-Recalde, M.J., Exeni, A., Barilari, C., Exeni, R., 2015. Association of haemolytic uraemic syndrome with dysregulation of chemokine receptor expression in circulating monocytes. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 129, 235-244.
- Regal, J.F., Lillegard, K.E., Bauer, A.J., Elmquist, B.J., Loeks-Johnson, A.C., Gilbert, J.S., 2015. Neutrophil Depletion Attenuates Placental Ischemia-Induced Hypertension in the Rat. PLoS One 10, e0132063.
- Rickard, A.J., Morgan, J., Tesch, G., Funder, J.W., Fuller, P.J., Young, M.J., 2009. Deletion of mineralocorticoid receptors from macrophages protects against deoxycorticosterone/salt-induced cardiac fibrosis and increased blood pressure. Hypertension 54, 537-543.
- Ricklin, D., Hajishengallis, G., Yang, K., Lambris, J.D., 2010. Complement: A key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat. Immunol. 11, 785-797.

- Riera Romo, M., Pérez-Martínez, D., Castillo Ferrer, C., 2016. Innate immunity in vertebrates: An overview. Immunology 148, 125-139.
- Rodríguez-Iturbe, B., Quiroz, Y., Nava, M., Bonet, L., Chávez, M., Herrera-Acosta, J., Johnson, R.J., Pons, H.A., 2015. Reduction of renal immune cell infiltration results in blood pressure control in genetically hypertensive rats.
 Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 282, F191-F201.
- Rose, S., Misharin, A., Perlman, H., 2012. A novel Ly6C/Ly6G-based strategy to analyze the mouse splenic myeloid compartment. Cytom. Part A 81 A, 343-350.
- Rothenberg, M.E., Hogan, S.P., 2006. The Eosinophil. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 24, 147-174.
- Rudemiller, N., Lund, H., Jacob, H.J., Geurts, A.M., Mattson, D.L., 2014. CD247 modulates blood pressure by altering t-lymphocyte infiltration in the kidney. Hypertension 63, 559-564.
- Rudemiller, N.P., Patel, M.B., Zhang, J. dong, Jeffs, A.D., Karlovich, N.S.,
 Griffiths, R., Kan, M.J., Buckley, A.F., Gunn, M.D., Crowley, S.D., 2016. C-C
 Motif Chemokine 5 Attenuates Angiotensin II-Dependent Kidney Injury by
 Limiting Renal Macrophage Infiltration. Am. J. Pathol. 186, 2846-2856.
- Sabbadin, C., Armanini, D., 2016. Syndromes that Mimic an Excess of Mineralocorticoids. High Blood Press. Cardiovasc. Prev. 23, 231-235.
- Sahu, R., Bethunaickan, R., Singh, S., Davidson, A., 2014. Structure and function of renal macrophages and dendritic cells from lupus-prone mice. Arthritis Rheumatol. 66, 1596-1607.
- Santisteban, M.M., Ahmari, N., Carvajal, J.M., Zingler, M.B., Qi, Y., Kim, S., Joseph, J., Garcia-Pereira, F., Johnson, R.D., Shenoy, V., Raizada, M.K., Zubcevic, J., 2015. Involvement of bone marrow cells and neuroinflammation in hypertension. Circ. Res. 117, 178-191.

- Sato, E., Olson, S.H., Ahn, J., Bundy, B., Nishikawa, H., Qian, F., Jungbluth, A.A., Chen, Y., Ohtani, H., Old, L.J., Odunsi, K., 2005. and a high CD8 [%] ⁻ regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.
- Schiffrin, E.L., Park, J.B., Intengan, H.D., Touyz, R.M., 2000. Correction of Arterial Structure and Endothelial Dysfunction in Human Essential Hypertension by the Angiotensin Receptor Antagonist Losartan 101, 1653-1659.
- Schlaich, M.P., Lambert, E., Kaye, D.M., Krozowski, Z., Campbell, D.J.,
 Lambert, G., Hastings, J., Aggarwal, A., Esler, M.D., 2003. Sympathetic
 Augmentation in Hypertension. Hypertension 43, 169-175.
- Schleifenbaum, J., Köhn, C., Voblova, N., Dubrovska, G., Zavarirskaya, O., Gloe, T., Crean, C.S., Luft, F.C., Huang, Y., Schubert, R., Gollasch, M., 2010.
 Systemic peripheral artery relaxation by KCNQ channel openers and hydrogen sulfide. J. Hypertens. 28, 1875-1882.
- Schlitzer, A., Schultze, J.L., 2017. Tissue-resident macrophages-how to humanize our knowledge. Immunol. Cell Biol. 95, 173-177.
- Schmall, A., Al-Tamari, H.M., Herold, S., Kampschulte, M., Weigert, A.,
 Wietelmann, A., Vipotnik, N., Grimminger, F., Seeger, W., Pullamsetti, S.S.,
 Savai, R., 2015. Macrophage and cancer cell cross-talk via CCR2 and CX3CR1 is a fundamental mechanism driving lung cancer. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care
 Med. 191, 437-447.
- Schmidt, B., Drexler, H., Schieffer, B., 2004. Therapeutic effects of angiotensin (AT1) receptor antagonists: Potential contribution of mechanisms other than AT1 receptor blockade. Am. J. Cardiovasc. Drugs 4, 361-368.
- Schroeder, H.W., Cavacini, L. (University of A. at B., 2013. Structure and Functions of Immunoglobulins 125.

Seaberg, E.C., Muñoz, A., Lu, M., Detels, R., Margolick, J.B., Riddler, S.A.,

Williams, C.M., Phair, J.P., 2005. Association between highly active antiretroviral therapy and hypertension in a large cohort of men followed from 1984 to 2003. Aids 19, 953-960.

- Shen, J.Z., Morgan, J., Tesch, G.H., Fuller, P.J., Young, M.J., 2014. CCL2dependent macrophage recruitment is critical for mineralocorticoid receptor-mediated cardiac fibrosis, inflammation, and blood pressure responses in male mice. Endocrinology 155, 1057-1066.
- Sheng, J., Chen, Q., Soncin, I., Ng, S.L., Karjalainen, K., Ruedl, C., 2017. A
 Discrete Subset of Monocyte-Derived Cells among Typical Conventional Type
 2 Dendritic Cells Can Efficiently Cross-Present. Cell Rep. 21, 1203-1214.
- Shi, C., Pamer, E.G., 2011. Monocyte recruitment during infection and inflammation. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 11, 762-774.
- Shibata, S., Fujita, T., 2011. The kidneys and aldosterone/mineralocorticoid receptor system in salt-sensitive hypertension. Curr. Hypertens. Rep. 13, 109-115.
- Shimizu, K., Furuichi, K., Sakai, N., Kitagawa, K., Matsushima, K., Mukaida, N., Kaneko, S., Wada, T., 2011. Fractalkine and its receptor, CX3CR1, promote hypertensive interstitial fibrosis in the kidney. Hypertens. Res. 34, 747-752.
- Si, Y., Tsou, C.L., Croft, K., Charo, I.F., 2010. CCR2 mediates hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell trafficking to sites of inflammation in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 1192-1203.
- Sica, A., Erreni, M., Allavena, P., Porta, C., 2015. Macrophage polarization in pathology. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 72, 4111-4126.
- Sierra-Filardi, E., Nieto, C., Dominguez-Soto, A., Barroso, R., Sanchez-Mateos,
 P., Puig-Kroger, A., Lopez-Bravo, M., Joven, J., Ardavin, C., Rodriguez-Fernandez, J.L., Sanchez-Torres, C., Mellado, M., Corbi, A.L., 2014. CCL2
 Shapes Macrophage Polarization by GM-CSF and M-CSF: Identification of CCL2/CCR2-Dependent Gene Expression Profile. J. Immunol. 192, 3858-

- Sierro, F., Biben, C., Martinez-Munoz, L., Mellado, M., Ransohoff, R.M., Li, M., Woehl, B., Leung, H., Groom, J., Batten, M., Harvey, R.P., Martinez-A, C., Mackay, C.R., Mackay, F., 2007. Disrupted cardiac development but normal hematopoiesis in mice deficient in the second CXCL12/SDF-1 receptor, CXCR7. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 14759-14764.
- Sõber, S., Laan, M., Annilo, T., 2010. MicroRNAs miR-124 and miR-135a are potential regulators of the mineralocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C2) expression. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 391, 727-732.
- Soehnlein, O., Zernecke, A., Eriksson, E.E., Rothfuchs, A.G., Pham, C.T., Herwald, H., Bidzhekov, K., Rottenberg, M.E., Weber, C., Lindbom, L., 2008. Neutrophil secretion products pave the way for inflammatory monocytes. Blood 112, 1461-1471.
- Sokol, C.L., Luster, A.D., 2016. The Chemokine System in Innate Immunity 1-20.
- Solari, R., Pease, J.E., Begg, M., 2015. Chemokine receptors as therapeutic targets: Why aren't there more drugs? Eur. J. Pharmacol. 746, 363-367.
- Soundararajan, R., Pearce, D., Hughey, R.P., Kleyman, T.R., 2010. Role of epithelial sodium channels and their regulators in hypertension. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 30363-30369.
- Sparks, M.A., Crowley, S.D., Gurley, S.B., Mirotsou, M., Coffman, T.M., 2014. Classical Renin-Angiotensin system in kidney physiology. Compr. Physiol. 4, 1201-1228.
- Spencer, L.A., Szela, C.T., Perez, S.A.C., Kirchhoffer, C.L., Neves, J.S., Radke, A.L., Weller, P.F., 2008. Human eosinophils constitutively express multiple Th1, Th2, and immunoregulatory cytokines that are secreted rapidly and differentially. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 117-123.

Stankevicius, E., Martinez, A.C., Mulvany, M.J., Simonsen, U., 2002. Blunted

acetylcholine relaxation and nitric oxide release in arteries from renal hypertensive rats. J. Hypertens. 20, 1571-9.

- Stellato, C., Brummet, M.E., Plitt, J.R., Shahabuddin, S., Baroody, F.M., Liu, M.C., Ponath, P.D., Beck, L.A., 2001. Cutting Edge: Expression of the C-C Chemokine Receptor CCR3 in Human Airway Epithelial Cells. J. Immunol. 166, 1457-1461.
- Stevens, T.L., Wei, C.M., Aahrus, L.L., Heublein, D.M., Kinoshita, M., Matsuda,Y., Burnett, J.C., 1994. Modulation of exogenous and endogenous atrialnatriuretic peptide by a receptor inhibitor. Hypertension 23, 613-618.
- Stirling, R.., van Rensen, E.., Barnes, P.., Chung, K.., 2001. Interleukin-5 induces CD34(+) eosinophil progenitor mobilization and eosinophil CCR3 expression in asthma. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 164, 1403-1409.
- Sullivan, J.C., Pardieck, J.L., Doran, D., Zhang, Y., She, J.-X., Pollock, J.S., 2009. Greater fractalkine expression in mesenteric arteries of female spontaneously hypertensive rats compared with males. Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 296, H1080-H1088.
- Sun, X.N., Li, C., Liu, Y., Du, L.J., Zeng, M.R., Zheng, X.J., Zhang, W.C., Liu, Y., Zhu, M., Kong, D., Zhou, L., Lu, L., Shen, Z.X., Yi, Y., Du, L., Qin, M., Liu, X., Hua, Z., Sun, S., Yin, H., Zhou, B., Yu, Y., Zhang, Z., Duan, S.Z., 2017.
 T-cell mineralocorticoid receptor controls blood pressure by regulating interferon-gamma. Circ. Res. 120, 1584-1597.
- Supajatura, V., Ushio, H., Nakao, A., Akira, S., Okumura, K., Ra, C., Ogawa, H., 2002. Differential responses of mast cell Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in allergy and innate immunity. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 1351-1359.
- Suthahar, N., Meijers, W.C., Silljé, H.H.W., Boer, R.A. De, 2017. From Inflammation to Fibrosis — Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms of Myocardial Tissue Remodelling and Perspectives on Differential Treatment Opportunities 14, 235-250.

- Suzukawa, M., Koketsu, R., Iikura, M., Nakae, S., Matsumoto, K., Nagase, H.,
 Saito, H., Matsushima, K., Ohta, K., Yamamoto, K., Yamaguchi, M., 2008.
 Interleukin-33 enhances adhesion, CD11b expression and survival in human eosinophils. Lab. Investig. 88, 1245-1253.
- Syrbe, U., Moebes, A., Scholze, J., Swidsinski, A., Dorffel, Y., 2007. Effects of the Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Antagonist Telmisartan on Monocyte Adhesion and Activation in Patients with Essential Hypertension. Hypertens. Res. 30, 521-528.
- Szczepańska, M., Sędek, Ł., Makulska, I., Szprynger, K., Mazur, B., Bulsa, J., Zwolińska, D., Karpe, J., Ziora, K., Szczepański, T., 2015. Expression of Chemokine Receptors on Peripheral Blood T Cells in Children with Chronic Kidney Disease. Mediators Inflamm. 2015, 1-8.
- Tacke, F., Alvarez, D., Kaplan, T.J., Jakubzick, C., Spanbroek, R., Llodra, J.,
 Garin, A., Liu, J., Mack, M., Rooijen, N. Van, Lira, S.A., Habenicht, A.J.,
 Randolph, G.J., 2007. Monocyte subsets differentially employ CCR2, C... [J
 Clin Invest. 2007] PubMed NCBI. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 185-194.
- Taherzadeh, Z., VanBavel, E., de Vos, J., Matlung, H.L., van Montfrans, G.,
 Brewster, L.M., Seghers, L., Quax, P.H.A., Bakker, E.N.T.P., 2010. Straindependent susceptibility for hypertension in mice resides in the natural
 killer gene complex. Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 298, H1273-H1282.
- Takaoka, A., Yanai, H., 2006. Interferon signalling network in innate defence. Cell. Microbiol. 8, 907-922.
- Tamoutounour, S., Guilliams, M., MontananaSanchis, F., Liu, H., Terhorst, D., Malosse, C., Pollet, E., Ardouin, L., Luche, H., Sanchez, C., Dalod, M., Malissen, B., Henri, S., 2013. Origins and functional specialization of macrophages and of conventional and monocyte-derived dendritic cells in mouse skin. Immunity 39, 925-938.
- Tanira, M.O.M., Al Balushi, K.A., 2005. Genetic variations related to hypertension: A review. J. Hum. Hypertens. 19, 7-19.

- Taylor, E.B., Barati, M.T., Powell, D.W., Turbeville, H.R., Ryan, M.J., 2018. Plasma cell depletion attenuates hypertension in an experimental model of autoimmune disease. Hypertension 71, 719-728.
- Teusink, A., Pinkard, S., Davies, S., Mueller, M., Jodele, S., 2016. Plerixafor is safe and efficacious for mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells in pediatric patients. Transfusion 56, 1402-1405.
- Thang, L. V., Demel, S.L., Crawford, R., Kaminski, N.E., Swain, G.M., Van Rooijen, N., Galligan, J.J., 2015. Macrophage depletion lowers blood pressure and restores sympathetic nerve α 2 -adrenergic receptor function in mesenteric arteries of DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 309, H1186-H1197.
- Timasheva, Y.R., Nasibullin, T.R., Tuktarova, I.A., Erdman, V. V., Mustafina,O.E., 2018. CXCL13 polymorphism is associated with essential hypertension in Tatars from Russia. Mol. Biol. Rep. 45, 1557-1564.
- Tissir, F., Wang, C., Goffinet, A.M., 2004. Expression of the chemokine receptor Cxcr4 mRNA during mouse brain development 149, 63-71.
- Tropeano, A.I., Boutouyrie, P., Pannier, B., Joannides, R., Balkestein, E.,
 Katsahian, S., Laloux, B., Thuillez, C., Struijker-Boudier, H., Laurent, S.,
 2006. Brachial pressure-independent reduction in carotid stiffness after
 long-term angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in diabetic
 hypertensives. Hypertension 48, 80-86.
- Trott, D.W., Thabet, S.R., Kirabo, A., Saleh, M.A., Itani, H., Norlander, A.E.,
 Wu, J., Goldstein, A., Arendshorst, W.J., Madhur, M.S., Chen, W., Li, C.I.,
 Shyr, Y., Harrison, D.G., 2014. Oligoclonal CD8+ T cells play a critical role in
 the development of hypertension. Hypertension 64, 1108-1115.
- Tsou, C.L., Peters, W., Si, Y., Slaymaker, S., Aslanian, A.M., Weisberg, S.P., Mack, M., Charo, I.F., 2007. Critical roles for CCR2 and MCP-3 in monocyte mobilization from bone marrow and recruitment to inflammatory sites. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 902-909.

- Tsuda, Y., Takahashi, H., Kobayashi, M., Hanafusa, T., Herndon, D.N., Suzuki, F., 2004. Three different neutrophil subsets exhibited in mice with different susceptibilities to infection by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Immunity 21, 215-226.
- Tsukimori, K., Nakano, H., Wake, N., 2007. Difference in neutrophil superoxide generation during pregnancy between preeclampsia and essential hypertension. Hypertension 49, 1436-1441.
- Turner, M.D., Nedjai, B., Hurst, T., Pennington, D.J., 2014. Cytokines and chemokines: At the crossroads of cell signalling and inflammatory disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. 1843, 2563-2582.
- Ueki, S., Nishikawa, J., Yamauchi, Y., Konno, Y., Tamaki, M., Itoga, M.,Kobayashi, Y., Takeda, M., Moritoki, Y., Ito, W., Chihara, J., 2013. Retinoicacids up-regulate functional eosinophil-driving receptor CCR3. Allergy Eur.J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 68, 953-956.
- Ulvmar, M.H., Werth, K., Braun, A., Kelay, P., Hub, E., Eller, K., Chan, L.,
 Lucas, B., Novitzky-Basso, I., Nakamura, K., Rülicke, T., Nibbs, R.J.B.,
 Worbs, T., Förster, R., Rot, A., 2014. The atypical chemokine receptor
 CCRL1 shapes functional CCL21 gradients in lymph nodes. Nat. Immunol. 15, 623-630.
- Vazquez, M.I., Catalan-Dibene, J., Zlotnik, A., 2015. B cells responses and cytokine production are regulated by their immune microenvironment. Cytokine 74, 318-326.
- Veldhoen, M., Uyttenhove, C., van Snick, J., Helmby, H., Westendorf, A., Buer, J., Martin, B., Wilhelm, C., Stockinger, B., 2008. Transforming growth factor-B "reprograms" the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. Nat. Immunol. 9, 1341-1346.
- Vinh, A., Chen, W., Blinder, Y., Weiss, D., Taylor, W.R., Goronzy, J.J., Weyand, C.M., Harrison, D.G., Guzik, T.J., 2010. Inhibition and Genetic Ablation of the B7/CD28 T-Cell Costimulation Axis Prevents Experimental Hypertension.

- Virdis, A., Duranti, E., Rossi, C., Dell'Agnello, U., Santini, E., Anselmino, M., Chiarugi, M., Taddei, S., Solini, A., 2015. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha participates on the endothelin-1/nitric oxide imbalance in small arteries from obese patients: Role of perivascular adipose tissue. Eur. Heart J. 36, 784-794.
- Waisman, A., Lukas, D., Clausen, B.E., Yogev, N., 2017. Dendritic cells as gatekeepers of tolerance. Semin. Immunopathol. 39, 153-163.
- Wakugawa, M., Nakamura, K., Akatsuka, M., Kim, S.S., Yamada, Y., Kawasaki,
 H., Tamaki, K., Furue, M., 2001. Expression of CC chemokine receptor 3 on human keratinocytes in vivo and in vitro - upregulation by RANTES. J.
 Dermatol. Sci. 25, 229-235.
- Wan, S., Zhao, E., Kryczek, I., Vatan, L., Sadovskaya, A., Ludema, G., Simeone,
 D.M., Zou, W., Welling, T.H., 2014. Tumor-associated macrophages produce interleukin 6 and signal via STAT3 to promote expansion of human hepatocellular carcinoma stem cells. Gastroenterology 147, 1393-1404.
- Wang, L., Zhao, X.C., Cui, W., Ma, Y.Q., Ren, H.L., Zhou, X., Fassett, J., Yang,
 Y.Z., Chen, Y., Xia, Y.L., Du, J., Li, H.H., 2016. Genetic and Pharmacologic
 Inhibition of the Chemokine Receptor CXCR2 Prevents Experimental
 Hypertension and Vascular Dysfunction. Circulation 134, 1353-1368.
- Wang, N.P., Erskine, J., Zhang, W.W., Zheng, R.H., Zhang, L.H., Duron, G., Gendreau, J., Zhao, Z.Q., 2017. Recruitment of macrophages from the spleen contributes to myocardial fibrosis and hypertension induced by angiotensin II. JRAAS - J. Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Syst. 18.
- Wang, S., Tang, L., Zhou, Q., Lu, D., Duan, W., Chen, C., Huang, L., Tan, Y.,
 2017. miR-185/ P2Y6 Axis Inhibits Angiotensin II-Induced Human Aortic
 Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation. DNA Cell Biol. 36, 377-385.

Wang, Z., Shang, H., Jiang, Y., 2017. Chemokines and chemokine receptors:

Accomplices for human immunodeficiency virus infection and latency. Front. Immunol. 8, 1-12.

- Wang, Z., Xie, H., Zhou, L., Liu, Z., Fu, H., Zhu, Y., Xu, L., Xu, J., 2016. CCL2/CCR2 axis is associated with postoperative survival and recurrence of patients with non-metastatic clear-cell renal cell carcinoma. Oncotarget 7.
- Watts, S.W., Dorrance, A.M., Penfold, M.E., Rourke, J.L., Sinal, C.J., Seitz, B.,
 Sullivan, T.J., Charvat, T.T., Thompson, J.M., Burnett, R., Fink, G.D., 2013.
 Chemerin Connects Fat to Arterial Contraction. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc.
 Biol. 33, 1320-1328.
- Wei, T., Huang, G., Gao, J., Huang, C., Sun, M., Wu, J., Bu, J., Shen, W., 2017. Sirtuin 3 De fi ciency Accelerates Hypertensive Cardiac Remodeling by Impairing Angiogenesis 6, e006114.
- Weidanz, J.A., Jacobson, L.M., Muehrer, R.J., Djamali, A., Hullett, D.A.,
 Sprague, J., Chiriva-Internati, M., Wittman, V., Thekkumkara, T.J., Becker,
 B.N., 2005. AT1R blockade reduces IFN-γ production in lymphocytes in vivo and in vitro. Kidney Int. 67, 2134-2142.
- Wendland, M., Czeloth, N., Mach, N., Malissen, B., Pabst, O., Forster, R., Kremmer, E., 2007. CCR9 is a homing receptor for plasmacytoid dendritic cells to the small intestine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 6347-6352.
- Wenzel, P., Knorr, M., Kossmann, S., Stratmann, J., Hausding, M., Schuhmacher,
 S., Karbach, S.H., Schwenk, M., Yogev, N., Schulz, E., Oelze, M., Grabbe,
 S., Jonuleit, H., Becker, C., Daiber, A., Waisman, A., Münzel, T., 2011.
 Lysozyme M-positive monocytes mediate angiotensin ii-induced arterial
 hypertension and vascular dysfunction. Circulation 124, 1370-1381.
- Willekens, F.L.A., Werre, J.M., Kruijt, J.K., Roerdinkholder-Stoelwinder, B.,
 Groenen-Döpp, Y.A.M., Van Den Bos, A.G., Bosman, G.J.C.G.M., Van Berkel,
 T.J.C., 2005. Liver Kupffer cells rapidly remove red blood cell-derived
 vesicles from the circulation by scavenger receptors. Blood 105, 2141-2145.

- Wilson, G.J., Hewit, K.D., Pallas, K.J., Cairney, C.J., Lee, K.M., Hansell, C.A., Stein, T., Graham, G.J., 2017. Atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2 controls branching morphogenesis in the developing mammary gland. Development 144, 74-82.
- Withers, S.B., Forman, R., Meza-Perez, S., Sorobetea, D., Sitnik, K., Hopwood,
 T., Lawrence, C.B., Agace, W.W., Else, K.J., Heagerty, A.M., Svensson-Frej,
 M., Cruickshank, S.M., 2017. Eosinophils are key regulators of perivascular adipose tissue and vascular functionality. Sci. Rep. 7, 1-12.
- Wong, D.R., Willett, W.C., Rimm, E.B., 2007. Smoking, hypertension, alcohol consumption, and risk of abdominal aortic aneurysm in men. Am. J. Epidemiol. 165, 838-845.
- Wong, P.C.Y., Guo, J., Zhang, A., 2017. The renal and cardiovascular effects of natriuretic peptides. Adv. Physiol. Educ. 41, 179-185.
- Xia, Y., Entman, M.L., Wang, Y., 2013. Critical role of CXCL16 in hypertensive kidney injury and fibrosis. Hypertension 62, 1129-1137.
- Xia, Y., Jin, X., Yan, J., Entman, M.L., Wang, Y., 2014. CXCR6 plays a critical role in angiotensin II-induced renal injury and fibrosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 34, 1422-1428.
- Xiao, L., Kirabo, A., Wu, J., Saleh, M.A., Zhu, L., Wang, F., Takahashi, T.,
 Loperena, R., Foss, J.D., Mernaugh, R.L., Chen, W., Roberts, J., Osborn,
 J.W., Itani, H.A., Harrison, D.G., 2015. Renal Denervation Prevents Immune
 Cell Activation and Renal Inflammation in Angiotensin II-Induced
 Hypertension. Circ. Res. 117, 547-557.
- Xiong, W., Zhao, X., Villacorta, L., Rom, O., Garcia-Barrio, M.T., Guo, Y., Fan, Y., Zhu, T., Zhang, J., Zeng, R., Eugene Chen, Y., Jiang, Z., Chang, L., 2018. Brown adipocyte-specific PPARγ (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ) deletion impairs perivascular adipose tissue development and enhances atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 38, 1738-1747.

- Ye, F., Wu, Y., Chen, Y., Xiao, D., Shi, L., 2019. Impact of moderate- and highintensity exercise on the endothelial ultrastructure and function in mesenteric arteries from hypertensive rats. Life Sci. 222, 36-45.
- Yin, J., Ferguson, T.A., 2009. Identification of an IFN- -Producing Neutrophil Early in the Response to Listeria monocytogenes. J. Immunol. 182, 7069-7073.
- Ying, S., Robinson, D.S., Meng, Q., Rottman, J., Kennedy, R., Ringler, D.J., Mackay, C.R., Daugherty, B.L., Springer, M.S., Durham, S.R., Williams, T.J., Kay, A.B., 1997. Enhanced expression of eotaxin and CCR3 mRNA and protein in atopic asthma. Association with airway hyperresponsiveness and predominant co-localization of eotaxin mRNA to bronchial epithelial and endothelial cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 27, 3507-3516.
- Yona, S., Kim, K.W., Wolf, Y., Mildner, A., Varol, D., Breker, M., Strauss-Ayali,
 D., Viukov, S., Guilliams, M., Misharin, A., Hume, D.A., Perlman, H.,
 Malissen, B., Zelzer, E., Jung, S., 2013. Fate Mapping Reveals Origins and
 Dynamics of Monocytes and Tissue Macrophages under Homeostasis.
 Immunity 38, 79-91.
- Youn, J.C., Yu, H.T., Lim, B.J., Koh, M.J., Lee, J., Chang, D.Y., Choi, Y.S., Lee,
 S.H., Kang, S.M., Jang, Y., Yoo, O.J., Shin, E.C., Park, S., 2013.
 Immunosenescent CD8 + T clls and C-X-C cemokine receptor type 3
 chemokines are increased in human hypertension. Hypertension 62, 126-133.
- Yun, Y.H., Kim, H.Y., Do, B.S., Kim, H.S., 2011. Angiotensin II inhibits chemokine CCL5 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertens. Res. 34, 1313-1320.
- Zarbock, A., Schmolke, M., Bockhorn, S.G., Scharte, M., Buschmann, K., Ley, K.,
 Singbartl, K., 2007. The Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines in acute
 renal failure: A facilitator of renal chemokine presentation. Crit. Care Med.
 35, 2156-2163.

Zhang, J., Patel, M.B., Griffths, R., Mao, A., Song, Y.S., Karlovich, N.S., Sparks,

M.A., Jin, H., Wu, M., Lin, E.E., Crowley, S.D., 2014. Tumor necrosis factorα produced in the kidney contributes to angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. Hypertension 64, 1275-1281.

- Zhang, M., Ardlie, K., Wacholder, S., Welch, R., Chanock, S., O'Brien, T.R.,2006. Genetic variations in CC chemokine receptors and hypertension. Am.J. Hypertens. 19, 67-72.
- Zhang, X., Huang, H., Yuan, J., Sun, D., Hou, W.-S., Gordon, J., Xiang, J., 2005.
 CD4-8- Dendritic Cells Prime CD4+ T Regulatory 1 Cells to Suppress
 Antitumor Immunity. J. Immunol. 175, 2931-2937.
- Zhang, X.Y., Su, C., Cao, Z., Xu, S.Y., Xia, W.H., Xie, W.L., Chen, L., Yu, B.B., Zhang, B., Wang, Y., Tao, J., 2014. CXCR7 upregulation is required for early endothelial progenitor cell-mediated endothelial repair in patients with hypertension. Hypertension 63, 383-389.
- Zhang, Y., Geng, C., Yang, J., Fang, J., Yan, X., Li, P., Zou, L., Chen, C., Guo, S., Li, H., Liu, Y., 2019. Chronic inhibition of chemokine receptor CXCR2 attenuates cardiac remodeling and dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. BBA - Mol. Basis Dis. 1865, 165551.
- Zielinski, C.E., Mele, F., Aschenbrenner, D., Jarrossay, D., Ronchi, F., Gattorno, M., Monticelli, S., Lanzavecchia, A., Sallusto, F., 2012. Pathogen-induced human TH17 cells produce IFN-γ or IL-10 and are regulated by IL-18. Nature 484, 514-518.
- Zlotnik, A., Yoshie, O., 2012. The Chemokine Superfamily Revisited. Immunity 36, 705-716.
- Zlotnik, A., Yoshie, O., Nomiyama, H., 2006. The chemokine and chemokine receptor superfamilies and their molecular evolution. Genome Biol. 7.